
Date Published: 5 July 2021     

Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 13 July 2021 at 10.00 am

This meeting will be held at Shire Hall, Gloucester GL1 2TG

The meeting will not be live streamed (members of the public may 
attend the meeting in person)
 

AGENDA

1  Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence 

Chair

2  Declarations of Interest 

To receive any declarations of interest at the meeting 

Chair

3  Minutes (Pages 1 - 60)

To note and agree the minutes of the following meetings: - 

a) 26 January 2021 (Joint meeting with Adult Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee)

b) 2 March 2021

c) 22 March 2021 (Extraordinary Meeting) 

Chair

4  Public Representations 

At each meeting of the Health Scrutiny Committee, there shall be up to 20 
minutes set aside for representations, (3 minutes allocated per member of 
the public).

Any person who lives or works in the county, or is affected by the work of 
the County Council, may make a representation on any matter which relates 
to any item on the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda for that 
meeting.

Notification of the intention to attend the meeting and make a representation 
is required three clear working days before the date of the meeting, 

Chair



    

(excluding the day of the meeting).

The notification deadline to make representation at the committee meeting 
on 13 July 2021 is 4.00 pm on Wednesday 7 July 2021. 

SCRUTINY ITEMS

5  Public Health COVID-19 Update 

An update on the Covid-19 emergency in Gloucestershire from the 
Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health. 

The GCC Covid-19 Early Warning Indicators report will be presented at the 
meeting.

Professor Sarah 
Scott

6  Review of Temporary Service Changes (Pages 61 - 88)

To consider an update of temporary service changes proposed for 
Gloucestershire Hospitals 

Gloucestershire 
NHS Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group (GCCG)

7  Fit for the Future Programme (Pages 89 - 108)

An update on Fit for the Future Consultation Programme 

Gloucestershire 
NHS Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group (GCCG) 

INFORMATION ITEMS

8  Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) Performance 
Report (Pages 109 - 136)

To consider an overview of performance by the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG) against NHS constitutional and other 
agreed standards. 

To include an update on ambulance response times during the COVID-19 
Pandemic. 

Gloucestershire 
NHS Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group (GCCG)

9  One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System Report (Pages 137 - 148)

To receive an update from the One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System 
(ICS) Partnership. 

The NHS Partners of One Gloucestershire include: - 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
Primary Care (GP) Providers
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
South West Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust  

Mary Hutton 

Gloucestershire 
NHS Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group (GCCG)

10  GCCG Clinical Chair/Accountable Officer Report (Pages 149 - 168) Mary Hutton 



    

To note the NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 
Clinical Chair and Accountable Officers’ Report.  

Dr Andy 
Seymour 

11  Work Plan 

To note the committee work plan and suggest items for consideration at 
future meetings.

2021
13 July 
14 September (this meeting may move to October for consideration of the 
Winter Plan)
16 November

2022
11 January
8 March
17 May
12 July 
13 September
15 November

Chair

Membership – Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE (Chair), Cllr David Brown, Cllr Linda Cohen, 
Cllr David Drew, Cllr Stephan Fifield, Cllr Gill Moseley, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Stephen Hirst and 
Cllr Robert Vines

Co-opted Members – Cllr Stephen Andrews, Cllr Dilys Barrell, Cllr Helen Molyneux, Cllr Raymond 
Padilla, Cllr Helen Fenton and Cllr Jill Smith

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Council Chamber.  
Completing this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent 
members from declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list 
will be available for public inspection. Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact Rob Ayliffe; Monitoring 
Officer/Head of Strategic Planning, Performance & Change.  01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 
324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Substitution arrangements are in place for scrutiny meetings (please refer to the 

Gloucestershire County Council Constitution for details).

2. Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary 

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not 
wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on 
duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Joint Meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 26 
January 2021.

The meeting was held as a virtual held meeting via Webex and can be viewed on the 
Gloucestershire County Council website here

ASCC
Members

Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE

Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Brian Tipper

HOSC 
Members

Cllr Brian Robinson (Chair)
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson (Vice-
Chair)
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Martin Horwood
Cllr Dilys Neill
Cllr Collette Finnegan
Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Jill Smith

1. INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES 

Chairman of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee, (ASCC), 
Cllr Stephen Hirst, and Chairman of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
(HOSC), Cllr Brian Robinson, welcomed everyone to the meeting. Making reference 
to the mutual interest of the two committees in considering the response to the 
Covid-19 emergency, Cllr Hirst outlined the purpose of holding a joint meeting.

Sarah Scott attended the meeting as Executive Director of Adult Social Care and 
Public Health at Gloucestershire County Council, (having taken over the role of 
Executive Director for Adult Social Care and Communities from Margaret Willcox, 
who had recently retired from the County Council). It was noted that Sarah Scott, (in 
her role as Director of Public Health), had also attended the HOSC meeting on 17 
November 2020, giving scrutiny members an opportunity to ask questions on public 
health related issues at that meeting. 

Apologies were received from Cllr Phil Awford, (a member of the Adult Social Care 
and Communities Scrutiny Committee).  Cllr Brian Tipper represented Cllr Awford at 
the meeting. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/online-meetings-archive/january-2021-online-meetings/joint-meeting-of-the-adult-social-care-and-communities-scrutiny-committee-and-gloucestershire-health-overview-and-scrutiny-committee-tuesday-26-january-2021-1000-am/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
meeting held on 10 November 2020 were confirmed and agreed as a correct record 
of that meeting.

4. RESPONSE TO COVID-19 (ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND PUBLIC HEALTH) 

Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, 
(Gloucestershire County Council), gave a detailed update on the Gloucestershire 
response to the Covid-19 Emergency. 

A Covid-19 intelligence summary update, (detailing performance indicators for the 
period 14 to 21 January 2021), had been circulated on the morning of the meeting, 
providing members with the latest information. The intelligence document is 
attached to the minutes of the meeting. 

Included in the summary information, were performance updates relating to; the 
number of Covid-19 confirmed cases for the county, the number of hospitalisations, 
including the number of patients in critical care; the number of death (Covid-19) 
registrations made during the past 7 days; the number of excess deaths in the 
county; the number of Covid-19 confirmed cases in care homes, (staff and 
resident), an update on the South-West R value range; and an overview of 
Gloucestershire and National Performance Indicators, including comparisons 
between Gloucestershire and its geographical neighbours. 

The Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, (with input from 
NHS staff), introduced the update report and clarified the following information: - 

a) Referencing the high number of Covid-19 cases in the Gloucester City area, 
a local member asked what was being done to manage the situation? It was 
confirmed that Gloucester City had experienced a high number of cases, but 
that this had started to reduce. Working with Gloucester City colleagues, 
local leaders and community representatives, the public health team hoped 
to gain a better understanding of some of the behaviours that may have 
created this surge, particularly among Black and Asian Minority Ethnic 
Groups (BAME). To address some of the challenges brought about by 
communication issues with people from BAME communities, it was agreed 
strong messages of support and reassurances would be vital in developing 
confidence and building trust.

b) A member referred to reports via social media suggesting evidence of low 
transmission levels in outdoor locations. Questioning how this might impact 
on the easing of restrictions for the county, members were informed that, 
whilst ventilation helped to reduce the transmission of the virus, it was still 
important to adhere to hand washing/face mask and social distancing 
guidelines. Acknowledging concerns about the impact of the pandemic on 
the local economy, the Executive Director reinforced the need to balance 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

decisions being taken to protect lives with the easing of restrictions to re-
energise tourism. 

c) Another member stressed the need for more in-depth data to enable better 
understanding of the variances in infection rates, particularly in relation to 
specific age groups. The Executive Director reported that the public health 
team continued to work under very difficult circumstances to analyse the 
data available to them. It was not an easy task, particularly given the wide 
range of underlying factors and large numbers of asymptomatic people in the 
county. The work was ongoing and it was hoped additional funding would 
enable the council to invest more resources into this work. 

d) Enquiring about the levels of infection in school children, it was explained 
that that a high proportion of children were asymptomatic, making it difficult 
to determine the spread of the virus in schools, and in what numbers. The 
decision to close schools had been a national decision, for which the county 
continued to adhere to government guidelines. Teachers had responded 
incredibly well to the challenging circumstances and in delivering home 
schooling, with the support of parents.

e) Updating members on the roll out of the Gloucestershire Covid-19 
vaccination programme, the Executive Director confirmed that the initial roll 
out had been positive. Phase 1 of the roll out aimed to vaccinate over 
400,000 people by the end of April 2020. This included vaccines 
administered via a hospital hub for health and social care staff and at 10 
Primary Care Networks located across the county for eligible members of the 
public.  Working closely with NHS colleagues, the public health team was 
working hard to obtain data and inform the public about uptake and 
coverage.  

f) The Joint Committee for Vaccination and Immunisations (JCVI) had 
identified priority groups for vaccination. Whilst crucial in protecting the most 
vulnerable people in society and easing pressures on the health and social 
care system, the vaccine would not necessarily stop people from getting the 
virus completely. It would, however, help to reduce serious complications or 
death in those at most risk.

g) Priority Group 2 of the key priority groups included all frontline health and 
social care workers. The County Council and Clinical Commissioning Group, 
working with NHS partners, aimed to ensure everyone eligible for vaccination 
were vaccinated as quickly as possible. 

h) The list of health and social care staff eligible for vaccination included: staff 
who had frequent face-to-face contact with patients (children or adult) and 
directly involved in patient care in either secondary or primary care, mental 
health, urgent and emergency care and community settings; those working in 
independent, voluntary and non-standard healthcare settings such as 
hospices, and community-based mental health or addiction services; 
laboratory, pathology and mortuary staff; those working for a sub-contracted 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

provider of facilities services; temporary, locum or ‘bank’ staff, including 
those working in the Covid-19 vaccination programme, students, trainees 
and volunteers working with patients; and frontline social care workers 
working directly with vulnerable people (children or adults) who needed care 
and support, irrespective of where they worked  

i) To ensure maximum impact, priority would be given to frontline workers in 
regular close contact with individuals with either confirmed or suspected 
Covid-19 and staff working with people at highest risk of being infected or in 
becoming seriously ill.  Each service was being asked to further prioritise 
staff based on personal vulnerabilities such as age and ethnicity or existing 
health conditions.

j) Vaccinations would be administered in home environments for members of 
the public with mobility or serious health issues. 

k) Responding to concerns about available hospital bed spaces caused by 
pressures from increased rates of Covid-19, members were reassured that 
the system was coping well, supported by the NHS Home First Programme 
for people discharged from hospital and able to be treated at home. 

Commending the combined efforts of the public health team, NHS, support 
agencies, community organisations and volunteers, the committee agreed that the 
response to the virus was not to be underestimated and that there was still a lot of 
work to be done. 

The report was noted.

5. RESPONSE TO COVID-19: NHS GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP (GCCG) 

Mary Hutton, (representing GCCG and One Gloucestershire Integrated Care 
System), presented a summary of current issues relating to the Covid-19 virus. 

Expanding on the update presented earlier in the meeting regarding the Covid-19 
vaccination programme, it was confirmed that vaccinations were being administered 
via 10 Primary Care Network hubs located across the county, (including a fire 
station in Cheltenham), by Gloucestershire Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (GHT) 
and Gloucestershire Health and Care (GHC).

Based on data reported from the start of the roll out in December to 22 January 
2021, 71,000 vaccinations had been administered to people from the first 4 national 
priority groups, including; care home residents and staff; people aged 70 and over; 
frontline health and social care staff; and people classified as clinically extremely 
vulnerable. 85% of residents aged 80 plus and all care homes, (excluding 3 care 
homes with a confirmed outbreak of Covid), had been vaccinated. Gloucestershire 
CCG was following the national directive of pausing the roll out of the second 
vaccination to enable more people receive their first vaccine.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

At the time of the report, (22 January 2021), Gloucestershire had been at the top of 
the national league table as the top performing Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership/Integrated Care System in England for administering vaccinations. The 
national target for the top 4 priority groups to be vaccinated was mid-February 
2021. 

Cllr Stephen Lydon commended the success of the roll out of the vaccine in 
Gloucestershire and asked how people not registered with a local GP would be 
vaccinated? Dr Andy Seymour, Clinical Chair for Gloucestershire CCG was able to 
confirm that a great deal of work, including work with the public health team, was 
involved in ensuring equitable distribution of the vaccine. NHS England was aware 
of the issue and hoped to resolve the problem in forthcoming weeks.

Prior to the meeting, Cllr Lydon submitted a couple of written questions, for which 
written responses had been provided after the meeting. In the first of two questions, 
Cllr Lydon referred to reports of unused quantities of the pfizer vaccine due to the 
limited shelf life of the vaccine. Cllr Lydon asked to what extent was this an issue in 
Gloucestershire and what was being done to address the problem. In a written 
response, members were assured that it was the CCG’s absolute priority not to 
waste vaccines and that processes were in place to minimise the risk. All 
vaccination sites held ‘reserve’ lists of people who could be called at short notice if 
it appeared, towards the end of the day, there might be a surplus of the pfizer 
vaccine

In a second question, Cllr Lydon reiterated concerns about people not registered 
with a Gloucestershire GP being eligible for vaccination. These included a large 
proportion of people working for the NHS and care staff from overseas. Cllr Lydon 
asked what proportion of Gloucestershire residents were not registered with a GP 
and what was being done to address the issue, particularly, in relation to front line 
staff receiving vaccines? In a written response, the CCG informed Cllr Lydon that, 
whilst it was more efficient if a person was registered with a GP, it was not 
essential. As an interim measure, vaccination sites could use paper forms to record 
a person’s details. Both locally, and nationally, the NHS was encouraging people to 
register with a GP.
Updating members on the supply of Personal Protective Equipment,(PPE), it was 
confirmed that the CCG continued to provide PPE to all NHS health and social care 
providers via a storage and delivery arrangement with the Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service. 
In Spring 2020, Infection, Prevention and Control (IPC) training had been delivered 
to all NHS care homes, for which ongoing support continued to be provided, 
particularly during the event of an outbreak of COVID. Refresher training 
programmes were about to be offered. 

As of 22 January 2021, Covid patients occupied 26% of all acute hospital beds in 
Gloucestershire. During the current wave of the virus, the length of stay in hospital 
was notably longer than the first wave. Working closely with community health 
services, care homes and social care, the CCG was working hard to keep the flow 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

of patients in Gloucestershire hospitals moving. The principle aim was to provide 
NHS Home First support where possible. 

Noting the work involved in providing treatment for Long Covid patients, a member 
asked whether anti-body testing would be offered to those people who may have 
had the virus but had not been tested. The committee was informed that antibody 
testing was not something that was being offered but was a matter that could be 
discussed with a person’s GP.

The Covid virtual ward continued to provide support services to both early and safe 
hospital discharge patients, and wherever possible, avoid admission for Covid 
patients experiencing mild symptoms. 

During the first wave of the virus, a significant number of patient operations and 
diagnostic tests had been cancelled. In Gloucestershire, however, patients 
diagnosed with cancer had continued to receive treatment throughout the 
pandemic, and currently continuing to do so. A detailed plan had been produced to 
treat those patients whose operations had been cancelled in 2020. 

Reflecting on the pressures placed on staff during the pandemic, members were 
advised that staff wellbeing was at the forefront of the everyone’s focus. Every effort 
was made to ensuring staff received the support available to them, in respect of 
both physical and mental wellbeing.

The two committees commended the good work detailed in the reports presented at 
the meeting. One member suggested producing a record of the various stages of 
activity involved in the response to the pandemic and any lessons learnt. It was 
generally agreed that it would be important to log and reflect on the events and 
activities involved in the response and recovery process going forward. The CCG 
confirmed that a huge amount of work was being done to capture this information 
and that a CQC publication would be published in due course, which would be 
shared with the committee. 

The update was noted.

6. RESPONSE TO COVID-19: GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND CARE NHS 
FOUNDATION TRUST (GHCFT) 

Representatives from Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHCFT) provided a detailed briefing note on the response to the 
pandemic. The update was circulated with the agenda and included 
information on the response to Covid-19, including the care provided to Covid 
patients in community hospitals across the county. 

Trust colleagues were involved in lateral flow testing twice weekly and 
running the Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) Testing Centre at Edward 
Jenner for staff and families of GHC, GHT and social care and for people 
requiring a pre-procedure test.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

The provision of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) to Trust staff remained a key 
element of the Trust response, as was providing Covid-secure buildings for both 
staff and patients. Many Trust colleagues continued to work remotely, where 
possible, to help reduce the risk of spread among teams and services. 

The Trust was also involved in leading the development of clinics for people who 
continued to suffer with Covid symptoms 3 months after diagnosis. The Trust was 
currently testing a multi-disciplinary approach with colleagues from Gloucester 
Hospitals and Primary Care with the aim of developing this as a key programme of 
support in line with national guidance.

The Trust was heavily involved in the roll out of the Covid Vaccination Programme, 
working alongside the Primary Care Networks and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. In line with the national guidance on the priority groups for 
vaccination, some Trust colleagues had started to receive the vaccine and had 
commenced a programme to support the immunisation of its own inpatients, 
particularly those who are vulnerable due to their complex health needs. A 
Housebound vaccination programme was being offered.

The Trust continued to focus on the Home First approach and the need to increase 
the number of discharges from both acute and community hospitals who returned 
directly to home rather than to a nursing or residential home

Vaccinating Trust colleagues against the flu had been an important consideration 
this year due to the increased risk of contracting flu and Covid. More than 90% of 
frontline colleagues had received the flu vaccine. The  Childhood Immunisation 
Team had worked throughout the winter months in delivering the flu vaccine to all 
primary school children (Reception to Year 6) and all Year 7 children in secondary 
school. The majority of immunisations were delivered within schools. At the time of 
the report, more than 40,016 school children had been vaccinated. 

The briefing note was noted.

7. PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, introduced 
the Public Health Report. 

A member noted the work involved in trialling treatments to prevent individuals from 
contracting HIV and asked if this work could be coordinated alongside work by 
Gloucestershire Health Care’s sexual health and advisory service. The request was 
noted and the Executive Director agreed to make enquires with the current 
provider. Action by – Sarah Scott 

Another member requested an update on sexual health services at the next 
meeting and this was agreed. An update to be included in the next Public Health 
report to the committee. 

The report was noted.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

8. ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT 

Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, introduced 
the Adult Social Care Report. 

A member enquired about the impact of increased pressures at work from Covid-19 
and the challenges of working in a crisis on the public health team. The Executive 
Director confirmed that the team was working in extremely difficult conditions. Staff 
were exceptionally busy and continuing to maintain appropriate standards in spite 
of the challenges. There were no issues to report at this time.

The report was noted 

9. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Officer (CFO) for Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service (GFRS), gave a detailed update on current issues/key areas of work within 
the CFO portfolio of services, including: Fire and Rescue Service, Trading 
Standards, Civil Protection and Coroners Services.

Updating members on the response to the Covid-19 emergency, the Chief Fire 
Officer stated that, throughout the national emergency, GFRS had collaborated with 
GCC colleagues and with regional and national emergency services to support the 
local community. The actions of GFRS in response to the pandemic had been 
recognised in a letter from the Fire Minister, Lord Greenhalgh, received in 
November 2020, following an application to the Fire Covid-19 Contingency Fund. 

It was reported that GFRS had been the subject in the ‘first round’ HMICFRS Covid-
19 Inspection in November 2020.  During the inspection the following factors had 
been considered (a) What was working well and what had been learned; (b) How 
the fire sector had responded to the Covid -19 emergency; (c) How fire services 
were dealing with the problems they faced; (d) What changes were likely as a result 
of the pandemic. Although the inspection report was not yet publicly available, it 
was believed GFRS had performed well and that the report was favourable. 

A summary of activities performed by GFRS in response to the pandemic is 
summarised below:

Community Covid-19 Testing – the recent government announcement that people 
unable to work from home could access LFD (Lateral Flow Device) testing had 
created some issues. GCC and GFRS were looking at how this might be 
implemented. The Operational Resilience Cell, together with colleagues from GCC, 
Public Health and DHSC were looking to establish a Local Testing Site (LTS) at 
various locations around the County. This would be a walk-in model to allow people 
to access a full PCR (Polymerase Chain Reaction) test without the need for an 
appointment. The first LTS will be located in Gloucester City. A Mass Testing Site at 
the Royal Agricultural University, Cirencester went live on 3 December 2020, with 
training and induction taking place in conjunction with colleagues from GCC. GFRS 
continued to supply staff to deliver this project. In response to rising infection rates, 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

a testing site in Gloucester City had been set up. It was expected that GFRS staff 
will be involved in the work at this site. 

In addition, fire crews were carrying out test & trace welfare checks on residents 
who had not responded to contact by national or local test & trace services. GFRS 
was working with Public Health to review the impact of this activity. At least 1000 of 
these visits had been carried out by GFRS staff. 

Covid-19 Vaccinations: Clinical staff inductions had taken place at the Primary Care 
Networks Vaccination Site at Cheltenham East Fire Station on 2 December 2020. 
The first Covid Vaccination Clinic had been delivered on 16 December 2020. The 
site had delivered 330 vaccines each day prior to the Christmas holiday. Capacity 
was expected to rise to 1000 plus per day. The Operational Resilience Cell was 
currently making preparations for further vaccination centres, as required. 

The NHS Acute Team had taken up the offer of using SkillZONE to deliver Covid 
vaccinations from Monday 18 January 2021.

The additional vaccination site, run by Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust, was currently being set up and will initially cater for approximately 
20,000 frontline health and social care workers. Staff from SkillZONE will support 
the day-to-day operations at this site.

Flu Vaccinations: Flu vaccination clinics had been taking place at some of GFRS 
call stations including: Cheltenham East, Gloucester North, Coleford, Cinderford, 
Stroud, and Wotton. Additional weekend drive-through clinics had been set up at 
Gloucester North, Stroud, Cirencester, Chipping Camden and Cheltenham East. 
These were run by the Gloucestershire Pharmacy Network to target the most 
vulnerable groups in the community, such as care home staff and domiciliary 
workers. GFRS was assisting in the facilitation of these clinics. 

Mortality Cell: The Mortality Cell and Temporary Chapel of Rest had reopened on 
Wednesday 16 December 2020. GFRS staff were in place to assist with the work at 
the Chapel. It was anticipated that the site would run until 23 March 2021.Support 
and welfare was being offered to staff.

PPE Training: GFRS was storing and distributing emergency PPE supplies to social 
care, school and other key users. The GFRS supply chain, via the NFCC 
procurement hub, had been used to procure extra supplies. Since the start of the 
pandemic, GFRS had made 3861 individual deliveries of PPE to various settings 
across the County, equating to 8.5 million pieces of PPE. Recent increases in 
infection rates, particularly in care homes, had resulted in an increased demand for 
training in these care settings. Additional resources had been allocated to this task 
and over 200 care home staff had requested and received PPE training as part of 
the second wave response. 

SWAST: Formal confirmation had been provided to SWAFT of GFRS continued 
support in respect of an extension of the provision of First Responder Service 
mutual aid until week commencing Monday 7 April 2021. During the period 1 to 11 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

November 2021, GFRS had provided 174 shifts and attended 637 incidents as part 
of an ambulance crew, equating to some 1485 mobilisations since the 
commencement of the mutual aid agreement. SWAST had declared a critical 
incident due to the unprecedented demand on their service. In response, GFRS 
was continuing to increase the number of shifts it was able to cover. The response 
to the recent advert for additional volunteers had been good. It was hoped to have 
additional staff trained shortly. Additional welfare arrangements were in place for 
GFRS employees to support any mental wellbeing needs they may be experiencing 
due to the potential exposure to traumatic incidents.

Other activities included: Support to GCC and Highways, including putting up 
signage as part of the wider Covid Communication Strategy; Delivering food to 
vulnerable people; Local Track & Trace; Outreach swabbing; Delivery of laptop 
computers to young people.

The committee commended the good work being provided by GFRS. One member 
enquired about vaccinations for firefighters, (not included in the first 9 priority 
groups), and was assured all staff supporting SWAST had been offered the 
vaccine. In addition, all staff had been provided with PPE. A request was made for 
the CFO to come back to the committee on the number of GFRS staff taking up the 
vaccine. Another member asked for an update on fire-fighter pensions and sick pay. 
It was agreed updates on these issues would be included in the CFO report to the 
committee at the next meeting. Action by – Wayne Bowcock

A member enquired if there had been any developments in the proposed bid to 
takeover the fire service by the Office of the Police Crime Commissioner (OPCC) 
and if there had been an increase in the number of road traffic accidents during 
lockdown. Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member: Public Protection, Parking and 
Libraries confirmed that the position had not changed regarding the bid by the 
OPCC but would advise of any updates, when received. The Cabinet Member 
confirmed that a robust challenge would be made to any developments made by 
the OPCC.

The Chief Fire Officer confirmed that there had been a 40% reduction in fires during 
the first lockdown and a 30% reduction in road traffic accidents. There had been, 
however, a notable increase in speeding incidents.  

The Chief Fire Officer update was noted.

10. ROAD SAFETY CABINET PANEL 

Members noted the final report of the Road Safety Cabinet Panel, (introduced by 
Cabinet Member: Public Protection, Parking and Libraries, Cllr Dave Norman). The 
report will be presented to Cabinet at its meeting on 24 March 2021. The report can 
be viewed at the link here

Comments made at the meeting, (in response to the Panel’s recommendations), 
included i) concerns about the complexities of the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
process; ii) lack of enforcement in relation to speeding issues; iii) safety concerns 

Page 10

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s68330/Item%2010%20-%20Road%20Safety%20Cabinet%20Panel%20Report%20-%20with%20Appendices.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

about the use of electronic scooters in public places; and iv) the need for increased 
investment in the council’s road safety budget. 

The committee endorsed the report, subject to the comments made at the meeting.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.50pm 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



ADULT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE & HOSC
25-01-2021
COVD-19 Early Warning Indicators
View in Power BI

Downloaded at:

25/01/2021 13:47:36 GMT Standard 

Time

Last data refresh:

25/01/2021 13:33:36 GMT Standard 

Time

P
age 1

M
inute Item

 4

P
age 13

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831?pbi_source=PowerPoint


NHS 111

▪ Seven day average 111 triage number for Gloucestershire is 78.2 per 100,000 triages  (a total of 498 for the previous 7 days) ; this is less than last week - 684 triages, 107.4 per 100k.

See slide 5 for more detail 

Infections

▪ 1,377 confirmed cases in the county, this is a decrease compared to 1,659 cases in the previous 7 days (17.8% decrease). Decrease in all areas except Cotswold (6.1% increase). See 
slide 4 for more detail

▪ Cases are spread across the age ranges (the largest numbers of cases are in those ages 20-59) and geography; the largest number of cases are in Gloucester; and via pillar 2 testing. 
See slide 4 & 6 for more detail

▪ Tredworth has the highest rates of cases – 539 per 100,000 (followed by Quedgeley South - 469.0 per 100,000 (then Cirencester South- 448.2 per 100,000). See slide 7 and 8 for more 
detail

Hospitalisations

▪ There are currently 17 patients in critical care (25/01/2021) and  approx.180 admitted patients with C-19 in GHFT (however these figures change frequently)

Mortality
▪ The number of death registrations mentioning COVID19 has reduced (57 this week VS 68 in previous 7 days). See slides 9  for more detail

▪ The Temporary Chapel of Rest (TCR) currently storing 70 deceased (up from 42 last week) having taken 280 since 25/11/21. Many Undertakers are now getting near capacity on storage. 
This is still manageable with the TCR providing resilience for undertakers as business as usual. 

Care homes

▪ Change since last reporting period with a decrease in care home situations notified to the GCC Health Protection Team. There has been a decrease in the number of staff and resident 
cases.

Recovery metrics:

▪ These are not updated weekly. A summary of last reported metrics are included on slide 12.

R-value
▪ The South West R value range is between 0.9 and 1.2, which is a decrease on the previous week estimate (1.2 and 1.5); the tru e value is somewhere towards the middle of this range. 

Comparison to geographical neighbours

▪ Gloucestershire has the lowest rate of cases per 100,000 with 216.0 cases per 100,000 when compared to out geographical neigh bours. The South West case rate is 281.1 per 100,000. 
See slides 14 for more detail

Excess Deaths 

▪ To calculate excess deaths, we monitor the numbers of deaths in the county, and compare that to what we might expect each week (based on the last 5 years mortality data). Monitoring 
of excess deaths up to the 8th January 2021 shows that the current mortality rate in the county is comparable to previous years See slides 15 for more detail

KEY TRENDS: 14th – 20th Jan 2021

P
age 2

P
age 14



P
age 3

P
age 15

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSectionf447f52788ddbc837107?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 4

P
age 16

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection59ce111f3024cb928e7a?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 5

P
age 17

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSectiona22616d70200b3645e87?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 6

P
age 18

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection6ba855108c064054a600?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 7

P
age 19

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection30cfa09ce2a5aa00c360?pbi_source=PowerPoint


District MSOA Name Cumulative Cases
Cumulative Cases 
per 100,000

Latest 7 days 
cases

Latest 7 days 
Cases per 100,000

Previous 7 days 
cases

Previous 7 days 
Cases per 100,000

Cases Direction of 
Travel (numeric) % Change Cases

Gloucester Tredworth 442 5,542.3 43 539.2 36 451.4 3 19.4 %

Gloucester Quedgeley South 557 3,786.3 69 469.0 44 299.1 3 56.8 %

Cotswold Cirencester South 237 3,124.2 34 448.2 18 237.3 3 88.9 %

Gloucester Central Gloucester & Hempsted 553 5,481.8 42 416.3 70 693.9 1 -40.0 %

Gloucester Barton 531 6,457.5 33 401.3 38 462.1 1 -13.2 %

Tewkesbury Highnam, Longford & Norton 221 3,142.3 26 369.7 20 284.4 3 30.0 %

Gloucester Elmbridge 220 3,828.8 21 365.5 18 313.3 3 16.7 %

Gloucester Podsmead & Linden 340 3,814.2 32 359.0 37 415.1 1 -13.5 %

Gloucester Tuffley 243 4,078.5 20 335.7 19 318.9 3 5.3 %

Gloucester Quedgeley North 274 3,752.9 24 328.7 28 383.5 1 -14.3 %

Gloucester Matson & Robinswood 427 4,784.8 29 325.0 53 593.9 1 -45.3 %

Gloucester Abbeymead & Abbeydale 326 3,568.7 29 317.5 29 317.5 2 0.0 %

Cheltenham Springbank 198 3,097.6 20 312.9 17 266.0 3 17.6 %

Cotswold Cirencester East & Stratton 241 2,895.2 26 312.3 18 216.2 3 44.4 %

Cheltenham Oakley 155 2,760.5 17 302.8 25 445.2 1 -32.0 %

Gloucester Coney Hill, Barnwood & Abbeydale 490 4,096.0 36 300.9 25 209.0 3 44.0 %

Tewkesbury Bishop's Cleeve 401 2,552.5 46 292.8 49 311.9 1 -6.1 %

Gloucester Kingsholm & Wotton 437 4,779.1 25 273.4 30 328.1 1 -16.7 %

Gloucester Longlevens 264 3,330.0 21 264.9 20 252.3 3 5.0 %

Cheltenham Pittville & Fairview 291 3,076.8 25 264.3 23 243.2 3 8.7 %

Forest of Dean Cinderford 360 2,748.5 34 259.6 49 374.1 1 -30.6 %

Cheltenham Swindon Village & Wyman's Brook 129 2,368.3 14 257.0 14 257.0 2 0.0 %

P
age 8

P
age 20



P
age 9

P
age 21

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection2436079f1c38f02a4f7b?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 10

P
age 22

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection0da36fb33051bb43c94e?pbi_source=PowerPoint


Recovery Indicators 

No change from previous Recovery Indicators – Recovery Indicators are updated monthly. See slide from previous week. 

Slide from 12/01/2021 SCG 

P
age 11

P
age 23



P
age 12

P
age 24

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/db738dff-c56a-4d2a-b516-a1ff86c04663/ReportSection1d10f417c94b8a890022?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 13

P
age 25

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/db738dff-c56a-4d2a-b516-a1ff86c04663/ReportSection34d4892fdf78f87a6741?pbi_source=PowerPoint


Excess Deaths

P
age 14

P
age 26



P
age 15

P
age 27

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection8ce7ab238cbb59b276f5?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 16

P
age 28

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/db738dff-c56a-4d2a-b516-a1ff86c04663/ReportSection8ce7ab238cbb59b276f5?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 17

P
age 29

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/db738dff-c56a-4d2a-b516-a1ff86c04663/ReportSection53bc60fdbcfe5191cbaa?pbi_source=PowerPoint


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 30



- 1 -

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Minutes of the meeting of the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 
Tuesday 2 March 2021. 

Due to Covid-19 restrictions, and in accordance with government guidelines, the meeting 
was held virtually and can be viewed on the Gloucestershire County Council here

Present: Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Collette Finnegan
Cllr Martin Horwood
Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Dilys Neill
Cllr Jill Smith

Officers: NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)/ 
One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) 

Mary Hutton – Accountable Officer and ICS Lead
Dr Andy Seymour – Clinical Chair 
Ellen Rule – Director of Transformation and Service Redesign
Becky Parish – Associate Director Engagement and Experience

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Deborah Lee – Chief Executive 
Peter Lachecki – Chair 
Prof Mark Pietroni – Director for Safety and Medical Director
Simon Lanceley- Director of Transformation

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 
Paul Roberts – Chief Executive
Ingrid Barker – Chair
Angela Potter, Director of Strategy and Partnerships 

Gloucestershire County Council 
Sarah Scott – Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health 
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning
Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Communities

Gloucestershire Healthwatch - Gill Bridgland

Page 31

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/online-meetings/health-overview-scrutiny-committee-tuesday-2-march-2021-1000-am/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Helen Molyneux (Forest of Dean District 
Council). 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

3. MINUTES 

Subject to the following clarification, the minutes of the meeting held on 12 January 
2021 were confirmed as an accurate record of that meeting.

Cllr Horwood referenced the dissatisfaction in the update provided at the January 
meeting from the South West Ambulance Service Foundation Trust (SWAST) and 
requested that the minutes expand on the concerns of the committee in more detail. 

Cllr Horwood acknowledged the technical issues at the meeting but expressed his 
disappointment that the verbal presentation from SWAST had not provided the 
committee with more detailed information. Noting that the power-point  slides 
referred to at the meeting had not been presented as a visual presentation and had 
only been circulated to members after the meeting, Cllr Horwood stressed the 
importance of receiving regular performance updates from SWAST, with a request 
for more comparative data, drawing on comparisons with the performance of other 
ambulance services. 

Later in the meeting, it was suggested, (by Mary Hutton, as Accountable Officer of 
NHS One Gloucestershire), that SWAST include an update in the regular NHS 
CCG Chair/Accountable Officer report presented at each meeting. (The report 
currently includes provider updates from Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust).  

The committee agreed it was too long to wait for an update on performance until the 
planned SWAST presentation to the committee at the 13 July 2021 meeting and 
welcomed the proposal to include regular data/performance updates at each 
meeting, in addition to the updates included in the CCG performance report to the 
committee. 

Action: SWAST performance updates to be incorporated in the CCG 
Chair/Accountable Officer report to the committee, (presented at each meeting), 
alongside regular updates from GHC and GHT. The regular CCG performance 
report to continue to include SWAST performance data, including out of county 
comparative information. Action by - CCG

4. PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 

Public Representation 1: Bren McInerney 

Page 32



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

I would like to offer my sincere thanks to all the people across all the services for all 
they are tirelessly undertaking during these unprecedented times. Thank you so 
very much for this, and for doing this Pre-Covid, Covid, and Post-Covid.

My questions are around external communication to people and communities in the 
county. 

The NHS CCG responses are inserted below each question.

1) How assured are all the health organisations, and public health at the county 
council, too, confident that their communications and messages are being 
heard and understood by all our diverse population?

We are working together, across the ICS and with our VCS partners, to 
ensure that our communications are reaching and being understood by all of 
our local communities. Our local messaging also draws on national 
resources; ensuring that we can provide materials in a range of formats and 
languages.

In addition, we are doing lots of work to target communities who we know are 
potentially at higher risk of contracting COVID19 and more recently, those 
who may be hesitant in taking up the vaccine. This has included targeted 
work with our BAME communities, homeless people, extremely clinically 
vulnerable.

Over the course of the pandemic our ways of communicating have changed 
and been adapted depending on the audience. We have introduced a 
number of initiatives such as the Vulnerable People’s Hub, (which called 
people who were being asked to shield); Community Champions, (recruiting 
people from the BAME community to help share messages with their 
neighbours and networks); work with Gloucestershire Deaf Association to 
support our deaf community; a vaccination hub to reach the homeless, local 
testing centres including community testing at The Friendship Café.

Our use of social media has increased and we have created a range of 
media to share messages in engaging ways, (for example, we are currently 
working with people from BAME communities, making short film clips with 
people speaking in their first language).

We are also working on a Facebook live event led by local Polish speaking 
clinicians and have worked with community radio station GFM. We have 
been overwhelmed by offers of help with spreading messages relating to 
COVID and hugely grateful to everyone who has come forward.

2) What reflective process is built in to give this assurance?

This work falls under the remit of a number of cross-organisational working 
groups including a BAME C-19 Task and Finish Group and Vaccine Equity 
Group, but at a strategic level through ICC and Tactical Co-ordinating Group 

Page 33



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

and its various work-streams, such as Communications. Detailed plans and 
evaluation programmes sit behind the work of each of these groups. Our 
assurance is provided through our data, the feedback from those living and 
active in our local communities and the reflection re what is working, or not, 
and why that is the case.

3) What measures do we use to give this assurance?

We are closely analysing data by Ward and GP practice to establish the 
prevalence of COVID-19 and the uptake of the vaccine. This will ultimately 
help us understand where there are variations in our communities which we 
can then work to address. In addition, we continue our engagement with 
local communities (defined by geography, demographic, interest) to listen to 
their views, concerns and ideas for how we can do better. Surveys have also 
been used to help understand a wider range of views. Over 1,700 survey 
responses were received from Glos residents to a SW regional survey 
developed in the first wave of COVID. We are currently working with 
Healthwatch Glos, VCS Alliance and Inclusion Glos to produce a survey 
about attitudes to the vaccine (this includes some questions about 
information and communications).

Mr McInerney thanked the CCG for the responses to his questions and 
acknowledged the good communication work being undertaken. 

Intended as a friendly proposal, Mr McInerney hoped a little more work might be 
considered to give assurances that important information was being communicated 
to all communities. He agreed it was difficult to reach out to everyone, but having 
received feedback from a recent ethnic/minority group covid vaccination discussion, 
he was concerned some groups might not be receiving the information they 
required. 

Thanking everyone in the private and public sector, volunteers and individuals, for 
their tireless work during the pandemic, Mr McInerney asked the CCG to give some 
thought to how it could ensure effective communication was maintained throughout 
the whole of the county, and to all communities. 

Public Representation 2: John and Mary Thurston (on behalf of Friends of 
Lydney and District Hospital)

We are concerned about the loss of services in the South of the Forest with the 
potential closure of Lydney hospital when the new hospital opens in Cinderford in 
2023.

We have seen advertisements for a new practice manager for a new health centre 
managed by GDOC to be opened two years later in 2025. We were pleased to see 
in the minutes of your last meeting that the concerns of people in South Forest were 
acknowledged in the consultation – the consultation had requested volunteers to 
take part in a review and over 100 people volunteered.

Page 34



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

In the minutes the CCG said there is no time to delay the progress but the 
committee requested updates before any final decisions were made on the 
provision in the South of the Forest. 

I can see, however:

1) No update on the South Forest provision in the papers so far received;

2) The promised review of South Forest services cannot be provided because 
of time - we would not wish to delay the new hospital build but ensure that 
the South Forest Review is open-minded;

3) Any review should not be multiple choice questions i.e. not just do you want 
this or this - which implicitly would be budget limited – it should take account 
of the savings that will be made by closing the existing South Forest 
provision (Lydney Hospital)

4) Other than an advert in job vacancies, no announcement about the proposed 
new 2025 Medical Centre;

5) The new hospital is said to open 2 years before a new South Forest facility – 
we are therefore seeking a commitment that Lydney services (other than 
inpatients) will be continued until a new centre is opened

We welcome your response to our concerns?

NHS CGG Responses: -  

1) The ICS Lead Report provides an update on the decisions made by the CCG 
Governing Body in January 2021 regarding commissioning of the new 
community hospital in the Forest of Dean. Future reports to HOSC will 
include information about the engagement work being planned this spring 
with regards to the South of the Forest.

2) We can provide assurance that planning on the agreed engagement work on 
service options in the south of the forest is continuing. We recognise that this 
has taken slightly longer than we had anticipated due to the level of 
response that we received in terms of the numbers of people that wish to be 
engaged in this work. However, we are close to finalising some dates and a 
proposed approach which I can confirm will be beyond a multiple choice 
approach.

3) See above

4) The CCG has for some time confirmed that working with the GPs in the 
Lydney locality on the development of a business case for a new health 
centre remains a priority and this remains the case. As GP practices are run 
as independent businesses, the decision on the funding and timeline for this 
predominately sits with the GPs in the district. Therefore, until that business 

Page 35



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

case is completed we are unable to commit to a definitive timetable but we 
will continue to update the local community as soon as we are able.

5) We can provide assurance that our previous commitment to continuing to 
retain services at the two existing hospitals until the new community hospital 
is open and services relocate to that facility remains. Services that are 
currently undertaken within the health centre will also remain until such time 
as any new primary care facility is developed.

Thanking the Chairman for allowing him to ask his questions and thanking the local 
health authorities for their leadership, (‘making him proud to live in 
Gloucestershire’), Mr Thurston suggested that the response to his questions had 
revealed a “hitch” in the strategy formulated 4 or 5 years ago to provide a new 
single hospital and 3 new Health hubs to replace the two effective but ageing 
Community Hospitals.

Mr Thurston stated that one of the hubs was built, (commissioned near to the new 
hospital), one was in progress but the one in the rapidly expanding Lydney and 
South Forest area was still many years away and certainly years after the new 
hospital had been commissioned. 

Question the response to question 4, stating that the Medical Hub would be 
provided by GP’s and quoting the text stating, “As GP practices are run as 
independent businesses, the decision on the funding and timeline for this 
predominately sits with the GPs in the district. Therefore, until that business case is 
completed we are unable to commit to a definitive timetable but will continue to 
update the local community as soon as we are able”, Mr Thurston asked if it was 
fair to expect ‘good medical doctors’ to plan, run and fund a business of this scale, 
either at this time or when the population expanded in 2025, or in the future?

Mr Thurston also questioned the response to question 5 by expressing concern that 
the much appreciated urgent care service, diagnostics and some of the various non 
inpatient facilities had been asked to continue at the Lydney Hospital until the new 
medical centre was operational, which at best, could be several years away. Mr 
Thurston suggested many residents might find it more convenient to travel to 
Bristol, Gloucester or even Newport than use the new arrangements. 

Suggesting there would be anticipated savings from the closure of the Lydney and 
Dilke hospitals, Mr Thurston urged the committee to ‘keep an eye on this small 
corner of the County’.

5. COMMUNITY PHLEBOTOMY SERVICES 

Dr Andy Seymour, representing NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (GCCG), gave a detailed update on local phlebotomy services.

Members were reminded that, in December 2019, the CCG had chosen to fund a 
new local phlebotomy service, (for primary care generated blood tests), for patients 

Page 36



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

aged 12 years and over as part of its Primary Care Offer (PCO).  From July 2020, 
GP Practices across the county began to offer this service to their patients.  

In addition to undertaking primary care generated blood tests, and where capacity 
allowed, GP Practices were also asked to provide secondary care generated blood 
tests in order to avoid patients needing to travel to a hospital for a test. 

Dr Seymour explained that the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic had, however, 
reduced the number of patients that could be accommodated at local clinics, 
transferring resources from phlebotomy services to concentrate on delivering 
infection controlled processes.

The increasing use of virtual appointments within secondary care, in addition to 
concerns around clinically vulnerable patients attending an acute hospital site for 
blood tests, had also led to significantly more secondary care patients wishing to 
access phlebotomy services at their GP Practice.   

Responding to the challenge, a different approach to delivering outpatient services 
was adopted, including offering phlebotomy services at locations closer to home. In 
January 2021, the CCG agreed to offer additional funding to GP practices to enable 
patients requiring blood tests as part of their secondary care treatment to be tested 
at local GP surgeries. This would allow patients needing a secondary care initiated 
blood test to have the choice of whether to continue to attend the Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT) drop-in phlebotomy service at 
Cheltenham General or Gloucester Royal Hospital, the bookable service available 
at Cirencester Hospital or at their local GP Practice (if available).

Noting specific concerns about phlebotomy services in the Cirencester area, Dr 
Seymour confirmed that the Cirencester Hospital phlebotomy service continued to 
offer a bookable phlebotomy service for patients aged 16 years of age and over, if 
required to have a blood test at the request of a hospital based health care 
professional. This service continued to be available to patients three days a week 
with a maximum wait time of approximately one week for routine blood tests. 
Acknowledging there would always be questions about waiting times for some NHS 
services, Dr Seymour stated that it was important to differentiate between urgent 
and routine appointments. Urgent appointments would be accommodated sooner, if 
required.  

With the new measures in place, the bookable appointment service had provided 
700 appointments between 9 December 2020 and 15 February 2021, of which, 
99.3% had resulted in successful blood tests. Originally, the service had been 
temporarily staffed by Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust, 
(GHCFT), using existing members of staff, (Health Care Assistants). Since this 
time, a recruitment process had been put in place to recruit staff on a more 
substantive basis. Dr Seymour confirmed that the new post-holder would be trained 
to take blood from paediatric patients under the age of 16. In line with current 
practices across the county, patients aged 0-5 years of age would continue to have 
blood tests at Gloucestershire Hospitals FT based Paediatric Outpatient 
Departments. 

Page 37



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Responding to ongoing concerns about phlebotomy services in the Cirencester 
area, the committee was advised that the demand for phlebotomy services would 
continue to reviewed on a regular basis by GHCFT and, if necessary, capacity 
could be flexibly increased beyond the current three day a week service. 

It was noted that GHCFT had received no formal complaints about phlebotomy 
services but, instead, had received many compliments from patients using the new 
arrangement.  In addition, between November 2020 and February 2021, GCCG had 
received no formal complaints relating to phlebotomy services. 

Noting reports of improvements in phlebotomy services for the Cirencester area 
since January 2021, local members questioned the lack of comparable data and 
number of complaints recorded before November 2020, and during recent weeks. 
Responding to local contrary feedback, it was explained that, without this 
information, the committee would be unable to make realistic comparisons or 
scrutinise effectively. 

Responding to specific examples given at the meeting and explaining that it was 
difficult to define what was considered ‘reasonable’ in terms of waiting times when 
balancing between urgent and routine appointments, Dr Seymour suggested that 
he speak with local members outside of the meeting on current data. 

It was confirmed similar issues had been generic throughout the county, including 
concerns about increased workloads on some GP practices. Going forward, 
additional funding would be provided to alleviate workload pressures and 
comparative data, (for the period April 2020 to April 2021), and considered by the 
committee at the June or July committee meeting. Action by GCCG

The responses to questions submitted by some members prior to the meeting are 
attached to the minutes. 

The update was noted.

6. COVID-19 TEMPORARY SERVICE CHANGES 

Ellen Rule, representing the NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(GCCG), gave a detailed update on the temporary service changes introduced by 
the Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. The purpose of the update was to seek the committee’s views on the 
proposal to further extend the temporary service changes introduced in 2020 and 
ensure continued safe and effective delivery of health and care services in 
Gloucestershire. 

In line with the locally agreed Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), detailed pro-
forma documents had been produced to provide an overview of the affected service 
variations. Appended to the report, the pro-forma documents had been produced to 
assist members with their understanding of the nature of the changes and to 
consider the risks involved if the temporary arrangements were not extended. 

Page 38



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

In presenting the report, the committee was asked to comment on the proposed 
renewal of the emergency (temporary) service changes presented to the committee 
in July 2020, (and later extended for a further 6 months in September 2020). The 
committee was asked to comment on the proposal to extend the service variations 
from March to June 2021. 

Subject to the ongoing success of the Covid-19 vaccination programme and the 
anticipated reduction in demands on the NHS from having to respond to the 
Pandemic, the CCG stated it was confident the changes would be reversed at the 
end of June. 

The proposals presented at the meeting included: 

1) Extension for a further three months of the temporary reconfiguration of 
Emergency General Surgery to Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH) from 
Cheltenham General Hospital (CGH) (temporary change enacted on 1st April 
2020, renewed in July 2020, with a further extension of 6 months from 
September 2020 – March 2021) 

2) Extension for a further three months of a series of temporary service 
changes across the GRH and CGH sites, (enacted on 9th June 2020 and 
renewed in September 2020 for a further 6 months), to include: -  

a) Cheltenham General Hospital, (CGH), Emergency Department to 
continue to operate as a Minor Intensive Care Unit, 7-days a week 
8-8;

b) All 999 and undifferentiated GP referrals centralised at 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital, (GRH), including centralisation of 
the Acute Medical Take, (a consequence of which, given the 
clinical nature of COVID-19, had resulted in more acute respiratory 
care moving to GRH since June). It was noted that a significant 
number of patients whose care pathways had started as 
assessment or admission at GRH had transferred to inpatient beds 
at CGH;

c) Acute Stroke Unit (ASU) to remain at CGH, (the Hyper Acute 
Stroke Unit (HASU) to remain at GRH) and a linked supporting 
reallocation of beds at the Vale hospital to support additional 
capacity in stroke rehabilitation care (see below);

d) Emergency and elective (planned) vascular surgery to remain at 
GRH (although, as part of the winter plan, more elective vascular 
activity to be delivered at CGH);

e) Emergency Urology pathway to remain at GRH; planned pathways 
to remain at CGH 

Page 39



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

3) A further three month extension of the temporary closure of the Dilke, Vale 
and Tewkesbury Minor Injuries Unit and reduced opening hours at 
Cirencester, Stroud and Lydney (temporary change enacted on 22nd March 
2020, extended in June 2020 for a further three months, extended in 
September 2020 for 6 months), with the addition of the temporary closure of 
Tewkesbury theatre;

4) A further three month extension to the temporary reallocation of 6 general 
rehabilitation beds at the Vale hospital to provide additional capacity for 
Stroke rehabilitation, to support flow through the acute hospital stroke units 
(temporary change initially proposed for 6 months in September 2020) 

The rationale for extending the service variations was to:-

1) Limit the risk of transmission of the virus to patients and staff during the 
current phase of the pandemic,

2) Enable the restoration of many of the services that had been paused in 
response to the pandemic; including increasing the volume of cancer 
surgery, planned care and specialist diagnostic activity, especially to those 
patients who are considered most vulnerable (utilising the Cheltenham site 
as a principally planned care environment); 

3) Give confidence to the local population that both GRH and CGH hospitals 
are safe places to visit, and 

4) To ensure that the available workforce could be aligned with meeting the 
activities and operational requirements of the Covid-19 secure service 
models.

At the time of the meeting, the proposed extension of service variations at GRH and 
CGH had been approved at an NHS Quality and Performance Committee meeting 
on 24 February 2021. Further approval would be required by the Trust Board on 11 
March 2021. 

Subject to the following comments, members noted the report and raised no 
objection to the extension of the service variations introduced in June 2020.

Referencing the success of the Gloucestershire Covid-19 vaccination programme, 
Cllr Martin Horwood questioned the need to retain vascular surgery at GRH. In line 
with national advice and reduced level of risks, Cllr Horwood questioned why this 
particular service variation should be extended and not reinstated at CGH. 

Deborah Lee, Chief Executive of the Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust explained that the decision to continue vascular surgery at GRH had been a 
balanced decision, taking into account the need to maintain a clean and safe 
environment for vascular and other planned major surgery, in conjunction with the 
need to ensure a clean environment for the support services critical to the surgery. 

Page 40



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

Emphasising the importance of avoiding the spread of infection and associated 
risks, it was clarified that vascular surgery should not be regarded as an island but 
as part of a hybrid of services dependent upon one another to ensure the best 
possible outcomes for patients. Members were reminded of the huge steps taken 
since the initial stages of the pandemic and how the NHS had worked hard to 
ensure super green wards/safe environments were available to patients. The 
variation in services had been taken very seriously. 

Cllr Dilys Neill commented on the impact of the pandemic on NHS staff, in particular 
the physical and mental fatigue of staff from working long and additional hours and 
from not taking holidays. Supporting a statement made earlier in the meeting, it was 
felt it would be important not to rush through a reversal of the changes. 

Acknowledging the likelihood of huge pressures being placed on staff in having to 
respond to a backlog of work following a decline in the number of Covid-19 cases, 
the Chairman supported the view that it would be necessary to ease carefully into 
resuming normal service.

Unlike national timescales and the government’s easing of restrictions on specific 
dates, it was clarified that the NHS could, if safe to do so, consider a reversal of the 
temporary changes before the end of the three month period.

Seeking clarification on how the committee received updates between meetings, 
Cllr Andrew Gravells was advised of the good channels of communication that 
existed. Regular updates, briefing notes and media press releases by the NHS 
ensured members received the latest information. 

7. GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 

Mary Hutton, (Lead Officer for the GCCG/One Gloucestershire Integrated Care 
System), gave an update on the performance of the Gloucestershire CCG against 
NHS constitutional and other agreed standards, plus a summary of local 
performance against national standards. 

It was reported that, overall, Gloucestershire was performing well and in line with 
the national position in the NHS response to the pandemic, with the exception of 
the 4 hour Accident & Emergency (A&E) Department performance target and 
ambulance response times. It was noted that Gloucestershire A&E performance 
reflected a general decline in A&E performance nationally.

Delivery of cancer services in Gloucestershire remained strong and was noted for 
its excellent performance in spite of the pandemic. Good performance was also 
noted in the provision of mental health services and in the launch of the ‘Think 
NHS111” initiative, aimed at encouraging patients to contact NHS111 before visiting 
A&E.

In a short update on issues emerging since publication of the agenda, the 
committee was advised of a notable reduction in Covid-19 infections throughout 

Page 41



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Gloucestershire. However, with the steady flow of lower level hospital admissions, it 
remained important to keep the current Covid-19 safety arrangements in place for 
the immediate future. This, and the need to plan for the county’s recovery process, 
had impacted quite significantly on performance during February. It was hoped, with 
the successful roll out of the Covid-19 vaccination programme, the focus on the 
response to the pandemic would begin to ease, enabling the CCG to prioritise on 
other issues.

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson questioned the data on the number of excess deaths 
recorded for Gloucestershire during the pandemic and stated that he had been 
surprised that the figure, (reported at 6% higher than normal for Gloucestershire), 
was not higher. Conscious of the sensitivity surrounding the issue and noting the 
impact on NHS staff from the emotive repercussions of the pandemic, including 
treating patients with long-covid symptoms, it was agreed this was a difficult 
perspective to consider. 

Sarah Scott, Executive Director for Adult Social Care and Public Health, clarified 
that the 427 excess lives lost to the coronavirus during the past year was more than 
had been anticipated at the outset of the pandemic. Potentially, however, some of 
the deaths could have resulted from other causes, regardless of the pandemic. 

Supported by several other members at the meeting, Cllr Hodgkinson’s comments 
were noted, supplemented with a request for a breakdown of mortality rates and 
their causes over the course of the past year. It was agreed that the data would be 
provided after the meeting, with input from the Executive Director of Adult Social 
Care and Public Health Action by – NHS CCG

Acknowledging the enormous challenges presented by the pandemic, Cllr Andrew 
Gravells, commended the tremendous efforts of the NHS CCG in the response to 
the crisis and in particular, in reducing the number of Covid-19 cases in Gloucester 
City. 

Other members noted a welcome improvement in the 4 hour A & E performance 
target for Gloucestershire and the exceptional achievement of continuing to deliver 
cancer services throughout the pandemic. In spite of the achievement, the 
committee urged the CCG and GHNHSFT  to maintain the momentum and ensure 
cancer and other serious illness patients received the treatments they required. 
Deborah Lee, Chief Executive of GHNHSFT, assured members that a huge amount 
of work was being invested in ensuring no one was forgotten nor treatments 
overlooked. 

Other notable updates included in the performance item included information on an 
exciting new hospital charity project, the Green Spaces Appeal, and the creation of 
a garden of commemoration at the Gloucestershire Royal Hospital site in memory 
of those who had died, or had lost a loved one, as a result of  the pandemic. When 
completed, (and where pandemic conditions allow), the garden will be accessible to 
staff, patients and visitors for quiet contemplation and reflection. The theme of the 
‘dandelion’ will play an integral role in the design of the garden, as used in the 

Page 42



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

Gloucestershire NHS end of life initiative, ‘Every Name a Person’, for which the 
Trust received national acclaim. 

It was also reported that it was the intention to re-establish the NHS Reference 
Group later in the year. The work of the reference group to include input into the 
NHS Covid-19 Recovery Planning process. 

The performance report was noted.

8. ONE GLOUCESTERSHIRE INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM (ICS) LEAD REPORT 

Mary Hutton, representing the One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System, (ICS), 
gave an update on the work of the partnership in its response to the Covid-19 
emergency. NHS partners include: NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group; Primary Care (GP) Providers; Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust; Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and South 
West Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust.  

It was noted that, throughout February 2021, the number of Covid-19 cases in 
Gloucestershire had continued to fall, with the rate of new infections at 81 per 
100,000 population. The number of patients with Covid-19 being admitted to 
hospital was declining, but other acute services remained under pressure. The ICS 
aimed to provide as much routine activity as possible during this latest wave of the 
pandemic and, where possible, increase activity where capacity allowed. 

Updating members on some of the issues emerging since publication of the agenda 
and in the ongoing response to the pandemic, Mary Hutton was pleased to report a 
huge increase in the number of people being vaccinated as part of the 
Gloucestershire Covid-19 vaccination programme. The committee welcomed this 
positive news and commended the success of the programme and all those 
involved in making this achievement possible. 

Seeking clarification on the vaccination programme, Dr Andy Seymour updated the 
committee on the current position, (based on information reported at the time of the 
meeting). 

The latest information about the community vaccination programme for 
Gloucestershire can be found on the NHS COVID-19 portal: 
https://covid19.glos.nhs.uk/vaccinations.

Responding to questions, it was explained that the order/the prioritising of cohorts 
for vaccination was determined in line with government guidelines. Nevertheless, 
every effort was being made to vaccinate as many people as possible, including 
taking a targeted approach to build confidence/vaccinate people from specific 
groups, including people from ethnic minority groups in which there has been 
shown to be more vaccine hesitancy.

The committee welcomed plans to recognise the enormous contributions of staff 
and colleagues in caring for Covid-19 patients and to commemorate the memory of 

Page 43

https://covid19.glos.nhs.uk/vaccinations


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

those who had lost their lives during the pandemic. Events aimed to draw from the 
powerful campaign/video recording ‘every name a person’. To receive more 
information on the campaign please visit the website below: - 

https://www.onegloucestershire.net/every-name-a-person/

Work was being stepped up on providing end of life care in Gloucestershire, for 
which a new strategy, (Palliative and End of Life Care Collaborative Strategy 2021-
25), would be published in April 2021 and presented to the committee later in the 
year.

It was suggested that another key aspect of work ‘living with pain’ should provide 
the focus of a specific event or agenda item later in the year. The Living Well with 
Pain Programme is a system-wide, ICS, initiative to support people living with 
persistent pain, helping them to live well and minimise the harms associated with 
medical treatments for pain

Other items suggested as possible items for consideration at future meetings 
included; mental health plans/initiatives; the future of the ICS in line with new 
legislation due in April 2022; and a detailed report on equity issues in relation to the 
Covid-19 vaccination programme. This piece of work to include information on why 
some communities appeared hesitant/were opposed to vaccines. Members were 
reassured by the update and pleased to learn work was underway for homeless 
people to be vaccinated. 

Reflecting on the progress of the Fit for the Future Consultation, including the 
update provided to the committee at the HOSC meeting on 12 January 2021, Cllr 
Martin Horwood expressed his disappointment that the committee would not be 
considering an update on the consultation, (in the form of a briefing paper), at this 
meeting. Cllr Horwood also expressed his disappointment at not being able to 
scrutinise details of the decision making business case due to be presented to the 
CCG Governing Body at a meeting on 11 March 2021. 

Further to detailed presentations to HOSC at meetings on 14 July and 22 October 
2020, a detailed interim output report and presentation on the Fit for the Future 
consultation was published and emailed to members the day before the committee 
meeting on 12 January 2021, along with a note of explanation that, given the limited 
time for members to consider the information, the committee would have a further 
opportunity to comment on the outcomes of the consultation at the 2 March 
meeting. In response, several members had expressed their frustration at the 
lateness of the information but nevertheless accepted that the timing of the 
consultation had impacted on the time required to consider the responses, making it 
very difficult to produce a committee report in time to publish with the agenda. 

The outcome of the discussion at the 12 January 2021 meeting concluded with the 
suggestion that members consider the output report/supporting documents after the 
meeting and submit any comments/views/questions to the CCG for 
responses/further discussion at the 2 March 2021 meeting. An email to this effect 

Page 44

https://www.onegloucestershire.net/every-name-a-person/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

was issued to the committee, advising members of the proposed course of action. 
No comments were made/received from members. 

Cllr Martin Horwood reaffirmed his disappointment that there would be no formal 
discussion at this meeting on the outcomes of the consultation nor would there be 
appropriate consideration of the proposals set out in the decision making business 
case prior to their approval by the CCG Board on 18 March 2021. 

Stating that it was wholly unacceptable not to give members this opportunity, Cllr 
Horwood called for an emergency (extraordinary) committee meeting to be 
arranged as quickly as possible. Suggesting inaccuracies in the reporting of the bed 
test assurance check, Cllr Horwood believed ‘other serious questions’ remained 
unanswered, including questions relating to vascular surgery and centres of 
excellence. Objecting strongly that the proposals included in the decision making 
business case would not be considered at the meeting, he feared ‘huge issues 
requiring further discussion’ would be overlooked. Acknowledging the concerns, Cllr 
Stephen Hirst, (Chair), plus several other members of the committee, shared Cllr 
Horwood’s perspective. 

Responding to a request for information on the Clinical Senate review of the Fit for 
the Future proposals, (part of the NHSE/I assurance process), it was agreed to 
share the agreement with members after the meeting.

Mary Hutton, (representing CCG and One Gloucestershire ICS), reminded 
members of the NHS position and outlined the various stages of reports and 
presentations that had been made to the committee in recent years, which she 
referred to as ‘extensive’. 

Members recalled that the committee had been given several opportunities to 
comment on the consultation process and had been asked to comment on and 
submit questions on the outputs and recommendations proposed at the January 
committee meeting, for consideration at the 2 March 2021 meeting.  

As an explanation on the timings of the consultation, it was clarified that the 
consultation had been to seek public opinion on the pre-consultation business case 
and that no final decisions would be made at this stage in the process. 

The proposals were ‘in principle’ proposals and would be subject to further stress 
testing. Implementation would not commence, as had been suggested, on 1 April 
2021 but would be implemented, (subject to approval by the CCG Governing Body), 
using a phased approach, over several years.

Questioning the role of the committee, including the perception that the powers of 
the committee allowed members to approve/call in the CCG Governing Body 
decision on the Fit for the Future consultation, Cllr Horwood proposed that a special 
meeting be arranged for members to i) receive a detailed presentation on the 
decision making business case and; ii) consider the range of supporting material 
and outcomes from the consultation, including proposals for the future. 

Page 45



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

The CCG reported that a significant amount of work had gone into the consultation, 
supplemented by detailed reports and presentations published throughout the 
process. Full details of the outputs from the consultation had been circulated to 
members in advance of the January meeting, followed by several NHS CCG 
briefing notes/media releases subsequently shared with members in the weeks 
preceding the 2 March 2021 meeting. 

Advising the committee of the need to adhere to the dates/stipulations of purdah, it 
was clarified that an extraordinary meeting would need to be arranged on or before 
26 March 2021, (alternatively, the matter could be considered at the first meeting of 
the new committee, post the council elections in May 2021). 

After seeking consensus on the request for an additional meeting, Cllr Stephen 
Hirst, as Chair, clarified that a meeting would need to arranged before the end of 
March 2021. To resolve any confusion on the remit/role of the committee, it was 
suggested that the committee terms of reference; memorandum of understanding 
and legal advice presented to the committee in October 2020, be re-issued to help 
members prepare for the meeting. It was also suggested that, in preparation for the 
meeting, members state what they hoped to achieve from the meeting and what 
options they might want to consider. 

In summary, the committee supported the proposal made by Cllr Martin Horwood 
for an additional, (extraordinary) committee meeting prior to the council elections in 
May, to consider the outcomes of the CCG Governing Body meeting on 18 March 
2021 regarding the Fit for the Future: Developing Specialist Hospital Services 
Consultation and Decision Making Business Case. 

A meeting was subsequently arranged to take place on Monday 22 March 2021. 
The purpose of the meeting would be to provide HOSC committee with a further 
opportunity to consider the outcomes of the Fit For the Future consultation on 
proposed NHS service changes. 

The ICS report was noted.

9. GCCG CLINICAL CHAIR/ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER REPORT 

Mary Hutton and Dr Andy Seymour, (representing GCCG and One Gloucestershire 
Integrated Care System), introduced the NHS Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG) Clinical Chair and Accountable Officer Report. The 
report provided an overview of information based on updates from NHS health 
partners and broken down into the following subsections of the report. 

Section A: General NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 
commissioner update, incorporating national consultations. 

Section B; Commissioner update focussing on primary medical care.

Section C: Trust updates from: Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHC) and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT).

Page 46



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

Commending the hard work of partners and volunteers during the pandemic, 
members were advised of the award of funding to be invested in continuing the 
good work and maintaining the positive health and care outcomes.  

Responding to questions, Mary Hutton reassured members it was unlikely GP 
practices in Gloucestershire would be affected by take overs/mergers to form ‘super 
practices’. It was confirmed that GP practices in Gloucestershire were stable and 
regarded as quite low risk in the need for financial investment. 

Responding to a request from Cllr Martin Horwood for an update on the 
Gloucestershire Trailblazer Young Minds Matter programme, a detailed briefing 
note was circulated to the committee in advance of the meeting, (attached to the 
minutes). Cllr Horwood thanked the CCG for the update and proposed that a 
detailed report on the mental health of school children, (plus a full report on the 
trailblazer programme), be presented to the committee at a future meeting. Action 
by CCG

It was noted that a children’s mental health scrutiny event, (under the auspices of 
the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee), had been held in November and 
had been very useful. Going forward, it was hoped a further event would be held as 
part of the GCC member development programme. The members of this and the 
Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee would be invited to the event. Action by - 
GCC Scrutiny Officers 

The responses to questions on other, more generalised, issues, (submitted by Cllrs 
Martin Horwood, Paul Hodgkinson, Iain Dobie and Stephen Lydon prior to the 
meeting), are attached to the minutes of the meeting. 

The NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) Clinical Chair 
and Accountable Officer Report was noted.

10. WORK PLAN REVIEW 2017-21 

Members were asked to review the work of the committee for the period 2017-21 
and make suggestions on scrutiny items for the new committee to consider post the 
council elections in May 2021.

A summary of some of key items considered by the Health and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, (and, later by the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee), 
during the period of the current council had been circulated to members prior to the 
meeting (attached to the minutes). 

The following items were suggested as topics for the new committee to consider: - 

1. Gloucestershire Trailblazer ‘Young Minds Matter’ Programme/Holistic 
approach to considering/safeguarding the Mental Health of Young People 
going forward (a pre-meeting to be arranged to consider specific aspects of 
work the new committee may wish to consider)

Page 47



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

2. Palliative and End of Life Care Collaborative Strategy 2021-25
3. Living Well with Pain Programme 
4. A review of the impact of the pandemic on Mental Health (Children and 

Adult) 
5. Planning for ICS Legislation 2022
6. Fit for the Future Programme – including clarification on legal matters
7. SWAST – work and performance 

Members were advised that the following suggestions would be considered under 
the auspices of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee, for 
which updates would be shared with HOSC members: - 

8. Sexual Health Issues (in relation to the impact of the pandemic)
9. Joint working between CCG Health and Care Teams and local (2 Tier) 

government departments (eg Housing) – members noted that this work 
related to the remit of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee. To avoid duplication, updates to be shared with HOSC 
members.

10.Cheltenham Festival 2020 

Prior to the meeting, Cllr Stephen Lydon had raised serious concerns about the 
decision to allow the Cheltenham (Horse Racing) Festival to take place in March 
2020, amidst growing concerns about the Covid-19 coronavirus. 

Seeking the advice of officers on the proposal to set up a scrutiny task and finish 
group to review the decision, Cllr Lydon had been advised that the County Council 
had no role in either licencing or permitting the Cheltenham Festival in 
2020. Seeking the advice of Public Health England and from the UK Government, 
the decision to allow the Festival to take place had been taken in accordance with 
the national guidance at the time, allowing mass events to take place in public. 

With the support of several members, Cllr Lydon proposed that the committee write 
to Public Health England, seeking clarification on the decision to allow the 
Cheltenham, (Horse Racing), Festival 2020 to proceed as planned, regardless of 
escalating concerns about the Covid-19 Global Emergency. 

The committee agreed with the proposal that a letter be sent to Pubic Health 
England, seeking: - 

a) An explanation on why the Cheltenham Horse Racing Festival had been 
allowed to take place in March 2020; 

b) Clarification on why the decision had been taken at a time of 
national/international concern regarding the spread of the Covid-19 
coronavirus; 

c) Information on what factors/risks had been considered before taking the 
decision, and by whom; 

d) Feedback on lessons learnt from taking the decision, including whether the 
same judgement would be made again, given the significant impact of the 
decision.

Page 48



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

After the meeting, a draft letter was circulated, seeking members agreement before 
sending to Public Health England. (A copy of the letter is attached to the minutes). 

Cllr Stephen Hirst thanked everyone for their contributions over the past 4 years, 
with particular thanks to former Chairs, Cllr Roger Wilson, Cariole Allaway Martin 
and Brian Robinson. 

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.45pm

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Minutes of the meeting of the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on Monday 22 
March 2021

Present Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

Cllr Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Collette Finnegan
Cllr Martin Horwood
Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Jill Smith

Officers: NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)/ One 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) 

Mary Hutton – Accountable Officer and ICS Lead
Dr Andy Seymour – Clinical Chair 
Ellen Rule – Director of Transformation and Service Redesign
Becky Parish – Associate Director Engagement and Experience

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Deborah Lee – Chief Executive 
Prof Mark Pietroni – Director for Safety and Medical Director
Simon Lanceley - Director of Transformation
James Brown - Director of Engagement, Involvement and 
Communications

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 
Angela Potter, Director of Strategy and Partnerships 

Gloucestershire Healthwatch - Gill Bridgland

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Helen Molyneux, (Forest of Dean District 
representative) and from Cllr Dilys Neill, (Cotswold District representative). Cllr 
Stephen Andrews substituted for Cllr Neill at the meeting. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

Page 51



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

3. PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 

At the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) meeting on 2 March 2021, 
members supported the request for an additional meeting to consider the outcomes 
of the CCG Governing Body decision on 18 March 2021 regarding proposals based 
on the Fit for the Future Consultation: Developing Specialist Hospital Services in 
Gloucestershire and Decision Making Business Case. 

Julius Marstrand from REACH, (Restore Emergency At Cheltenham General 
Hospital), was invited to speak at the meeting, following a late request to make 
representation. Committee Chair, Cllr Stephen Hirst, confirmed that a dispensation 
would be granted for the representation to be made, (to allow members to consider 
the views of the REACH Campaign on proposed changes to specialist hospital 
services in the county) 

Launched by the Cheltenham Chamber of Commerce, and supported by local 
businesses and stakeholders, the aim of the REACH Campaign is to achieve the 
following objective: - 

“To reinstate a fully functioning, fully staffed A&E Department operating 24/7 at 
Cheltenham General Hospital, serving a population of at least 200,000 in 
Cheltenham, Tewkesbury Borough and the North Cotswolds, at the earliest 
possible opportunity.” 

In response to the continuing reduction in Covid-19 community transmission and 
falling hospital admissions, a media statement, (24 February 2021), was released 
by the One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) confirming the intention 
to reinstate Cheltenham A&E to pre-Covid arrangements no later than 1 July 2021, 
(24/7 A&E – nurse led 8pm-8am). The statement is attached to the minutes of the 
meeting.

Representation made by Julius Marstrand (on behalf of REACH)

Public Consultation Process

REACH believes the ‘Fit for the Future’ consultation was deeply flawed because it 
only presented the public with a very one-sided view of the argument.  It did not 
provide adequate opportunities for alternative or opposing views to be presented to 
the public. If One Gloucestershire and the Hospital Trust had been so confident of 
the logic of their proposals they would not have provided such a one-sided public 
consultation in which legitimate opposition was effectively excluded from the main 
public consultation.

REACH did an excellent job of informing the public of some of the negative 
consequences of some of the proposed changes, on an absolutely minimal budget 
compared to the huge spending on the public consultation by One Gloucestershire 
and the Hospital Trust. This was not entirely due to the pandemic,  but it was 
certainly one of the major issues of attempting to hold a major public consultation in 
the middle of a pandemic.

Page 52



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Preparing Gloucestershire Hospitals for Future Pandemics

The other and far more important issue (raised by the pandemic) is that it is now 
very obvious the NHS was ill-prepared for a pandemic on this scale, with insufficient 
bed capacity and insufficient Intensive Care Capacity.

The proposed changes were determined in 2018/19 before the pandemic.  The 
proposals took no account of what has been has been learnt from the pandemic 
and include no provisions for pandemic-proofing Gloucestershire Hospitals.  The 
ability to separate the ‘Green’ (Covid-free) and Emergency ‘Red/Blue’ (Emergency 
& Covid) hospitals was one of the advantages Gloucestershire Hospitals had, but 
this was only possible because Cheltenham was still a fully functioning District 
General Hospital (not a ‘Specialist Hospital’), with all the Intensive Care and Acute 
Medical facilities necessary. It had not been downgraded to a ‘day-case’, (minor) 
elective surgery hospital only and still had its own major specialisms and inpatient 
capacity (for Oncology/Cancer, Urology and Cardiovascular surgery).

The Citizens’ Jury assessment of the public consultation process

For a public consultation to be considered satisfactory, one would expect an 
overwhelming proportion of those appointed to objectively assess the effectiveness 
of the process should have overall confidence in the process, whatever they think of 
the outcome.

In this instance, only 38.89% of the Citizens’ Jurors were ‘fairly’, or ‘very confident’ 
in the process. Exactly the same proportion were ‘Not that confident’, or ‘Not at all 
confident’ and 22.22% were ‘neutral’, or undecided.  This is hardly a ringing 
endorsement of the process, regardless of the outcome.

Furthermore, while ten of the Jurors were ‘confident in the information provided in 
the consultation’ that was only 55.56% of the Citizen’s Jury.  One was ‘not at all 
confident’ and five were ‘neutral’ or undecided.  Again, this is not a ringing 
endorsement of the quality or comprehensiveness of the information provided, 
regardless of the outcome.

Julius Marstrand (REACH Campaign)

4. FIT FOR THE FUTURE 

At the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) meeting on 2 March 2021, 
the committee agreed to a request from Cllr Martin Horwood for an additional 
meeting to be arranged to enable the committee to consider the decisions of the 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Governing Body meeting on 18 March 2021 
regarding the outcomes of the Fit for the Future: Developing Specialist Hospital 
Services in Gloucestershire Consultation and Decision Making Business Case. 

At the HOSC meeting on 2 March 2021, members reflected on the Fit for the Future 
update provided at the committee meeting on 12 January 2021 and expressed their 

Page 53



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

disappointment at not being given an opportunity to discuss the outcomes of the 
consultation due to the proximity of the 12 January 2021 HOSC meeting and the 
end of the consultation period with the preparation of the Output of Consultation 
Report and Presentation, (shared shortly before the January HOSC meeting less 
that one week prior), and at not being able to scrutinise the details of the decision 
making business case, due for consideration by the CCG Governing Body at a 
meeting on 18 March 2021. 

Expressing concern about possible inaccuracies in the reporting of the bed 
assurance test, Cllr Martin Horwood requested that the additional meeting be 
arranged to consider ‘serious unanswered questions’ relating to the proposed 
service changes, including questions relating to vascular surgery and centres of 
excellence. 

Supporting the request for an additional meeting, members were reminded that, at 
the committee meeting on 12 January 2021, the committee had been asked to 
comment on the outputs and recommendations from the consultation and to submit 
any questions prior to consideration at the 2 March 2021 meeting.  No comments 
had been received from members.  

Having set the context of the meeting, Cllr Stephen Hirst, (as Chairman), explained 
that the purpose of the extraordinary meeting on 22 March 2021 was to provide the 
committee with a further opportunity to consider the outcomes of the consultation, in 
addition to commenting on the resolutions agreed by the CCG Governing Body on 
18 March 2021, regarding the medium and long term future of specialist hospital 
services in Gloucestershire 

The decisions at the Governing Body meeting were informed by the Fit for the 
Future Decision Making Business Case (DMBC), based on proposals relating to:- 

 Acute Medicine (specifically acute medical take)
 Emergency General Surgery
 Gastroenterology inpatient services
 Image Guided Interventional Surgery (IGIS) including Vascular Surgery
 Trauma and Orthopaedic (T&O) inpatient services

The DMBC also included a proposal relating to Planned General Surgery, with a 
proposal that further work be undertaken to define a new option for the delivery of : 
-

 Planned high risk Upper Gastrointestinal (GI) and Lower Gastrointestinal 
(Colorectal) surgery at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital; 

 Planned complex and routine inpatient and day case surgery in both Upper 
and Lower GI (Colorectal) at Cheltenham General Hospital. 

This proposal had given HOSC, the public and NHS staff a further opportunity to 
comment on and inform the definition of the new option.

Page 54



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

The Governing Body meeting papers, (comprising DMBC, Output of Consultation 
Report; Citizens’ Jury reports and representations from members of the public, staff 
and stakeholders), can be viewed here 

Committee Discussion: 22 March 2021
Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign, representing NHS 
CCG, (on behalf of One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System), gave a full and 
detailed presentation on the development and progress of the Fit for the Future 
Consultation, including post consultation activity and outcomes of the decisions at 
the Governing Board meeting on 18 March 2021. The full presentation can be 
viewed here. 

An NHS CCG stakeholder briefing/media announcement released on 18 March 
2021 confirmed all proposals had been resolved by the CCG Governing Body. The 
document is attached to the minutes.

Outlining the remit and powers of the committee, it was clarified that, under the 
terms of reference of the committee, (and in accordance with the Local Authority 
Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny Regulations 2013), 
the role of the committee was to exercise the County Council’s responsibility of 
reviewing and scrutinising matters relating to the planning, provision and operation 
of health services for Gloucestershire. It was explained that, to comment on or to 
make recommendations on proposals relating to a substantial development or 
variation in services to the Secretary of State, remained within the powers of the 
County Council and was not in the powers of the committee. 

Members were advised that, should the outcome of the meeting propose making a 
recommendation to the Secretary of State, the proposal would need to be 
referred/seek agreement of full council at the next ordinary meeting of 
Gloucestershire County Council on 30 June 2021. 

For clarification, it was confirmed that referral to the Secretary of State may only be 
considered when a health scrutiny body, (the committee), is consulted with by a 
relevant NHS body on a proposed substantial development or variation, and where 
the health scrutiny body: - 

 Is not satisfied with the adequacy of content of the consultation;  

 Is not satisfied that sufficient time has been allowed for consultation; 

 Consider that the proposal is not in the interests of the health service for the 
area;

 Has not been consulted with, and is not satisfied that the reasons given for 
not carrying out consultation are adequate.

The purpose of the extraordinary meeting was therefore to note the resolutions 
agreed at the CCG Governing Board meeting on 18 March 2021 and for the 
committee to confirm whether it was either: -  

Page 55

http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/category/board-meetings
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b18656/Fit%20for%20the%20Future%20Presentation%20March%202021%20Monday%2022-Mar-2021%2010.30%20Health%20Overview%20Scrutiny%20C.pdf?T=9


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

a) Satisfied with the outcomes of the Fit for the Future Decision Making 
Business Case/resolutions from the CCG Governing Body meeting on 18 
March 2021; or 

b) Not satisfied with the outcomes of the Fit for the Future Decision Making 
Business Case/resolutions made by the CCG Governing Body, (stating clear 
reasons why), and, based on the majority decision of the committee, to 
confirm what actions it wished to take, including whether to refer the 
committees’ dissatisfaction to the Secretary of State, (stating clear reasons 
why and subject to agreement by full council).

Following a full and detailed presentation, including an outline of some of the key 
milestones from the consultation and an overview of the feedback from the public 
and citizens jury, the committee asked a range of in-depth and challenging 
questions. 

Throughout the extensive discussion, several points of concern were made. These 
included; questioning the strength and reliability of data collated during the 
pandemic; concerns about the accuracy of the bed capacity assurance test and 
concerns about feedback and statistical evidence from the citizens jury. 

Member questions about the reliability of the bed capacity assurance test/bed 
capacity at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH) were met with assurances and 
positive statements that the criteria had been met, (provisionally during the summer 
and more recently, as formal confirmation from NHS England). NHS CCG 
representatives assured members they were confident bed capacity at GRH would 
not be an issue, and that this and other themes from the consultation would be 
addressed/monitored going forward.

It was explained that the resolutions had been ‘in principle’ decisions and subject to 
further stress testing. Implementation would not commence on 1 April 2021, (as 
suggested at the previous meeting), but would be implemented using a phased 
approach, over the next 2 to 3 years. The Fit for the Future Programme provided 
the road map of the future, long-term health care of Gloucestershire, for which there 
would be many opportunities for the committee to scrutinise service variations, 
proposals and decisions. 

Addressing concerns about planned surgery in relation to the excellent facilities at 
Cheltenham General Hospital, members were advised that decisions relating to 
planned surgery continue to be made in the best interests of the patient. This 
remains the primary focus. Whilst specialist surgeons have the flexibility to 
undertake work at both sites, care must be taken to ensure the surgery is as risk 
free as possible. For this reason, treatment is individualised and therefore reliant on 
the specific facilities and support services necessary to meet each patient’s needs.

Prior to the meeting, Cllr Stephen Andrews expressed a view that, going forward, 
consideration of the configuration of the two hospitals, (neither of which he felt were 
ideally placed), would benefit from consideration of a single site replacement 

Page 56



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

hospital. On previous occasions, (where the matter had been raised informally), this 
proposal had met with some hesitancy, based on the principle of being too 
expensive. 

Cllr Andrews reiterated his comments, where it was agreed, (by members and NHS 
CCG), that the creation of a One Hospital for One Gloucestershire, whilst 
expensive, would be an option worth further exploration. Members were advised 
that NHS colleagues would remain alert to any future national allocations of 
substantial capital funding the One Gloucestershire system could bid for. The 
committee endorsed Cllr Andrew’s suggestion that it would be useful for the 
committee to receive a detailed appraisal of the costs/benefits and risks involved in 
continuing with the current split site arrangement. CCG officers acknowledged the 
merits of creating a ‘super hospital’ and accepted that some of the current buildings 
would be difficult to adapt to the role of a modern hospital centre of excellence, 
particularly when making comparisons against the option of a One Hospital for One 
Gloucestershire. The comments were noted. 

Reiterating his earlier concerns, (circulated via email prior to the start of the 
meeting), Cllr Martin Horwood had proposed that the committee consider ‘calling-in’ 
the decisions made at the CCG Governing Body meeting on 18 March 2021, based 
on the following issues: - 

i. Inadequate opportunity to scrutinise the decision-making business case; 
ii. Leading nature of some of the consultation questions;
iii. Timing of the consultation (during the pandemic); 
iv. Concerns raised by REACH and by the SW clinical senate, most notably 

around bed capacity at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital and the long-term 
viability of the Emergency Department at Cheltenham, should the changes 
go ahead

v. Emergency bed capacity and performance at Gloucestershire Royal 
Hospital, (failing to reach national targets and continuing to deteriorate, even 
during the lowest phase of the pandemic in the summer, and as such, 
highlighting the importance of maintaining and Emergency Department in 
Cheltenham);

vi. Introduction of a new model for split General Surgery; .
vii. Negative travel impact on patients and careers;
viii. Dismissal of the alternative long-term option for the development of new 

super-hospital, at a time when record low interest rates for borrowing and the 
Chancellor’s stated support in the Budget for large infrastructure spending to 
drive forward economic growth (plus likely receipts from the two existing 
sites), would facilitate such development.

Referencing the above, plus several other concerns raised at the meeting, Cllr 
Horwood proposed that the committee submit a report for consideration at the 
Gloucestershire County Council meeting on 30 June 2021, with a request that the 
County Council make a referral to the Secretary of State for a review/call in of the 
decisions made at the CCG Governing Board meeting on 18 March 2021. 

Page 57



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Cllr Stephen Lydon supported the proposal and reaffirmed ongoing concerns that 
the timing of the consultation, (during a pandemic), had not been an appropriate 
time to consult on changes to hospital services. Cllr Lydon stressed the importance 
of not rushing into making changes. 

Members were advised that that the committee would need to give clear reasons 
for proposing that the County Council write to the Secretary of State for a call-in of 
the outcomes of the Fit for the Future consultation regarding proposed service 
changes. Members noted that, should the committee agree to make a 
recommendation to full council, it would need to demonstrate it had worked with the 
organisational body, (NHS CCG), to resolve any disagreements before making a 
referral to the Secretary of State. 
 
To seek consensus on the committee viewpoint, members were asked to confirm 
their support for Cllr Horwood’s proposal with a show of hands via a verbal roll call. 

The outcome of the roll call, on the proposal to request a call in of the resolutions 
made at the Governing Body meeting on 18 March 2021, (as proposed by Cllr 
Martin Horwood, seconded by Cllr Lydon), concluded with 3 expressions of support, 
(for), 4 rejections of the proposal, (against) and 3 abstentions. The proposal was 
not accepted. 

Cllr Andrew Gravells subsequently proposed that the committee list the concerns 
raised at this and at other HOSC meetings and incorporate into a report for the 
CCG to respond to and for the new committee to discuss/take forward post the May 
2021 local elections. 

This proposal received the unanimous support of those members present at the 
meeting, (10 members). Cllr Gravells believed this was the most sensible approach 
and urged the committee to allow the NHS CCG to progress this outcome without 
further interruption. Other members stressed the importance of advising the new 
committee of the decisions made by i) the organisational body, (NHS CCG) and ii) 
the concerns raised by the scrutiny body, (HOSC).  

Cllr Terry Hale expressed confidence in the proposed changes, (based on his 
understanding that nothing would change until the necessary infrastructure was in 
place to support the changes). Cllr Hale said he was confident the changes would 
be implemented and that the changes would be successful. 

Cllr Stephen Hirst, (as Chair), clarified that a report on the Fit for the Future  
Consultation, (including the issues raised at this and at previous meetings), would 
be presented to the new committee, post the council elections In May 2021.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE NEW COMMITTEE 

It was agreed a report, listing the issues raised at this and at previous meetings, in 
relation to Fit for the Future specialist service changes at Gloucestershire hospitals, 
would be considered by the new committee post the council elections in May 2021. 

Page 58



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Action: An update on the Fit for the Future decision making process/resolutions 
from the NHS CCG Governing Body meeting on 18 March 2021 and the concerns 
raised at the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on 22 March 2021 
to be presented for consideration by the members and representatives of the new 
committee and NHS CCG post the council election in May 2021. Action by: NHS 
CCG

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.00

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Briefing paper on COVID-19 Temporary Service changes 

Update to Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

Document Control 

Responsible 
Director:  

Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign 

Status: V 2.2  

 

Document Distribution: 

Forum/Audience Date Doc Comments 

Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

13/07/21 v2.2  

    

    

    

 

  

Versio
n 

Date Author/ 
Reviewer 

Comments 

1.0 28/06/2021 Micky Griffith V 1.0 draft developed for review 

2.0 30/06/2021 Ellen Rule  V 2.0 review and editing of v1.0   

2.1 30/06/2021 Simon Lanceley V2.1 review and editing of v2.0 

2.2 01/07/2021 Micky Griffith Incorporate Feedback 

    

    

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Contents 

1. Purpose of the Document ........................................................................................ 1 

2. COVID-19 Temporary Service Changes .................................................................. 1 

2.1 GHNHSFT ................................................................................................................ 1 

2.2 GHCFT ..................................................................................................................... 2 

3. Learning from Coronavirus (COVID-19) Temporary Changes ................................. 2 

4. Temporary Service Change Restoration Plan .......................................................... 4 

4.1 GHNHSFT ................................................................................................................ 4 

4.2 GHCFT ..................................................................................................................... 7 

5. Conclusion .............................................................................................................. 8 

Annex 1: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service variation - 

Stroke Services ....................................................................................................... 9 

Annex 2: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service variation: 

Respiratory Services ............................................................................................. 16 

Annex 3: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service variation: 

Medical Day Unit ................................................................................................... 21 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



1 | P a g e  

 

1. Purpose of the Document 

This paper for the Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) 

provides an update to the committee regarding the COVID-19 Temporary Service Changes, 

including a brief summary of proposals previously discussed at HOSC and sets out the next 

steps including the service restoration plans.  

The approach set out in this paper (and the associated paper on FFTF also presented to the 

committee) describes our plans for the continued development of our health services to 

improve quality, ensure sustainability as well as some further temporary measures intended 

to ensure that we can maintain our state of preparedness for any future COVID-19 waves 

that may impact over the remainder of this year.  

2. COVID-19 Temporary Service Changes 

As part of the Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) response to the COVID-19 

Pandemic, service changes were implemented by Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT) and by Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation 

Trust (GHCFT). 

The rationale for the changes was to support our response and recovery:  

• To limit the risk of transmission of the virus to patients and staff, 

• To enable restoration of many of the services paused in response to the pandemic, 

increasing the volume of cancer surgery, planned care and specialist diagnostic 

activity, especially to those patients who are most vulnerable, 

• To give confidence to our local population that our hospitals were safe places to visit 

• To ensure that the available workforce was aligned to activity and requirement for 

COVID secure service models  

Changes were implemented as Temporary (Emergency) Service Changes, as defined in 

the Memorandum of Understanding agreed between the ICS and Gloucestershire’s Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC). Changes were implemented in 3 phases 

between April 2020 and January 2021. 

2.1 GHNHSFT  

A summary of the service changes is presented below: 
 

GHNHSFT Service change 
Date 

implemented 

CGH1 Emergency Department to Minor Injury & Illness 

Unit (MIIU) 8am to 8pm, 7-days a week 
June 2020 

Acute Medical Take to GRH2, including Respiratory high 

care3 
June 2020 

Neurology to CGH January 2021 

Urology emergency pathway to GRH June 2020 

 
1 CGH: Cheltenham General Hospital 
2 GRH: Gloucestershire Royal Hospital 
3 Given the clinical nature of COVID-19, this change evolved during the Pandemic with more acute 
respiratory care moving to GRH so that specialist respiratory skills were available 24/7 to support the 
centralised acute medical take and COVID admission pathways. 

Page 63



2 | P a g e  

 

GHNHSFT Service change 
Date 

implemented 

Aveta Birthing Centre to GRH January 2021 

Emergency General Surgery to GRH April 2020 

Vascular Surgery to GRH June 2020 

Acute Stroke & Rehabilitation Unit to CGH June 2020 

Medical Day Unit (MDU) to CGH December 2020 
 

2.2 GHCFT  

A summary of the service changes is presented below: 
 

GHC Service change 
Date 

implemented 

Dilke MIIU4 - Closed April 2020 

Vale MIIU – Closed April 2020 

Tewkesbury MIIU - Closed April 2020 

North Cotswold MIIU – reduced hours April 2020 

Lydney MIIU – reduced hours April 2020 

Cirencester MIIU – reduced hours April 2020 

Stroud MIIU – reduced hours April 2020 

Tewkesbury Theatre - Closed November 2020 

Vale Community Hospital – increase Stroke Beds  

(#16 to #20) 

June 2020 

 

3. Learning from Coronavirus (COVID-19) Temporary Changes 

Whilst the temporary changes were made as a result of the pandemic, there are a number of 

key principles that can be considered as part of resilience planning for any future waves, 

including: 

• To separate COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 pathways by site and by pathway to 

reduce risk of COVID-19 transmission to and between patients and staff. 

• To use our two hospital sites to achieve this by making CGH the focus for 

planned/elective operating, cancer care and non-COVID-19 diagnostic imaging and 

GRH as the ‘front door’ for acute emergency medical and emergency surgical 

pathways.  

• To centralise key points of entry including the Emergency Department, Acute Medical 

Take and Emergency General Surgery so we can better control flows into hospital 

and separate three key pathways: COVID-19 positive, suspected COVID-19 and 

non-COVID-19 patients. 

 
4 MIIU – Minor Illness and Injury Unit 

Page 64



3 | P a g e  

 

• To designate the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) at CGH as a non-COVID-19 unit - this is a 

key dependency for cancer and planned care. 

In some cases, the temporary changes relate to some of the same clinical services included 

in our Fit for the Future (FFTF) proposals (see separate FFTF paper).  

The unique circumstance of COVID required the NHS to make changes to service 

configurations (as detailed above) to separate COVID and non-COVID admissions 

pathways, maintain critical services and support operational capacity and resilience. These 

temporary changes have created an opportunity for rapid learning and trialling of service 

change that, in many cases, support improvements to patient outcomes and experience.  

Finally, whilst not related to the Temporary Service Changes, it should be noted that the ICS 

and partners have put in place a systematic and inclusive process to identify improvements 

that have been developed as a result of the pandemic (a.k.a. our “Silver Linings”), that 

includes an assessment of whether they should be retained. These include improvements to 

operational processes, ways of working and patient experience, staff health & wellbeing and 

communication. Whilst the details of these still require further work, examples include: 

• A significant increase in ‘virtual’ outpatient appointments eliminating the need for 

many patients to travel, particularly for follow-up appointments, creating space on our 

hospital sites and reducing the pressure on car parking. 

• Improved staff health, wellbeing and support, with the potential benefits in terms of 

sickness absence, retention and recruitment. 

• A shift to relatively high levels of home and remote working across a wide range of 

staff groups, departments and roles (clinical and non-clinical), with potential effects 

on staff wellbeing, reduced environmental impact and opportunities for more efficient 

use of our buildings and estate. 

 

  

Page 65



4 | P a g e  

 

4. Temporary Service Change Restoration Plan  

4.1 GHNHSFT 

In accordance with our commitment and desire to limit the use of Temporary Service 

Changes, we have completed the restoration of the significant majority of services including 

those with the largest impact on patients. In some cases, where temporary service changes 

aligned with FFTF Phase 1 approvals, these have been implemented5; see table below: 
 

Service change Proposed outcome Current status 

CGH Emergency Department Restore at CGH to pre-

Pandemic state 

Complete 

Acute Medical Take6 Restore at CGH to pre-

Pandemic state 

Complete 

Neurology  Restore at CGH to pre-

Pandemic state 

Complete 

Urology emergency pathway Restore to pre-

Pandemic state 

Complete 

Aveta Birthing Centre Restore at CGH to pre-

Pandemic state 

Complete 

Emergency General Surgery Retain at GRH- FFTF 

Phase 1 

Complete 

Vascular Surgery to GRH Retain at GRH – FFTF 

Phase 1 

Complete7 

 

In a small number of cases, taking account of our ongoing learning from COVID-19, the 

current status of the pandemic and continued existence of national COVID-19 regulations, 

we propose to retain the following Temporary Service Changes: 

1. Retention of high care respiratory at GRH (this formed part of the acute medical take 

change). 

2. Retention of Acute Stroke and Rehabilitation at CGH. 

3. Retention of Medical Day Unit at CGH 

 

Retention of High Care Respiratory at GRH  

In response to the COVID-19 Pandemic, acute medical patients requiring high-care 

respiratory treatment are managed by the specialist respiratory team in a dedicated High 

Care unit at GRH. The COVID high care unit was operational throughout the second surge 

and managed around 270 patients with acute respiratory failure during this period.  Patients 

received advanced respiratory support via non-invasive ventilation (NIV) or nasal high flow 

oxygen with full cardio-respiratory monitoring.  The unit was staffed by specialist respiratory 

 
5 Further details on the implementation of FFTF Phase 1 are contained in a separate FFTF Update 
paper  
6 Acute Medical Take to GRH has been approved as part of FFTF Phase 1 but is not due to be 
implemented until 2022/23. 
7 further implementation support required – see separate FFTF Update paper 

Page 66



5 | P a g e  

 

and intensive care nurses with protected nursing: patient ratios. At the peak of wave 2 the 

unit was admitting in excess of 5 patients per day for advanced respiratory support.  As a 

result, the number of patients needing to go to the critical care unit for non-invasive support 

fell from around 50% of all admissions to around 10% by the time wave 2 peaked in January 

21, illustrating that respiratory high care was successfully able to relieve pressure on critical 

care unit beds. 

The current phase of the pandemic means it is clear that the risk of further surges remains, 

especially in the context of circulating new variants.  The capability to re-establish capacity at 

GRH as COVID high care at short notice is therefore a key part of our COVID strategy over 

the next 12 months as we learn more about how the longer-term pattern of this disease in our 

communities will emerge.  Due to the specialist staffing, equipment and infection control 

measures already installed at GRH, there is no realistic alternative location for COVID high 

care in the short to medium term.  

Patients with other emergency respiratory symptoms will continue to be taken to Gloucester 

Emergency Department (ED) or Cheltenham ED by ambulance or as directed by their GP. 

Walk-in respiratory patients will also continue to be treated at both sites. 

Proposal – High Care Respiratory will remain at GRH as a Temporary Service Change for 

the remainder of the fiscal year (to March 2022) to enable us to maintain our ability to be 

responsive to further ‘waves’ of COVID-19 that may impact through the rest of this year.  

We propose to continue to work through the evidence to enable us to develop a longer-term 

proposal for Respiratory care in Gloucestershire and will provide an update on this work at 

the next meeting of the HOSC.  

 

Retention of Acute Stroke & Rehabilitation at CGH 

As part of our response to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the acute stroke ward was transferred 

to Woodmancote ward at CGH, with the hyper acute stroke unit (HASU) remaining at GRH.  

During this period, and subject to agreed clinical protocols, within 72 hours on HASU, 

patients were transferred to the acute stroke ward at CGH, to continue their treatment. In 

addition, the bed numbers at the community stroke rehabilitation centre at The Vale hospital 

increased from 14 to 20 beds, to reduce delays in patients waiting in GHNHSFT who were 

ready to step down to community-based specialist rehabilitation service, maximising their 

recovery and rehabilitation potential. 

Operating the stroke service in this configuration has highlighted a number staff and patient 

benefits including an improvement in the national metric used to assess the performance of 

stroke services; the Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) audit tool. In its 

pre-Pandemic configuration the stroke service was rated C (on a scale of A to E), but in its 

temporary configuration the service has thrice been rated B. Feedback from staff and 

patients is that Woodmancote is much better suited to support acute stroke care and 

rehabilitation than the previous Tower Block ward as it includes wide spaced bays that are 

open and light, bathroom facilities include overhead ceiling hoists, an environment that is 

designed to stimulate physical interaction and cognitive improvement.  

Whilst welcoming these improvements in performance and positive impact on patients, there 

remain a number of elements of the stroke pathway which need to be further evaluated and 

tested before we can determine if this temporary change can provide the benefits indicated 

by our experience to date over the long-term; these include the separation of HASU and 

acute stroke (from the GRH site), the sustainability of benefits resulting from stroke 

rehabilitation on our planned care site (CGH), the preferred staffing models for each element 

Page 67



6 | P a g e  

 

of the pathway based on patient acuity, the optimal number of beds within each stage of the 

pathway (including community rehabilitation beds) and the impact on beds that may result 

from concurrent proposals that are being developed to enhance our Early Supported 

Discharge service. 

Proposal – To retain Acute Stroke & Rehabilitation at Cheltenham General Hospital and the 

additional Stroke Rehabilitation beds at the Vale as a Temporary Service Change until 

March 2022  

We propose to continue to work through the evidence to enable us to develop a longer-term 

proposal for Stroke care in Gloucestershire and will provide an update on this work at the 

next meeting of the HOSC.  

 

Medical Day Unit move to CGH 

Medical Day Unit (MDU) is a Nurse led service that is open between 8am and 4pm Monday 

to Saturday and provides a range of planned ‘day case’ procedures (infusions, tests, 

biopsies and treatments) for medical and surgical patients. Historically, MDU has been 

provided at CGH and GRH with some procedures taking place on ward areas. Pre-

Pandemic MDU was located on the ground floor of Gallery Wing at in GRH. 

MDU moved to College Road at CGH as a COVID-19 temporary service change as this 

reduced the risk of nosocomial8 infection for this patient group, many of whom are 

immunosuppressed9. This move also enabled the Trust to carry out further service moves, 

(involving the Frailty Assessment Service and the Gloucestershire Priority Assessment Unit), 

which has made better use of the GRH site, supporting care delivery in the ED at GRH by 

improving patient flow (to the frailty assessment services and the priority assessment unit).  It 

also enabled the Trust to re-locate the Surgical Assessment Unit and the Gynaecology 

Assessment Unit from their previously ‘temporary’ location to co-locate these important 

assessment services adjacent to the GRH ED. 

The unique circumstance of COVID required the NHS to make changes to service 

configurations to separate COVID and non-COVID admissions pathways, maintain critical 

services and support operational capacity and resilience. These temporary changes, such as 

MDU, have created an opportunity for rapid learning and trialling of service change that 

support improvements to patient outcomes and experience and system efficiency and 

effectiveness and should be considered as the possible future-state. 

Proposal – Given the positive benefits already identified by locating the MDU at CGH, both 

for patients who need to access services at the MDU but also for patients accessing our ED 

services at GRH our intention is to:  

• Retain the Medical Day Unit at CGH as a Temporary Service Change to March 2022 (to 

minimise the disruption to patients and staff); whilst concurrently:  

• Undertaking a targeted engagement and consultation with affected patient groups 

regarding the proposal that the Medical Day Unit should be moved to CGH as a 

permanent service change  

MOU Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service variation for 

each of the services is provided in Annexes 1-3. 

 
8 an infection that is acquired in a hospital or other health care facility. 
9 a situation in which the body's immune system is intentionally stopped from working, or is made less 
effective, usually by drugs. 

Page 68



7 | P a g e  

 

4.2 GHCFT  

The restoration plans for GHC temporary changes are presented below:  
 

Service change Proposed outcome Current status 

Tewkesbury MIIU  Restore to pre-Pandemic 

state 

Complete 

North Cotswold  Restore to pre-Pandemic 

state 

Complete 

Tewkesbury Theatre Restore to pre-Pandemic 

state 

Complete 

Cirencester MIIU  Restore to pre-Pandemic 

state 

Reduced opening hours. 

Reinstate by end August 2021  

Lydney MIIU  Restore to pre-Pandemic 

state 

Reduced opening hours. 

Reinstate by end August 2021  

Vale MIIU  Restore to pre-Pandemic 

state 

Reduced opening hours. 

Reinstate by end August 2021 

subject to PCN Mass Vaccination 

site re-locating  

Stroud MIIU  Restore to pre-Pandemic 

state 

Reduced opening hours 

Anticipate closure mid-August to 

end December (refurbishment) 

then re-open 8am – 11pm 

Dilke MIIU  Retain – extension of 

temporary service change 

Remains temporarily closed 

Vale Community 

Hospital – Stroke 

Beds  

Retain – extension of 

temporary service change 

See details in section 4.1 

 

Dilke MIIU 

The rationale for the Dilke MIIU remaining temporarily closed is that it cannot re-open whilst 

restrictions and social distancing remains in place as waiting area is within the main hospital 

corridor.  

  

Page 69



8 | P a g e  

 

5. Conclusion 

In early 2020 the ICS and partners needed to respond quickly to the developing COVID-19 

pandemic, and we are grateful to the HOSC for their pragmatic support and challenge over 

the past 15 months. This paper confirms that the significant majority of COVID-19 

Temporary Service Changes will come to an end in August 2021, with the exception of the 

services listed below for which we are proposing the following: 

GHNHSFT 

1. High Care Respiratory – to remain at GRH. 

2. Acute Stroke and Rehabilitation - to remain at CGH. 

3. Medical Day Unit – to remain at CGH. 

GHCFT 

4. Dilke MIIU – to remain closed until all social distancing measures can be removed. 

5. Stroud MIIU – to reopen in pre-Pandemic state in December 2021 following 

refurbishment programme. 

 

Page 70



9 | P a g e  

 

Annex 1: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed 

service variation - Stroke Services 

Name of NHS Trust/ Name of NHS Commissioning Organisation 

 

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 
 

Lead Manager and contact details 

 

Tracey Hendry: General Manager – Medicine  

 

Details of the current service 

The specialist stroke pathway in Gloucestershire is delivered jointly by Gloucestershire 

Hospitals NHS FT (GHNHSFT) and Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS FT (GHCFT).   

The stroke service consists of medical, nursing, therapy and support staff and cares for 

patients of all ages that present with stroke and/ or Transient Ischaemic Attack (TIA).  

The GHNHSFT stroke service manages the largest number of stroke patients in the South 

West. It is a well-established service with well-developed links to the regional tertiary stroke 

centre at North Bristol Trust (NBT). 

Following a comprehensive review of the stroke pathway, as part of the business case for 

the development of a dedicated Community Stroke Rehabilitation Unit (which opened in 

March 2019), the Gloucestershire stroke pathway comprises the following: 

1. Hyper Acute Stroke Unit (HASU) 
2. Acute stroke ward (including acute rehabilitation) 
3. Community stroke rehabilitation unit 
4. Early Supported Discharge (ESD) service 

Suspected stroke and TIA patients access the service via the Emergency Department (ED), 

where patients suitable for revascularisation (i.e. thrombolysis and thrombectomy) are 

identified. After assessment on HASU, most patients move to the acute stroke ward. The 

table below shows the discharge destinations from the Acute Trust for the period Q1 

2019/20. 

 

Page 71



10 | P a g e  

 

The aim of the Community stroke rehabilitation unit (where specialist rehabilitation is 

provided in an inpatient community setting), is to support specialist stroke provision over 

the whole pathway, for patients, who do not need to remain in the acute hospital, resulting 

in increased therapy provision and leading to improved outcomes. This is aligned to the 

ambition of the Integrated Care System (ICS) for less reliance on acute and more on 

community.  

Patients can be discharged from either the acute stroke ward or the community 

rehabilitation unit to the Early Supported Discharge (ESD) service, a therapy led outreach 

community ‘step down’ service (provided by GHCFT). 

Pre-COVID-19, Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH) by GHNHSFT. The GHNHSFT 

stroke service also provides outpatient and TIA clinics. The community rehabilitation 

service is provided at the specialist community rehabilitation centre at The Vale 

community hospital (provided by GHCFT).  

The table below shows the number of stroke beds provided in Gloucestershire prior to the 

COVID-19 Pandemic: 

Hyper Acute Stroke 

Unit (HASU) - GRH 

Acute stroke - GRH Community stroke 

rehabilitation unit – 

The Vale 

Total beds 

15 36 14 65 

In June 2020, GHNHSFT implemented a number of temporary service changes as part of 

the ICS response to the COVID-19 Pandemic.   

The changes were implemented to reduce the number of emergency routes into hospital 

and to free-up additional capacity on the GRH site to create a ‘red’ emergency care 

COVID controlled site with patients managed through three emergency admission 

pathways: confirmed COVID, suspected COVID and confirmed non-COVID. This allowed 

CGH to be established as a ‘green’ planned care COVID controlled site to enable cancer 

and urgent planned care operations and diagnostic tests to continue. 

As part of these changes, the hyper acute stroke unit (HASU) remained at GRH but was 

moved to the ground floor to be closer to the ED and allocated 8 to 12 beds (to be flexed 

according to demand) on a shared ward with Cardiology.   

The acute stroke ward was transferred to Woodmancote ward at CGH, providing 32 beds.  

During this period, and subject to agreed clinical protocols, within 72 hours on HASU, 

patients are transferred to the acute stroke ward at CGH, to continue their treatment.  

In addition, the bed numbers at the community stroke rehabilitation centre at The Vale 

hospital increased from 14 to 20 beds, to reduce delays in patients waiting in GHNHSFT, 

who were ready to step down to community-based specialist rehabilitation service, 

maximising their recovery and rehabilitation potential. 

The table below shows the number of stroke beds provided in Gloucestershire once the 

temporary service changes were implemented: 

Hyper Acute Stroke 

Unit (HASU) - GRH 

Acute stroke ward- 

CGH 

Community stroke 

rehabilitation unit – 

The Vale 

Total beds 

8 (with the ability to 

flex to 12) 

32 20 60-64 

    

Page 72



11 | P a g e  

 

Details of the proposed change to service 

Operating the stroke service in this configuration has highlighted a number staff and 

patient benefits including an improvement in the national metric used to assess the 

performance of stroke services; the Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) 

audit tool. In its pre-Pandemic configuration the stroke service was rated C (on a scale of 

A to E), but in its temporary configuration the service has thrice been rated B. Feedback 

from staff and patients is that Woodmancote is much better suited to support acute stroke 

care and rehabilitation than the previous Tower Block ward as it includes wide spaced 

bays that are open and light, bathroom facilities include overhead ceiling hoists, an 

environment that is designed to stimulate physical interaction and cognitive improvement.  

Whilst welcoming these improvements in performance and positive impact on patients, 

there remain a number of elements of the stroke pathway which need to be further 

evaluated and tested before we can determine if this temporary change can provide the 

benefits indicated by our experience to date over the long-term; these include the 

separation of HASU and acute stroke (from the GRH site), the sustainability of benefits 

resulting from stroke rehabilitation on our planned care site (CGH), the preferred staffing 

models for each element of the pathway based on patient acuity, the optimal number of 

beds within each stage of the pathway (including community rehabilitation beds) and the 

impact on beds that may result from concurrent proposals that are being developed to 

enhance our Early Supported Discharge service. 

To enable the ICS to undertake the necessary work with our stroke clinicians, 

stakeholders and patients, our proposal to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(HOSC) is to retain Acute Stroke & Rehabilitation at Cheltenham General Hospital and the 

additional Stroke Rehabilitation beds at the Vale as a Temporary Service Change until 

March 2022. We propose to continue to work through the evidence to enable us to 

develop a longer-term proposal for Stroke care in Gloucestershire and will provide an 

update on this work at the next meeting of the HOSC. 

It is anticipated that this service model will continue to provide: 

• 7-day acute stroke review service remaining at GRH, plus an enhanced service at 
CGH for any patients who may have had a stroke. 

• Adjacent access to the ED from HASU, improving the ability for the stroke team 
(including therapy staff) to provide timely support to ED, to assess patients and 
begin treatments and to transfer patients from the ED to HASU, making more 
efficient use of the HASU beds. 

• The acute stroke service will remain on a purpose-built, stroke rehabilitation ward 
(Woodmancote) that caters to the needs of stroke patients, including wide spaced 
bays, that are open and light.  The bathroom facilities include overhead ceiling 
hoists that allow staff to more easily meet the personal hygiene needs of each 
patient.  The ward environment includes art-work and tactile discs, that are 
designed to stimulate physical interaction and cognitive improvement throughout 
the ward, that adds an additional softer environment benefit.   

• Assurance that, should there be any future wave of COVID-19, the acute stroke 
service can be delivered from the planned COVID controlled site.  

The benefit of moving patients from a HASU to a physically separate acute stroke and 

rehabilitation ward is that the patient can see their progression of recovery after their 

stroke, thereby supporting the psychological, as well as physical, elements of the 

treatment offered. Patients are then discharged home (with minimal support), discharged 

home with Early Supported Discharge, or referred to The Vale rehabilitation unit. 

Page 73



12 | P a g e  

 

Timescales involved 

To enable the ICS to undertake the necessary work with our stroke clinicians, 

stakeholders and patients, our proposal to HOSC is to retain Acute Stroke & Rehabilitation 

at Cheltenham General Hospital and the additional Stroke Rehabilitation beds at the Vale 

as a Temporary Service Change until March 2022. We propose to continue to work 

through the evidence to enable us to develop a longer-term proposal for Stroke care in 

Gloucestershire and will provide an update on this work at the next meeting of the HOSC 

What is the reason for the proposed service change? 

During this temporary service change, there has been an overall improvement in 

performance against national performance metrics for stroke services.  The Sentinel 

Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) audit tool is used by stroke services to 

measure performance. This tool provides an overall service rating, which ranges from A to 

E.  Prior to COVID the GHFT service had a rating of C. During COVID this rating improved 

to B, which is the highest rating recorded by the service. The Community Stroke 

Rehabilitation Service has also maintained an A rating during this period.   

Also, as stated in the proposed service model, there are a number of benefits that patients 

are already experiencing as a result of being based in the Woodmancote ward 

environment.  

Whilst welcoming these improvements in performance and positive impact on patients, 

there remain a number of elements of the stroke pathway which need to be further 

evaluated and tested before we can determine if this temporary change can provide the 

benefits indicated by our experience to date over the long-term; these include the 

separation of HASU and acute stroke (from the GRH site), the sustainability of benefits 

resulting from stroke rehabilitation on our planned care site (CGH), the preferred staffing 

models for each element of the pathway based on patient acuity, the optimal number of 

beds within each stage of the pathway (including community rehabilitation beds) and the 

impact on beds that may result from concurrent proposals that are being developed to 

enhance our Early Supported Discharge service. 

Has any consultation or engagement/ involvement taken place to date? 

The original temporary changes were made ‘at pace’ in response to the rapidly evolving 
level 4 incident associated with the COVID pandemic, and as such there was not sufficient 
time for public engagement to be conducted at the point of instigation of these temporary 
(emergency) changes. This is in line with accepted practice when change is required as an 
‘emergency’ response to a major incident. 

We propose to continue to work through the evidence to enable us to develop a longer-term 
proposal for Stroke care in Gloucestershire and this will include engagement with patients 
and stakeholders. 

Expected impact of change and what is being done to address this 

Changes in 

accessibility 

 

(i.e. transport 

issues/ 

opening 

hours etc) 

The temporary re-location of acute stroke from GRH to CGH has impacted 

some patient and carer travel times; either positively (for patients in the 

east of the county) or negatively (for patients in the west). 

Initial analysis has shown the there is a relatively even distribution of 

patients admitted to the GHNHSFT stroke service from the east and the 

west of the county.  

Page 74



13 | P a g e  

 

Full travel analysis will be completed as part of the work-up of long-term 

options and will be presented to HOSC at the next scheduled meeting. 

The COVID-19 temporary move has been in place for 10 months and 

during this period there have been no complaints or concerns raised 

regarding access to the services at CGH (on Woodmancote). 

As previously stated, the temporary change excludes any changes to the 

access (pathway) for hyper-acute stoke patients as they will all continue 

to be admitted to the Emergency Department at GRH and then move to 

the Hyper Acute Stroke unit in the first instance. This pathway has been 

in place for some years.  

By increasing the specialist stroke rehabilitation service by six beds 

those patients who have had a stroke across the county have a greater 

access to the required specialist care. However, we have a 

consequential decrease in the general rehabilitation offer within the 

Berkeley Vale locality.  This will be met by the services provided at the 

Stroud Hospital and from the wider county beds.  

Patients will continue to be prioritised based on clinical need and we will 

endeavour to ensure that patients are cared for as close to home as is 

possible 

 

Patients/ 

carers 

affected 

 

(demographic 

assumptions 

that have 

been made) 

A full Integrated Impact Assessment would be developed if this 

temporary change is to be considered in the long-term. 

Previous impact assessment has identified the following that would need 

to be considered: 

Age 

The age of an individual combined with additional factors including other 

‘protected characteristics’ may affect their health and social care needs. 

Individuals may also experience discrimination and inequalities because 

of their age. 

Analysis of previous stroke patients has identified that 60% are >75 

years, 20% are 65-74 years and 20% 18-64 years. 

Gender 

There is no conclusive evidence to suggest that access to and 

experience of acute hospital care differs solely on the basis of a person's 

gender. Analysis of previous stroke patients has identified that 53% are 

male and 47% female. 

Race / Ethnicity 

Studies of secondary care usage have found that ethnicity is a significant 

predictor of acute hospital admission.  

The district with the highest proportion of ethnic diversity is Gloucester 

city meaning that a geographical distribution of services away from GRH 

might have a greater impact on these communities.  

Disability 

Forest of Dean is the only district locally that exceeds the national 

average in terms of the proportion of residents living with a disability.  

People with disabilities may have an increased risk of developing 

secondary conditions that are more likely to result in the need for acute 

Page 75



14 | P a g e  

 

care.  This geographical clustering means that geographical changes to 

where services are delivered may have a disproportionate impact on 

those with disabilities in terms of access.  A travel impact assessment 

will be needed to fully assess this impact. 

Providing services from a calmer site, with a shorter overall length of 

stay, may well benefit those with disabilities as they may be more 

affected by such factors than the general population.    

 

Changes in 

methods of 

delivery  

 

(venue / 

practitioner) 

Emergency patient pathways will continue unchanged as the stroke 

pathway begins in Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH) site by 

admission to the Hyper Acute Stroke unit either via: 

a) Emergency Department presentation 
b) Outpatients via attendance at a TIA clinic 
c) From an inpatient ward where a patient has suffered a stroke that 

was not predicted and therefore the patient is not already under 
active stroke inpatient treatment. 

Care will be delivered through the stroke specialist Consultant medical 

and nursing team on a rotation basis through GRH and CGH. 

Consultants are rostered for a week at a time to complete inpatient ward 

cover and this has been in place for the duration of the temporary 

service change without issue.  

The following essential support services have adjusted work patterns to 

provide a split site cover, ensuring no service disruption as a result of the 

temporary service move: 

• Physical Therapy 

• Cognitive Therapy 

• Psychological Support 

• Dietitian 

• Speech & Language Therapy  

 

Impact upon 

other 

service 

delivery 

 

Whilst the temporary service change remains in place, support services, 

such as those noted above, will continue to adjust work patterns in order 

to facilitate patient level support over Cheltenham and Gloucester sites.  

Other services such as health records, portering, catering and pharmacy 

would not be affected as these are all currently provided across both 

Cheltenham and Gloucester sites. 

There are a number of patients who would have been able to receive 

general rehabilitation within the beds at the Vale as a result of this 

change who will now receive their care in the nearest available unit.  

Experience will be monitored using the FFT 

Wider 

implications 

It is not envisaged that there will be any negative implications on the 

wider community or health economy whilst the temporary service change 

remains in place.  

 

 

Equality/ 

Inequality 

issues 

A full Integrated Impact Assessment would be developed if this 

temporary change is to be considered in the long-term. 

Previous impact assessment has identified the following that would need 

to be considered: 

Page 76



15 | P a g e  

 

 Deprivation 

Gloucester city has the highest proportion of its population living in the 
most deprived areas 

Homelessness 

On average 2.37 per 1000 households are homeless in Gloucestershire 
with highest levels in Cheltenham and Gloucester city. 

Substance Misuse 

The age standardised hospital admissions due to substance misuse in 
Gloucestershire is among the lowest in the South West region at 38 per 
100,000 persons; lower than both regional and national rates; however 
mortality rates suggest that the district of Gloucester City has the highest 
rates of deaths due to substance misuse, significantly higher than county 
and national averages.  

Mental Health 

The prevalence of mental health disease within the GP practice 
registered population within Gloucestershire is among the lowest in the 
South West region at 0.8%; significantly lower than both regional and 
national averages  

GHFT admission data demonstrates that more people attend GRH than 

CGH with mental health related issues.  

The specialist stroke rehabilitation service at the Vale is a county wide 

service and is open to the whole population based on clinical need. 

The remaining community hospitals will all continue to offer general 

rehabilitation for all residents across the county 

Name of 

person 

completing 

this pro-

forma 

 

Tracey Hendry (General Manager – Care of the Elderly, Neurology, 

Stroke) 

and 

Joseph Mills (Deputy Divisional Director, Medical Division) 

Clare Stephenson – Strategy and Transformation Programme Manager 

Date 

proforma 

completed 

 

01/07/21 

Outcome  

(HOSC 

Comments) 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 77



16 | P a g e  

 

Annex 2: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed 

service variation: Respiratory Services 

Name of NHS Trust/ Name of NHS Commissioning Organisation 

 

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
 

Lead Manager and contact details 

 

Joe Mills (Deputy Divisional Director, Medical Division) 
 

Details of the current service 

Respiratory Services provide a patient centred service for all ages of patients, presenting 

with respiratory related issues. Specifically, the team specialise in the treatment of problems 

in regard to the upper airway, the lungs, the chest wall and the ventilatory control system.  

The team consists of medical, nursing, therapy and support staff.  

Prior to COVID respiratory inpatient beds were provided on both sites.   

• Cheltenham General Hospital (CGH) – Knightsbridge Ward (12 beds) and Avening 
Ward (21 beds) 

• Gloucester Royal Hospital (GRH) – Ward 8b (33 beds).   

The Fit for the Future activity baseline (Feb 19 to Jan 20) showed total admissions as 3628 

with the majority (2003) being admitted to GRH. 

The Consultant led Outpatient Clinics/Services are provided at both acute hospital sites plus 

seven locations in the community. These services are used for general respiratory conditions 

and also suspected cancer and sleep disorders.  As part of the investigation patients may be 

referred for further screening. This could be arranged for the same day or as a separate 

appointment for another service for example an X-Ray, a CT scan, a blood test, lung 

function tests, a sleep study, an allergy skin prick test or a bronchoscopy, all of which will be 

undertaken as an Outpatients appointment.  

In June 2020, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT) implemented a 

number of temporary service changes as part of the Integrated Care System (ICS) response 

to the COVID-19 Pandemic.  The changes were implemented to reduce the number of 

emergency routes into hospital and to free-up additional capacity on the GRH site to create a 

‘red’ emergency care COVID controlled site with patients managed through three emergency 

admission pathways: confirmed COVID, suspected COVID and confirmed non-COVID. This 

allowed CGH to be established as a ‘green’ planned care COVID controlled site to enable 

cancer and urgent planned care operations and diagnostic tests to continue. 

In response to the COVID-19 Pandemic, acute medical patients requiring high-care 

respiratory treatment are managed by the specialist respiratory team in a dedicated High 

Care unit at GRH. The COVID high care unit was operational throughout the second surge 

and managed around 270 patients with acute respiratory failure during this period.  Patients 

received advanced respiratory support via non-invasive ventilation (NIV) or nasal high flow 

oxygen with full cardio-respiratory monitoring.  The unit was staffed by specialist respiratory 

and intensive care nurses with protected nursing: patient ratios. At the peak of wave 2 the 

unit was admitting in excess of 5 patients per day for advanced respiratory support.  As a 

Page 78

https://www.gloshospitals.nhs.uk/our-services/services-we-offer/respiratory-medicine/lung-function/
https://www.gloshospitals.nhs.uk/our-services/services-we-offer/respiratory-medicine/lung-function/
https://www.gloshospitals.nhs.uk/our-services/services-we-offer/respiratory-medicine/sleep-service/


17 | P a g e  

 

result, the number of patients needing to go to the critical care unit for non-invasive support 

fell from around 50% of all admissions to around 10% by the time wave 2 peaked in January 

21, illustrating that respiratory high care was successfully able to relieve pressure on critical 

care unit beds.   

Details of the proposed change to service 

Our proposal to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) is that High Care 

Respiratory will remain at GRH as a Temporary Service Change for the remainder of the fiscal 

year (to March 2022) to enable us to maintain our ability to be responsive to further ‘waves’ of 

COVID-19 that may impact through the rest of this year. We propose to continue to work 

through the evidence to enable us to develop a longer-term proposal for Respiratory care in 

Gloucestershire and will provide an update on this work at the next meeting of the HOSC. 

National guidelines recommend that advanced respiratory support and complex respiratory 

care are delivered within dedicated respiratory support units and only a minority of trusts in 

the UK do not provide a designated area for NIV.  This proposal will enable us to continue to 

deliver this important service for respiratory patients across the county. 

The current phase of the pandemic means it is clear that a significant risk of further surges 

remains, especially in the context of circulating new variants.  The capability to re-establish 

capacity at GRH as COVID high care at short notice is therefore a key part of our COVID 

strategy over the next 12 months. Due to the specialist staffing, equipment and infection 

control measures already installed at GRH, there is no realistic alternative location for COVID 

high care in the short to medium term.  

Patients with other emergency respiratory symptoms will continue to be taken to GRH 

Emergency Department (ED) or CGH ED by ambulance or as directed by their GP. Walk-in 

respiratory patients will also continue to be treated at both sites 

There will be no change in the delivery of outpatient services.  

 

Timescales involved 

Our proposal to HOSC is that High Care Respiratory will remain at GRH as a Temporary 

Service Change for the remainder of the fiscal year (to March 2022) to enable us to maintain 

our ability to be responsive to further ‘waves’ of COVID-19 that may impact through the rest 

of this year. We propose to continue to work through the evidence to enable us to develop a 

longer-term proposal for Respiratory care in Gloucestershire and will provide an update on 

this work at the next meeting of the HOSC. 

What is the reason for the proposed service change? 

The current phase of the pandemic means it is clear that a significant risk of further surges 

remains, especially in the context of circulating new variants.  The capability to re-establish 

capacity at GRH as COVID high care at short notice is therefore a key part of our COVID 

strategy over the next 12 months.  Due to the specialist staffing, equipment and infection 

control measures already installed at GRH, there is no realistic alternative location for COVID 

high care in the short to medium term.  

National guidelines recommend that advanced respiratory support and complex respiratory 

care are delivered within dedicated respiratory support units and only a minority of trusts in 

the UK do not provide a designated area for NIV.  This proposal will enable us to continue to 

deliver this important service for respiratory patients across the county. 

 

Page 79



18 | P a g e  

 

The main drivers for this change are:  

1. Whilst the risk of COVID remains to maintain the ability to re-establish at short notice 
a COVID high care in GRH 

2. The need to develop a dedicated respiratory high care area, using the learning and 
equipment established during COVID, which will benefit respiratory patients in the 
future, in accordance with nationally recommended guidelines.  

This service model will enable the following: 

• If another COVID surge is expected, the service, at short notice will be able to establish 
a COVID controlled respiratory ward and areas at GRH.  

• Assurance that patients with COVID symptoms will be taken straight to GRH via South 
West Ambulance Service (SWASFT).  

• Enable patients from across the county who require advanced respiratory support or 
complex respiratory care to benefit from management within an enhanced respiratory 
high care unit 

• Improve ability to sustainably resource a high care respiratory unit at GRH, improving 
patient outcomes and reducing mortality. 

• Maintain a respiratory emergency admission pathway at CGH.  

 

Has any consultation or engagement/ involvement taken place to date? 

The original temporary changes were made ‘at pace’ in response to the rapidly evolving level 
4 incident associated with the COVID pandemic, and as such there was not sufficient time for 
public engagement to be conducted at the point of instigation of these temporary (emergency) 
changes. This is in line with accepted practice when change is required as an ‘emergency’ 
response to a major incident. 

We propose to continue to work through the evidence to enable us to develop a longer-term 
proposal for respiratory care in Gloucestershire and this will include engagement with 
patients and stakeholders. 

 

Expected impact of change and what is being done to address this 

 

Changes in 

accessibility 

 

(i.e. transport 

issues/ 

opening 

hours etc) 

Patients with COVID, symptoms of COVID, at risk of needing respiratory high 

care or complex respiratory care will continue to be taken by ambulance 

direct to the Emergency Department at GRH, in accordance with an agreed 

protocol with SWASFT.  

Patients with other emergency respiratory symptoms will continue to be 

taken to GRH Emergency Department (ED) or CGH ED by ambulance or 

as directed by their GP. Walk-in respiratory patients will also continue to be 

treated at both sites 

The establishment of a High-Care Unit at GRH has impacted some patient 

and carer travel times. Initial analysis has shown the there is a relatively even 

distribution of patients admitted to the Respiratory service from the east and 

the west of the county.  

Full travel analysis will be completed as part of the work-up of long-term 

options and will be presented to HOSC at the next scheduled meeting. 

 

 

Page 80



19 | P a g e  

 

Patients/ 

carers 

affected 

 

(demographic 

assumptions 

that have 

been made) 

A full Integrated Impact Assessment would be developed if this temporary 

change is to be considered in the long-term. 

Previous impact assessment has identified the following that will need to be 

considered: 

Race / Ethnicity 

Studies of secondary care usage have found that ethnicity is a significant 

predictor of acute hospital admission.  

The district with the highest proportion of ethnic diversity is Gloucester city 

meaning that a geographical distribution of services to GRH might have a 

greater impact on these communities.  

 

Gender 

There is no conclusive evidence to suggest that access to and experience 

of acute hospital care differs solely on the basis of a person's gender. Our 

records show that 47.8% of respiratory patients are female and 52.2% are 

male. 

Disability 

Forest of Dean is the only district locally that exceeds the national average 

in terms of the proportion of residents living with a disability.  People with 

disabilities may have an increased risk of developing secondary conditions 

that are more likely to result in the need for acute care.  This geographical 

clustering means that geographical changes to where services are 

delivered may have a disproportionate impact on those with disabilities in 

terms of access.  A travel impact assessment will be needed to fully assess 

this impact. 

 

Changes in 

methods of 

delivery  

 

(venue / 

practitioner) 

Patients with COVID, symptoms of COVID, at risk of needing respiratory high 

care or complex respiratory care will continue to be taken by ambulance 

direct to the Emergency Department at GRH, in accordance with an agreed 

protocol with SWASFT.  

Patients with other emergency respiratory symptoms will continue to be 

taken to GRH Emergency Department (ED) or CGH ED by ambulance or 

as directed by their GP. Walk-in respiratory patients will also continue to be 

treated at both sites 

Impact upon 

other 

service 

delivery 

Services such as health records, portering, catering and pharmacy would 

not be affected as these are all currently provided across both Cheltenham 

and Gloucester sites.    

Wider 

implications 

It is not envisaged that there will be any negative implications on the wider 

community or health economy whilst the temporary service change 

remains in place. 

 

Equality/ 

Inequality 

issues 

A full Integrated Impact Assessment would be developed if this temporary 

change is to be considered in the long-term. 

Previous impact assessment has identified the following that would need to 

be considered: 

Page 81



20 | P a g e  

 

 Deprivation 

Gloucester city has the highest proportion of its population living in the 
most deprived areas 

Homelessness 

On average 2.37 per 1000 households are homeless in Gloucestershire 
with highest levels in Cheltenham and Gloucester city. 

Substance Misuse 

The age standardised hospital admissions due to substance misuse in 
Gloucestershire is among the lowest in the South West region at 38 per 
100,000 persons; lower than both regional and national rates; however 
mortality rates suggest that the district of Gloucester City has the highest 
rates of deaths due to substance misuse, significantly higher than county 
and national averages.  

Mental Health 

The prevalence of mental health disease within the GP practice registered 
population within Gloucestershire is among the lowest in the South West 
region at 0.8%; significantly lower than both regional and national averages  

GHFT admission data demonstrates that more people attend GRH than 

CGH with mental health related issues.  

 

Name of 

person 

completing 

this pro-

forma 

 

 

Joe Mills Deputy Divisional Director, Medical Division 

Dr Henry Steer – Clinical Lead Respiratory Consultant 

Clare Stephenson – Strategy and Transformation Programme Manager 

Date 

proforma 

completed 

01/07/21 

Outcome  

(HOSC 

Comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 82



21 | P a g e  

 

Annex 3: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed 

service variation: Medical Day Unit 

Name of NHS Trust/ Name of NHS Commissioning Organisation 

 

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

 

Lead Manager and contact details 

Medical Day Unit  

Laura Greenway - Matron  

lauragreenway@nhs.net  

Tes Davies - MDU Senior Sister   

tes.davies@nhs.net  
 

Details of the current service 

The Medical Day Unit (MDU) provides multiple outpatient services for patients in 

Gloucestershire.  The MDU is a Nurse led service which is open between 8am and 4pm 

Monday to Saturday.  The services provided by the MDU include: 

• IV drip (intravenous infusion) treatments for patients with stomach, kidney, 
neurology, rheumatology, breathing or skin conditions. (for the majority of IV 
infusions patients attend monthly)  

• Tests for pre-surgery iron infusions 

• Tests for hormone production conditions (endocrinology) 

• Blood or iron transfusions 

• Recovery for renal and liver biopsies 

• An ultrasound probe to check for heart conditions (transoesophageal 
echocardiogram)  

• Liver biopsy 

• Fluid drained from the abdomen (paracentesis drains).   

The MDU provides support for patients across a number of specialties.  The table below 

shows the number of patients, categorised by attendance frequency and proportion (%).   
 

 
 

The top five referring specialties are gastroenterology, neurology, rheumatology, 

hepatology and general medicine.  These specialties make up 85% of the MDU activity. A 

table of the full breakdown MDU procedures by specialty between Feb 2019 and Jan 2020 

is presented on Page 26.  

Page 83

mailto:lauragreenway@nhs.net
mailto:tes.davies@nhs.net


22 | P a g e  

 

The MDU service has previously been provided at both Cheltenham General Hospital 

(CGH) and Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH), with some activity originally taking 

place in ward areas and later these services were merged and located on the ground floor 

of the Gallery Wing at in GRH. 

In June 2020, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT) implemented 

a number of temporary service changes as part of the Integrated Care System (ICS) 

response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. The changes were implemented to reduce the 

number of emergency routes into hospital and to free-up additional capacity on the GRH 

site to create a ‘red’ emergency care COVID controlled site with patients managed 

through three emergency admission pathways: confirmed COVID, suspected COVID and 

confirmed non-COVID. This allowed CGH to be established as a ‘green’ planned care 

COVID controlled site to enable cancer and urgent planned care operations and 

diagnostic tests to continue. 

As part of our COVID response GHNHSFT has moved same day emergency 

care/assessment units out of inpatient ward areas to reduce the risk of cross infection and 

undertaken a full review of bed numbers and locations on wards from an infection control 

guidance and improving patient experience perspective. 

MDU moved to College Road at CGH as a COVID-19 temporary service change as this 

reduced the risk of nosocomial infection for this patient group, many of whom are 

immunosuppressed. This move also enabled the Trust to carry out further service moves, 

involving the Frailty Assessment Service (FAS) and the Gloucestershire Priority 

Assessment Unit (GPAU), which has made better use of the GRH site, supporting care 

delivery in the Emergency Department (ED) at GRH by improving patient flow (to the 

frailty assessment services and the priority assessment unit).  It will also enable the Trust 

to re-locate the Surgical Assessment Unit and the Gynaecology Assessment Unit from 

their previously ‘temporary’ location to co-locate these important assessment services 

adjacent to the GRH ED. 
 

 
 

Details of the proposed change to service 

Given the positive benefits already identified by locating the MDU at CGH, both for 

patients who need to access services at the MDU but also for patients accessing our ED 

services at GRH our intention is to:  

From:
GRH Gallery Wing

To CGH College Road  

Medical Day Unit

Providing planned 
medical procedures

From: GRH Acute 
Medical Unit

To GRH Gallery Wing

Frailty Assessment 
Service (FAS)

Team assessing the 
needs of patients who 

are frail – referrals from 
GP, SWAST and ED

From: GRH ED

To GRH AMU

Gloucestershire Priority 
Assessment Unit

Urgent assessment of 
acute medical needs of 

patients – referrals 
from GPs and SWAST 

,avoiding ED 

Page 84



23 | P a g e  

 

• Retain the Medical Day Unit at CGH as a Temporary Service Change to March 2022 
(to minimise the disruption to patients and staff); whilst concurrently:  

• Undertaking targeted engagement and consultation with affected patient groups 
regarding the proposal that the Medical Day Unit should be moved to CGH as a 
permanent service change  

The full range of procedures will be provided at CGH, with the exception of a small 

number of procedures, involving liver and renal biopsies. According to data between 

February 2019 and January 2020, there were 85 of these procedures which is approx. 1 

% of total procedure activity.   

In addition, Transoesophageal Echo (TOE) procedures will also only be provided at GRH, 

these procedures accounted for less than 1% of total procedures performed by MDU 

between February 2019 and January 2020.  

 

Timescales involved 

Given the positive benefits already identified by locating the MDU at CGH, both for 

patients who need to access services at the MDU but also for patients accessing our ED 

services at GRH our intention is to:  

• Retain the Medical Day Unit at CGH as a Temporary Service Change to March 2022 

(to minimise the disruption to patients and staff); whilst concurrently:  

• Undertaking targeted engagement and consultation with affected patient groups 

regarding the proposal that the Medical Day Unit should be moved to CGH as a 

permanent service change  

 

What is the reason for the proposed service change? 

Retaining the MDU at CGH will enable the FAS and GPAU to remain in their current 

locations and sustain the ED improvements. It will also enable the Trust to re-locate the 

Surgical Assessment Unit and the Gynaecology Assessment Unit from their temporary 

location in Medical Outpatients to a space adjacent to the ED. 

The long-term plan is to develop CGH as a centre of excellence for planned care.  

Locating the MDU at CGH would therefore also be consistent with the Trust’s strategic 

direction for this site. As a result, the ICS is requesting an extension to the temporary 

changes to provide an opportunity to engage and consult with the public around the 

current proposal.  

 

Has any consultation or engagement/ involvement taken place to date? 

The original temporary changes were made ‘at pace’ in response to the rapidly evolving 
level 4 incident associated with the COVID pandemic, and as such there was not sufficient 
time for public engagement to be conducted at the point of instigation of these temporary 
(emergency) changes. This is in line with accepted practice when change is required as an 
‘emergency’ response to a major incident. 

We will now undertake targeted engagement and consultation with affected patient groups 

regarding the proposal that the Medical Day Unit should be moved to CGH as a 

permanent service change 

 

Page 85



24 | P a g e  

 

Expected impact of change and what is being done to address this 

 

Changes in 

accessibility 

 

(i.e. transport 

issues/ 

opening hours 

etc) 

The service move will impact patient and carer travel times; either 

positively (for patients in the east of the county) or negatively (for patients 

in the west).  

Initial analysis has shown the there is a relatively even distribution of 

patients accessing the MDU from the east and the west of the county.  

The MDU provides day services only, therefore carer impact would relate 

to escorting patients to the MDU in the daytime only. 

Full travel analysis will be completed as part of the formal process and 

considered as part of the evaluation. 

Patients/ 

carers 

affected 

 

(demographic 

assumptions 

that have been 

made) 

Race / Ethnicity 

Studies of secondary care usage have found that ethnicity is a significant 

predictor of acute hospital admission.  

The district with the highest proportion of ethnic diversity is Gloucester 

city meaning that a geographical distribution of services away from GRH 

might have a greater impact on these communities.  

There is limited data on race and ethnicity of MDU patients.  

Gender 

There is no conclusive evidence to suggest that access to and 

experience of acute hospital care differs solely on the basis of a person's 

gender. Analysis of previous data shows that 58.8% were female and 

41.2% were male.  

Disability 

Forest of Dean is the only district locally that exceeds the national 

average in terms of the proportion of residents living with a disability.  

People with disabilities may have an increased risk of developing 

secondary conditions that are more likely to result in the need for acute 

care.  This geographical clustering means that geographical changes to 

where services are delivered may have a disproportionate impact on 

those with disabilities in terms of access.  There is currently no data 

captured for MDU to determine the number of patients who may 

experience disability.  

Age  

The age of an individual combined with additional factors including other 

‘protected characteristics’ may affect their health and social care needs. 

Individuals may also experience discrimination and inequalities because 

of their age. 

Analysis of previous MDU patients shows 55% are aged between 18-64, 

20% are aged between 65-74, 18% are aged 75-84, 6% are aged 85+ 

and less than 1% are aged 0-17. 

Religion 

Analysis of previous MDU patients shows that 48.7% identified 

themselves as Christian, 42.6% identified themselves as having ‘no 

religion’ and 7.5% identified recorded that they belonged to “other 

Page 86



25 | P a g e  

 

religion”, this did not include Buddhist, Christian, Hindu, Muslim, Sikh or 

Jewish. 

The retention of the MDU at CGH is unlikely to have a significant 
negative or positive impact upon peoples of faith. Both CGH and GRH 
have a team of Chaplains who provide spiritual and pastoral care and 
support for all faiths to help people find strength comfort and meaning at 
what can be a very difficult time in their lives. 

Changes in 
methods of 
delivery  

See changes in accessibility.   

Impact upon 
other service 
delivery 

There are no known impacts upon other service delivery.  

Wider 
implications 

It is not anticipated that there will be wider implications from this move. 

Equality/ 

Inequality 

issues 

 

A full integrated impact assessment will be carried out as part of 
developing the pilot. Previous impact assessment has identified the 
following that will need to be considered: 

Deprivation 

Gloucester city has the highest proportion of its population living in the 
most deprived areas 

Homelessness 

On average 2.37 per 1000 households are homeless in Gloucestershire 
with highest levels in Cheltenham and Gloucester city. 

Substance Misuse 

The age standardised hospital admissions due to substance misuse in 
Gloucestershire is among the lowest in the South West region at 38 per 
100,000 persons; lower than both regional and national rates; however 
mortality rates suggest that the district of Gloucester City has the highest 
rates of deaths due to substance misuse, significantly higher than county 
and national averages.  

Mental Health 

The prevalence of mental health disease within the GP practice 
registered population within Gloucestershire is among the lowest in the 
South West region at 0.8%; significantly lower than both regional and 
national averages  

GHNHSFT admission data demonstrates that more people attend GRH 
than CGH with mental health related issues.  

Name of 
person 
completing 
this pro-
forma 

Laura Greenwood,  
Tes Davies,  
Hannah Reed  
Clare Stephenson 

Date 
proforma 
completed 

01/07/21 

Outcome  
(HOSC 
Comments) 

 

 

Page 87



26 | P a g e  

 

MDU procedures by specialty between Feb 2019 and Jan 2020 

 

 

 

Proc Desc C
ar

d
io

lo
gy

C
o

lo
re

ct
al

 s
u

rg
e

ry

D
e

rm
at

o
lo

gy

En
d

o
cr

in
o

lo
gy

G
as

tr
o

e
n

te
ro

lo
gy

G
e

n
e

ra
l m

e
d

ic
in

e

G
e

n
e

ra
l s

u
rg

e
ry

G
e

ri
at

ri
c 

m
e

d
ic

in
e

G
yn

ae
co

lo
gy

H
e

p
at

o
lo

gy

In
te

rv
e

n
ti

o
n

al
 r

ad
io

lo
gy

M
e

d
ic

al
 o

n
co

lo
gy

N
e

p
h

ro
lo

gy

N
e

u
ro

lo
gy

P
al

lia
ti

ve
 m

e
d

ic
in

e

R
e

sp
ir

at
o

ry
 m

e
d

ic
in

e

R
h

e
u

m
at

o
lo

gy

Tr
au

m
a 

an
d

 O
rt

h
o

p
ae

d
ic

s

U
p

p
e

r 
ga

st
ro

in
te

st
in

al
 s

u
rg

e
ry

U
ro

lo
gy

V
as

cu
la

r 
su

rg
e

ry

O
th

er
 s

p
ec

ia
lt

ie
s 

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

Cytokine inhibitor drugs Band 1 0 0 110 0 1409 26 0 0 0 0 0 1 38 12 1 3 576 0 0 1 0 2177

Infusion of therapeutic substance 16 44 47 10 593 273 55 50 19 14 5 5 83 78 2 37 108 212 16 36 2 1723

Immunomodulating drugs Band 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 680 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 682

Monoclonal antibodies Band 1 0 0 0 0 663 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 664

Drainage of ascites NEC (Disabled) 0 0 0 0 70 1 0 0 1 491 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 563

Blood Sampling 0 0 10 2 231 13 0 0 0 70 0 2 0 17 1 1 48 0 0 0 0 396

Intravenous Immunoglobulins 0 0 0 0 2 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 182 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 189

Red Cell Transfusion 1 3 0 1 20 48 2 2 0 12 0 4 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 97

Short synacthen test 5 0 0 54 3 12 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 86

Transoesophageal echocardiography 61 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 63

Approach to organ under ultrasonic control 0 0 0 0 25 1 0 0 0 19 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48

Percutaneous biopsy of lesion of liver NEC 

(Disabled)
0 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 37

Antifungal drugs Band 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 18

Glucose tolerance test 0 0 0 9 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15

Paracentesis abdominis for ascites 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13

Unspecified intramuscular injection 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12

Left sided operation 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 10

Haemodialysis NEC (Disabled) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9

Transthoracic echocardiography 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 8

Immune response drugs Band 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Right sided operation 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 7

Other specified injection of therapeutic substance 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6

Percutaneous transluminal peripheral insertion of 

central catheter
0 0 0 1 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

Other procedures less than 5 per year 73

Grand Total 88 47 168 86 3084 393 59 70 20 638 5 12 149 990 6 60 734 214 16 37 16 21 6913

P
age 88



Briefing paper on Fit for the Future  

Update to Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

Document Control 

Responsible 
Director:  

Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign  

Status: V 2.1  

 

Document Distribution: 

Forum/Audience Date Doc Comments 

Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

13/07/21 v 2.1  

    

    

    

 

  

Version Date Author/ 
Reviewer 

Comments 

1.0 28/06/2021 Micky Griffith V 1.0 draft developed for review 

2.0 30/06/2021 Ellen Rule  V 2.0 further amendment of draft 

2.1 01/07/2021 Micky Griffith Incorporate feedback 

    

    

    

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



Contents 

1. Purpose of the Document .............................................................................................. 1 

2. Fit for the Future - Phase 1 ............................................................................................ 1 

2.1  FFTF Phase 1 Service Changes ............................................................................. 2 

2.2  HOSC Issues .......................................................................................................... 2 

2.3  FFTF Phase 1 Implementation ................................................................................ 4 

3. Fit for the Future - Phase 2 ............................................................................................ 7 

3.1  Introduction ............................................................................................................. 7 

3.2  FFTF Programme Approach ................................................................................... 7 

3.3  FFTF Phase 2 Services .......................................................................................... 8 

3.3.1  Long-List of Potential FFTF Phase 2 Services ..................................................... 8 

3.3.2  FFTF Implementation Enabling Move .................................................................. 8 

3.3.3  Learning from Temporary Changes ................................................................... 10 

Annex 1: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service variation: 

Lung Function & Sleep Services …. .................................................................................... 12 

Annex 2: FFTF Process Stages (Optimised) ....................................................................... 18 

 

 

Page 90



1 | P a g e  

 

1. Purpose of the Document 

This paper for the Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) 

provides: 

• an update on the progress towards implementation of the Fit for the Future (FFTF) 

Programme 

• a summary of issues previously raised by HOSC 

• proposals for the next stage of the programme (FFTF Phase 2).  

The approach set out in this paper (and the associated paper Briefing paper on COVID-19 

Temporary Service changes - update to HOSC (July 2021) describes our plans for the 

continued development of our health services to improve quality and ensure sustainability. 

2. Fit for the Future - Phase 1 

Fit for the Future (FFTF) is part of the One Gloucestershire ICS vision focussing on the 

medium and long-term future of specialist hospital services at Cheltenham General Hospital 

and Gloucestershire Royal Hospital. The aim is to: 

• Improve health outcomes for the people of Gloucestershire 

• Reduce waiting times and ensure fewer cancelled operations 

• Ensure patients receive the right care at the right time in the right place 

• Ensure there are always safe staffing levels, including senior doctors available 24/7 

• Support joint working between services to reduce the number of visits patients 

make to hospital 

• Attract and keep the best staff in Gloucestershire. 

 

Since the publication of the NHS Long Term Plan in January 2019 HOSC Members have 

received more than 10 reports and presentations relevant to the development of specialist 

hospital services in Gloucestershire: 

• Dedicated FFTF Agenda Items; and  

• Regular updates in the NHS Gloucestershire CCG Clinical Chair and Accountable 

Officer’s Report and the STP/ICS Lead Report.  

 

This paper provides an update on the progress made to date towards implementation of the 

FFTF proposals approved by the Gloucestershire ICS in March 2021.  

  

Page 91



2 | P a g e  

 

2.1  FFTF Phase 1 Service Changes  

The following service changes were approved by the CCG Governing Body at their meeting 

on 18 March 2021. 

1. Formalise ‘Pilot’ Configuration for Gastroenterology inpatient services at CGH  

2. Formalise ‘Pilot’ Configuration for Trauma at GRH and Orthopaedics at CGH 

3. Centralise Emergency General Surgery at GRH 

4. An Image Guided Interventional Surgery ‘Hub’ at GRH and ‘Spoke’ at CGH 

5. Centralise Vascular Surgery at GRH 

6. Centralise Acute Medicine (Acute Medical Take) at GRH 

7. Planned General Surgery. The recommendation is that further work should begin to 

define a new option to deliver: 

a. Planned High Risk Upper Gastrointestinal (GI) and Lower Gastrointestinal 

(Colorectal) surgery at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital 

b. Planned complex and routine inpatient and day case surgery in both Upper 

and Lower GI (Colorectal) at Cheltenham General Hospital 

 

2.2  HOSC Issues  

FFTF proposals have been presented and discussed at HOSC on several occasions and 

members identified a number of areas where further information was requested, that were 

discussed at meetings in October 2020, January 2021 and March 2021. A summary of these 

is presented below, with a recap / signposting to the relevant document where the detail is 

provided, recognising that the membership of the committee has recently changed following 

the May local elections.  

FFTF Pre-Consultation (PCBC) and Decision-Making business cases (DMBC), with 

appendices can be found at: https://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay/fit-for-the-future-

developing-specialist-hospital-services-in-gloucestershire/ 

 

HOSC Issue Update Documents 

Timing of the 

consultation in 

relation to the 

challenges and 

pressures 

presented by the 

COVID-19 

pandemic 

 

Paper to HOSC in Oct 2020 – HOSC 

confirmed that the Gloucestershire ICS 

could proceed with the proposed 

consultation timeline. Discussed in detail at 

meetings in Oct 2020, Jan and March 2021 

(Issue closed) 

HOSC Paper (Oct 2020) 

DMBC: Impact of Coronavirus 

(COVID-19) on the consultation 

(p8) 

Addressing themes applicable to 

all consultation proposals (p54) 

Overlap of some 

FFTF 

consultation 

items and some 

Covid 19 

Temporary 

changes. 

Paper to HOSC in Oct 2020 – HOSC 

advised of what FFTF consultation 

was/was not about. Both FFTF and Covid 

19 temporary changes discussed at 

meetings in Jan and March 2021. FFTF 

public material clearly set out what FFTF 

was/was not about. (Issue closed) 

HOSC Paper (Oct 2020) 

DMBC: Learning from 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) 

Temporary Changes (p14) 

Citizens’ Jury (p23) 

Addressing themes applicable to 

all consultation proposals (p56) 

 

Page 92

https://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay/fit-for-the-future-developing-specialist-hospital-services-in-gloucestershire/
https://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay/fit-for-the-future-developing-specialist-hospital-services-in-gloucestershire/


3 | P a g e  

 

HOSC Issue Update Documents 

HOSC 

opportunities to 

discuss FFTF 

Over last 3 years, >15 updates and 

opportunities to discuss including specific 

workshops provided outside of the main 

meetings. Updates to HOSC since 

consultation launch, October 2020, January 

2021 (output of consultation report), 2nd 

March (questions from HOSC Members re 

FFTF requested in advance of March 

meeting – Decision-making business case 

having been published. No questions 

received from Members for 22nd March 

meeting (dedicated additional meeting set 

up to discuss FFTF in case of any 

additional questions being received from 

members that needed to be addressed). 

(Issue closed) 

 

HOSC Paper (Oct 2020) 

HOSC Paper (Jan 2021) 

HOSC Paper (Mar 2021) 

DMBC: Review and deliberation 

of consultation findings (p10) 

Process for decision-making 

(p111) 

GRH Bed 

Capacity 

Reference in HOSC meeting in the Autumn 

to South West Clinical Senate having a 

‘concern’ about ‘bed capacity’ incorrect as 

per required information provided in 

Decision-making business case. This was 

confirmed at meetings in January and 

March 2021, South West Clinical Senate 

assured and NHSE&I confirmation that 

they were content that the bed test was 

met provided in writing to HOSC members. 

(Issue closed) 
 

DMBC: Intended audiences and 

their decision-making roles (p3) 

Beds (p121-123) 

Appendix 9: NHSEI Stage 2 

assurance 

 

 

Travel Impact Members directed to Independent 

Integrated Impact Assessment provided in 

October 2020 as part of Pre-Consultation 

Business Case and updated in March 2021 

as part of Decision-making Business case. 

(Issue closed) 

PCBC: Integrated Impact 

Assessment (p175) 

Appendix 14: IIA pre-

consultation 

DMBC: Integrated Impact 

Assessment (p89) 

Appendix 2: IIA post-

consultation 

One New Acute 

Hospital 

Discussed at meeting in March 2021. 

Explanation that FFTF is a 5-10-year 

programme designed to ensure our 

hospitals can be most effective now. A 

single new acute hospital would be a far 

longer-term programme requiring very 

significant national capital funding (which 

we do not have). (Issue closed) 

 

DMBC: Addressing themes 

applicable to all consultation 

proposals (p61) 

Page 93



4 | P a g e  

 

HOSC Issue Update Documents 

Planned General 

Surgery 

Discussed at meeting in March 2021. 

Decision-making business case included 

resolution to include Upper Gastrointestinal 

surgery within scope of clinical model 

which should result in additional operations 

being undertaken at CGH. (Issue closed) 

DMBC: Continued public and 

stakeholder engagement (p52) 

Addressing themes applicable to 

all consultation proposals (p71 -

72, p80) 

IIA New evidence (p85) 

Consultation feedback and new 

evidence (p102) 

Recommendations (p115) 

Consultation 

Process 

Discussed at meetings in October 20, Jan 

and March 21. Consultation accredited by 

The Consultation Institute as “Good 

Practice” (Issue closed) 

DMBC: Consultation (p8) 

Feedback from Public 

Consultation (p17) 

Appendix 1: Final Output of 

Consultation Report 

 

2.3  FFTF Phase 1 Implementation  

The high-level implementation timeline and a brief summary for each service is presented 

below: 
 

 
 

Formalise ‘Pilot’ Configuration for Gastroenterology inpatient services at CGH 

As this service was already operational as a ‘pilot’, following the approval of the Decision-

Making Business Case and its resolutions in March 2021, it was formally implemented in 

April 2021. 

Formalise ‘Pilot’ Configuration for Trauma at GRH and Orthopaedics at CGH 

As this service was already operational as a ‘pilot’, following the approval of the Decision-

Making Business Case and its resolutions in March 2021, it was formally implemented in 

April 2021. 

Centralise Emergency General Surgery at GRH 

As this service was already operational as a COVID-19 Temporary Service Change (see 

separate C19 HOSC paper), following the approval of the Decision-Making Business Case 

and its resolutions in March 2021, it was formally implemented in April 2021. 

 

Page 94



5 | P a g e  

 

Centralise Vascular Surgery at GRH 

The timing of this change was originally to be determined by infrastructure changes 

implemented at GRH: improved ward environment, access to the 24/7 Image Guided 

Interventional Surgery (IGIS) hub, provision of a new vascular hybrid theatre and the transfer 

of planned care theatre sessions from GRH to CGH. It was anticipated these infrastructure 

changes would be in place from November 2022. 

However, as Vascular Surgery at GRH was one of the COVID-19 Temporary Service 

Changes, an internal GHNHSFT review has been undertaken to determine the best option 

for vascular surgery in the interim, either to remain at GRH or return to CGH. This review 

has recommended that vascular surgery should not return to CGH for an interim 18 months 

but be retained at GRH as a permanent change. The recommendation included 4 actions 

that will be explored to support this earlier implementation: 

• Explore whether the IR Hybrid Theatre estate work on GRH site can be prioritised in 

2021. 

• Prioritise the community sub-acute pathway programme to mitigate any bed 

pressures due to the co-location on Ward 2A of Vascular and T&O. 

• Complete a check and challenge of office space provision and to prioritise the 

placement of the vascular team, acknowledging that the in-extremis move did not 

provide enough office space.  

• Ensure there is a robust pathway and appropriate use of the IR Hybrid Theatre in 

CGH for cases that can be completed safely in that facility in the interim. 

An Image Guided Interventional Surgery ‘Hub’ at GRH and ‘Spoke’ at CGH 

The ‘IGIS hub’ is enabled by capital investment as part of the phased implementation of the 

Trust Estates Strategy. Full implementation of the IGIS model requires us to locate the 

cardiac catheter labs, establish an additional Interventional Radiology (IR) labs and the 

vascular hybrid theatre facility at the main hub in GRH. Our implementation plan includes: 

• Catheter-Lab Pre-enabling 

• Catheter-Lab relocation (IGIS Stage 1) 

• Additional IR Lab (IGIS Stage 2) 

• Hybrid theatre at GRH (IGIS Stage 3) 

• IGIS 24/7 Hub enabling works and displacements 

Centralise Acute Medicine (Acute Medical Take) at GRH 

The acute medical take will be centralised at GRH and this change will be phased in over the 

next 2 years. In this interim period, the acute medical take has reverted to a two-site model 

with the Acute Care Unit (ACU C) at CGH restored to manage a range of dedicated medical 

admission pathways.  

Operating a centralised acute medical take over the past 12 months (as a COVID-19 

Temporary Service Change), has confirmed the quality, safety, patient and staff benefits this 

model will provide in the long term, for example extended senior decision making through 

the co-location of acute physician, registrar and nursing teams and improved support for 

doctors in training. The temporary change also highlighted the strong clinical linkage 

between the management of acute medical take admissions and high care respiratory.  

  

Page 95



6 | P a g e  

 

Planned General Surgery. 

The Decision-Making Business Case recommended that further work should be undertaken 

to define a new option to deliver: 

• Planned High Risk Upper Gastrointestinal (GI) and Lower Gastrointestinal 

(Colorectal) surgery at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital 

• Planned complex and routine inpatient and day case surgery in both Upper and 

Lower GI (Colorectal) at Cheltenham General Hospital 

The development of the new option includes a bariatric centre, pelvic floor centre and biliary 

centre. Staffing and rotas have been agreed and the stratification of procedures of 

procedures has been initiated. We are liaising with the South West Clinical Senate to ensure 

external clinical assessment of the proposals prior to NHSE&I assurance and have begun to 

engage with current patients. 

 

  

Page 96



7 | P a g e  

 

3. Fit for the Future - Phase 2 

3.1  Introduction  

Through phase 1 of FFFT we described our centres of excellence vision for the future 

configuration of specialist hospital services with GRH focussing more (but not exclusively) on 

emergency care, paediatrics and obstetrics and CGH focussing more (but not exclusively) 

on planned care and oncology. 

With these Phase 1 changes agreed and the principle of a greater separation of emergency 

and planned care established, the programme is starting to explore the next phases of 

reconfigurations that fit with this model.  

3.2  FFTF Programme Approach 

The FFTF programme is designed to meet the NHSE&I1 guidance on Planning, assuring and 

delivering service change for patients and is quality assured by The Consultation Institute2. It 

is also continuously improved to take account of learning and feedback from our 

stakeholders, the public, patients and partners. 

A high-level summary of the process stages is included in Annex 2 and a list is presented 

below including the points where proposals are shared and discussed with HOSC. 

 

FFTF Stage HOSC 

1 - Case for change Initial proposals shared with 
HOSC and discussions 
regarding ‘substantial’ nature of 
a proposed service variation 

2 - Clinical model development 

3 – Integrated Impact Assessment 

4 - Public and staff engagement phase 
Output of engagement report 
shared and discussed with 
HOSC 

5 - Solutions Development  Pre-Consultation Business Case 
shared and discussed with 
HOSC and discussions 
regarding “Substantial nature” 
and requirements for 
consultation 

6 - PCBC 

7 - Clinical Senate 

8 - NHSE / I Stage 2 

9 – Internal Governance 

10 - Consultation3 Output of Consultation report 
shared and discussed with 
HOSC 11 - Consultation review period 

11.1 -Citizens Jury Decision-making Business Case 
shared and discussed with 
HOSC 

12 - DMBC 

13 - Decision making  

14 - Implementation 
Ongoing updates shared with 
HOSC as required  

 

 
1 NHS England and NHS Improvement came together on 1 April 2019 as a new, single organisation 
2 A UK based not-for-profit organisation specialising in best practice public consultation & stakeholder 
engagement. 
3 When required for service changes of a “Substantial nature”. 

Page 97



8 | P a g e  

 

3.3  FFTF Phase 2 Services 

3.3.1  Long-List of Potential FFTF Phase 2 Services 

The FFTF Programme is working with clinical and operational colleagues at GHNHSFT, ICS 

Clinical Programme Groups and patient groups to identify services that would be able to 

deliver improved patient experience and outcomes. These will follow the standard FFTF 

programme approach (presented above) and be shared and discussed with HOSC. 

In accordance with our desire to engage with HOSC at an early stage in the development of 

our proposals, a long list of initial services is presented below on the basis that any 

proposals related to the future configuration of these services will be subject to continued 

patient, public, staff, stakeholder and regulator involvement. 

 

GHNHSFT Service  Considerations 

Frailty/ Care of the 

Elderly (COTE) 

Development of services in line with the new ICS frailty strategy, with 

possibility of additional services at CGH.  

Spinal, hand, wrists 

& ankles 

Legacy services excluded from initial pilot split of trauma (GRH) and 

orthopaedic (CGH) – pilot formalised in FFTF Phase 1. Currently all at GRH, 

so assessing which, if any, procedures could be moved to CGH  

Medical Cardiology Linked to IGIS centralisation at GRH (FFTF Phase 1). When Catheter Labs 

located at GRH service will need to move activity from CGH to GRH 

Renal/ Haemodialysis  New provider contract (2022/23) and consideration of relocation of second 

GRH Haemodialysis unit to improve patient travel access/ times.  

NB: No change to Forest of Dean facility. 

Benign Gynaecology As a result of learning from the Planned General Surgery service changes 

(FFTF Phase 1) investigating options for routine elective gynaecology 

procedures at CGH (risk-based).  

NB: No changes to Gynae-oncology. 

Diabetes and 

endocrinology  

Service review linking with community and primary care 

 

3.3.2  FFTF Implementation Enabling Move 

Distinct from the longlist Phase 2 services, detailed work on our implementation plans has 

indicated a requirement for the creation of a hub & spoke model for Lung Function and Sleep 

Services to support the phase 1 implementation plan. This is detailed below.  

Lung Function and Sleep Services Hub at CGH and Spoke at GRH. 

The Lung Function and Sleep department is a multi-faceted service providing diagnostic and 

monitoring testing for respiratory diseases; non-invasive and invasive ventilation provision 

and support; as well as diagnosis and treatment for sleep disordered breathing conditions. In 

addition to this, the service delivers diagnostic testing and assessment of the digestive tract 

in the G.I. department. 

The Fit for the Future (FFTF) phase 1 programme proposals include the establishment of a 

hub for Image Guided Interventional Surgery (IGIS) at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital. 

Capital works to establish the IGIS Hub are expected to begin in August 2021, impacting on 

Page 98



9 | P a g e  

 

Lung Function and Sleep in November 2021. Therefore, the relocation of the Lung Function 

and Sleep service from its current footprint will enable the preferred implementation option 

for the IGIS Hub, by allowing for the establishment of an IGIS day-case recovery area. 

The proposed solution to manage the move and mitigate any impacts associated with it is to 

implement a ‘hub and spoke’ model for Lung Function and Sleep Services. This would mean 

that Lung Function and Sleep would have a main hub, where most of its activity would take 

place, at CGH. However, it would also operate a smaller ‘spoke’ service on GRH which 

would be responsible for providing support to inpatients as well as supporting outpatients on 

the Lung Cancer pathway. 

Whilst the initial driver for change arises from the requirement to vacate their current 

footprint, the service has considered many innovative ways in which the impact of relocation 

can be mitigated, and additional patient benefits delivered including: 

• Enable the service to become a one-stop shop for patients, by introducing 

multidisciplinary clinics. This will negate the need for patients to visit the site multiple 

times, or to visit multiple departments in one visit. On the whole, it is estimated that these 

multidisciplinary clinics would benefit around 164 Lung Function and Sleep patients each 

year, many of whom may visit up to every 3-4 months. 

• Increase the accessibility of the service for impromptu / telephone patient queries. 

• Create capacity to support a responsive inpatient service at GRH. 

• Ensure staff resilience for the future of the service through centralisation and by cross 

training a number of clinical members of staff in G.I. Physiology. 

• Optimise the stocking of equipment, therefore alleviating the need for outpatients to visit 

the service multiple times to access the equipment they need for treatment 

The MOU Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service variation is 

provided in Annex 1. 

Proposal - Based on the need for the ‘enabling move’ to the wider FFTF programme and 

the identified benefits for patients of the Lung Function and Sleep Services Hub & Spoke 

model the ICS we intend to initiate the process for formal service change via a targeted 

engagement process. We will provide details of our plans to progress this at the next 

scheduled meeting of HOSC. 

 

  

Page 99



10 | P a g e  

 

3.3.3  Learning from Temporary Changes 

As detailed in the Briefing paper on COVID-19 Temporary Service changes - update to 

HOSC (July 2021), we have requested an extension for the following temporary service 

changes: 

 

Service Proposal 

High Care Respiratory 

at GRH 

Our proposal is that High Care Respiratory remains at GRH 

as a Temporary Service Change until March 2022 to 

support our continued responsiveness to future waves of 

COVID-19. We will provide a further update on respiratory 

services at the next HOSC meeting. 

Acute Stroke and 

Rehabilitation at CGH 

Acute Stroke & Rehabilitation will remain at CGH as a 

Temporary Service Change until March 2022 (with an 

associated designation of the additional six Vale stroke 

rehabilitation beds) while we work through the detail on our 

longer term proposals for Stroke services in 

Gloucestershire. We will provide an update on this work at 

the next scheduled HOSC meeting.  

Medical Day Unit at 

CGH 

Based on the benefits of the MDU at CGH the ICS would 

like to initiate and undertake the process for formal service 

change and in order to do so with the minimum disruption to 

patients and staff, our intention is that the Medical Day Unit 

remains at CGH as a Temporary Service Change until 

March 2022.  

 

The HOSC Temporary Service changes briefing paper included MOUs for each of the 

services listed above. As stated, an update for each of these services will be presented at 

the next scheduled meeting of HOSC.  

We intend to progress with moving the MDU through the process towards permanent 

change without delay as we believe the case is clear for this move to be progressed as a 

permanent change. There is further work to do on High Care Respiratory and Acute Stroke, 

and this work will enable us to consider whether either of these temporary changes should 

be considered as potential future service configuration proposals within the FFTF Phase 2 

programme. As indicated in the temporary service change paper, we will share our progress 

on this work at the next HOSC meeting.  

  

Page 100



11 | P a g e  

 

4. Conclusion  

This paper sets out a summary of the FFTF Phase 1 services, addresses issues raised by 

HOSC at previous meetings and presents a brief overview of progress to date on Phase 1 

implementation. We have provided a high-level outline of the FFTF programme approach 

(and a reflective overview of the issues raised in previous HOSC sessions with our 

responses).  

Finally, we present information on our FFTF Phase 2 programme grouped as follows: 

• A longlist of potential FFTF phase 2 services (#6 services) 

• A single FFTF implementation enabling move (#1 service) 

• The potential for learning to emerge from the Temporary Changes we wish to retain, 

which may become future areas for FFTF Phase 2 inclusion 

 

 

Page 101



12 | P a g e  

 

Annex 1: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed 

service variation: Lung Function & Sleep Services 

Name of NHS Trust/ Name of NHS Commissioning Organisation 
 

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
 

Lead Manager and contact details 

Tom Hewish: Strategy and Transformation Programme Manager 

tom.hewish@nhs.net  

Beverley Gray: Principal Clinical Physiologist and Service Manager 

beverley.gray6@nhs.net  
 

Details of the current service 

The Lung Function and Sleep department is a multi-faceted service providing diagnostic and 

monitoring testing for respiratory diseases; non-invasive and invasive ventilation provision 

and support; as well as diagnosis and treatment for sleep disordered breathing conditions. In 

addition to this, the service delivers diagnostic testing and assessment of the digestive tract 

in the Gastrointestinal department.   

The majority of activity undertaken by the Lung Function and Sleep service is for outpatients. 

Approximately 1.7% of the service’s recorded activity between April 2019 and March 2020 

were inpatient attendances; however, this figure does not capture all inpatient activity. 

Inpatient testing is not booked into the TRAK care system and therefore would not show up 

in a BI report. In addition to this, there is an element of unscheduled support for inpatients for 

example where a lung function test may be requested to confirm if an inpatient requires any 

further procedures, or to issue them with treatment equipment prior to their discharge.  

For the latest pre-COVID-19 12 month period (Feb 2019 - Jan 2020), the Lung Function and 

Sleep service saw 7,389 patients, which reflects that the service were responsible for around 

3% of the Trust’s total outpatient activity (223,682 patients) In addition there are 

approximately 600 G.I. patients per year (8% of patients) seen by the service which are 

coded under a different clinical code to Lung Function and Sleep patients.  

Currently, the Lung Function and Sleep Service operate at both Gloucestershire Royal 

Hospital (GRH) and Cheltenham General Hospital (CGH), meaning that patients will visit 

either site for their appointment. However, the G.I. service is only available at CGH.  

 

Details of the proposed change to service 

The proposed solution to manage the move and mitigate any impacts associated with it is to 

implement a ‘hub and spoke’ model for Lung Function and Sleep Services. This would mean 

that Lung Function and Sleep would have a main hub, where most of its activity would take 

place, at CGH. However, it would also operate a smaller ‘spoke’ service on GRH which 

would be responsible for providing support to inpatients as well as supporting outpatients on 

the Lung Cancer pathway. 

This hub and spoke model will facilitate the best use of limited resources to deliver the best 

patient outcomes through the co-location of key staff and equipment.  

Page 102

mailto:tom.hewish@nhs.net
mailto:beverley.gray6@nhs.net


13 | P a g e  

 

Timescales involved 

Based on the need for the ‘enabling move’ to the wider Fit for the Future (FFTF) programme 

and the identified benefits for patients of the Lung Function and Sleep Services Hub & 

Spoke model the Integrated Care System (ICS) we intend to initiate the process for formal 

service change via a targeted engagement process. We will provide details of our plans to 

progress this at the next scheduled meeting of HOSC. 

Following approval of the FFTF proposals by CCG Governing Body in March 2021, the 

programme is now into implementation stage and to enable the IGIS hub to be established 

at GRH these proposed changes to the Lung Function and Sleep Service need to have been 

implemented by November 2021. 

What is the reason for the proposed service change? 

Whilst the initial driver for change arises from the requirement to vacate their current 

footprint, the service has considered many innovative ways in which the impact of relocation 

can be mitigated, and additional patient benefits delivered including: 

• Enable the service to become a one-stop shop for patients, by introducing 

multidisciplinary clinics. This will negate the need for patients to visit the site multiple 

times, or to visit multiple departments in one visit. On the whole, it is estimated that these 

multidisciplinary clinics would benefit around 164 Lung Function and Sleep patients each 

year, many of whom may visit up to every 3-4 months. 

• Increase the accessibility of the service for impromptu / telephone patient queries. 

• Create capacity to support a responsive inpatient service at GRH. 

• Ensure staff resilience for the future of the service through centralisation and by cross 

training a number of clinical members of staff in Gastrointestinal. Physiology. 

• Optimise the stocking of equipment, therefore alleviating the need for outpatients to visit 

the service multiple times to access the equipment they need for treatment 

Has any consultation or engagement/ involvement taken place to date? 

Patient Engagement: 

With the aim of providing an insight into patient views around the proposal to implement a 

hub and spoke model with a centralised hub at CGH, patients were asked to complete a 

series of questions when they attended the service for their appointment. The surveys were 

completed in April 2021 and 84 patients provided their feedback on the proposal.  

Firstly, patients were asked about whether they had previously visited either site for an 

appointment.  Out of the 84 patients who completed the questionnaire, 26 patients reported 

that they had visited CGH before for an appointment and 33 patients reported that they had 

visited GRH before for an appointment. Furthermore, when asked about their site 

preference, 27 patients (32%) reported that they had no preference over where they visited 

for their appointment, 33 patients (39%) reported that they would prefer to visit GRH and 24 

patients (29%) reported that they would prefer to visit CGH for their appointment.  

In order to understand more about patient’s site preferences, the questionnaire asked 

patients about their reasons behind their preferred site. 51 patients had selected their 

preferred site based on ease of travel, 15 patients had selected their preferred site based on 

it being easier to find their way around, 14 patients had selected their preferred site based 

on it being easier to park at, 7 patients selected their preferred site based on it having better 

facilities and 6 patients selected their preferred site for another reason not specified. For 

both sites, the most common reason for patients selecting it at their preferred site was 

Page 103



14 | P a g e  

 

because it was easier for them to travel to.  

In addition to their preferred site, patients were asked whether any of the reasons behind 

their site preference would prevent them from visiting their least preferred site for an 

appointment. Excluding patients who did not have a preferred site, 36 patients reported that 

they would still be able to visit their least preferred site for their appointment, 14 reported that 

they would not be able to attend their least preferred site for their appointment and 7 patients 

did not answer this question.   

When patients were asked about their thoughts on the proposal, 33 patients (39%) reported 

that they had no thoughts on the proposal, 39 (46%) patients reported that they liked the 

proposal, 6 patients (7%) reported that they did not like the proposal but weren’t sure how it 

could be improved, 1 patient (1%) reported that they did not like the proposal and thought it 

could be improved by having the spoke site based at the location closest to the patient and 5 

patients (6%) did not answer this question. 

Finally, patients were asked about what the most important factor was to them when visiting 

the Lung Function and Sleep department. The results showed that the most important 

factors to patients where how close the department was to where they lived (35 patients), 

that the department had the latest possible medical equipment (30 patients) and the waiting 

time between referral and appointment (21 patients).  

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) Engagement: 

This document provides the first engagement with HOSC for this proposed service change. 

Staff Engagement: 

Members of staff were involved in an engagement session to discuss the opportunities and 

potential risks that should be considered when redesigning the service. Initial feedback 

received suggested that the service could be reconfigured to either CGH; predominately for 

the GI service; on both sites, or on either location but single sited.    

As a result of three viable options suggested by staff, more in-depth analysis took place 

which was centred on the feedback from the initial engagement session. The key themes 

that were discovered through the engagement session were that increased space for 

patients and equipment, better communication between staff and more flexibility for cover 

and a fit for purpose department for Lung Function were the most important factors to be 

prioritised when reconfiguring the service. In addition, careful consideration for clinical 

adjacencies, how patients and staff would travel to the site and support for staff working at 

spoke site would need to be made, it was recognised that these risks could be reduced 

through mitigations. When discussing the ‘best fit’ site, it appeared that CGH was preferable 

in terms of there being more available space, clinical adjacencies with Endoscopy and 

Cancer Services and more estates scope to increase the space available to patients and 

staff. The amount of space available was considered to be the most important factor to the 

service.  Although it was also apparent that GRH had benefits in terms of accessing the 

small number of cardiology inpatients, transport links for staff and patients. 

The engagement session proved that the Lung Function service were aligned with their 

preference of implementing a ‘hub and spoke’ model, as this would allow for benefits 

associated with the majority of the service having a presence on one site but with the 

flexibility to continue seeing inpatients. 

Expected impact of change and what is being done to address this 

Changes in 

accessibility 

Establishing a hub and spoke model for Lung Function and Sleep 

services will require all outpatients who are receiving lung function 

testing to visit CGH for their appointment. Whilst there is a neutral 

Page 104



15 | P a g e  

 

 

(i.e. transport issues/ 

opening hours etc) 

 

 

 

travel impact for the majority of patients for an estimated 34% of 

lung function patients and 26% for sleep patients, there will be a 

negative impact upon their travel time. 

Between April 2019 and March 2020, approximately 9,195 
outpatient procedures were undertaken at GRH (approximately 
4,418 patients); however, of these appointments 2,280 (25%) were 
sleep follow ups which are now primarily conducted by telephone. 
Under the proposed hub and spoke model 12,103 procedures 
which were carried out at GRH would now take place at CGH. 
GRH inpatients are unaffected. 

In order to assess the travel impact upon Lung Function and sleep 
services patients in more depth, patient postcode data has been 
utilised further to determine the type and extent of impact upon 
patient travel. For 66% of patients it will have a neutral impact, 
however, for 34% of patients the Hub and Spoke model will have a 
negative impact upon their travel time.  Please note that the above 
figures exclude sleep patients. 

In addition to introducing telephone clinics that reduce the need for 
patients to travel to site, there are further opportunities the team 
are keen to implement in future to further reduce the requirement 
for travel such as: 

• the introduction of community sleep diagnostic hubs 

• the utilisation of PCNs to provide equipment to patients 

• and the introduction of ‘Attend Anywhere’ to introduce 
remote consultations.  

As a result of Covid-19, the Lung Function and Sleep Service have 

increased the utilisation of ‘apps’ and modems for sleep apnoea 

patients. Patients are now able to send their data from their sleep 

study device, directly to the service data base which allows for 

staff to monitor and alter a patient’s prescription remotely.  

Through telephone clinics, the service has been able to assess 

patient usage of their equipment, whether a patient’s requirements 

have changed and arrange for equipment parts to be posted to 

patients. Since May 2020, the service has utilised telephone clinics 

to speak to over 2,000 patients; patients eligible for this clinic are 

the largest cohort of patients seen by the service. Furthermore, the 

service will continue to use these clinics permanently as a result of 

their success which will negate the need for these patients to 

travel to either site.  

In addition, implementing the proposal contained in this paper will 

allow the service to implement multidisciplinary clinics which have 

the potential to benefit around 164 Lung Function and Sleep 

patients, many of whom may visit up to every 3-4 months. Patients 

who currently attend these clinics are often on long term home 

ventilation and are therefore the most unwell in terms of disease 

prognosis and physical condition. By moving to a hub and spoke 

model it would allow for these patients to be seen by all healthcare 

professionals involved in their care in the same appointment. 

Therefore, this would enable more appropriate and responsive 

Page 105



16 | P a g e  

 

care for these patients and their carers. 

Patients/ carers 

affected 

 

(demographic 

assumptions that 

have been made) 

Service level data has been utilised to understand the impact of a 
hub at CGH could have on patients with protected characteristics. 
There is no evidence to suggest that patients would be 
disproportionately positively or negatively impacted by our 
proposals on the basis of a protected characteristic.  

It is estimated that 23.6% of the total Gloucestershire population 
are obese, which is a risk factor for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea. As 
a result of this we would expect this group to be more impacted by 
the proposed changes. However, it must be noted that establishing 
a hub and spoke model for this service, alongside the movement 
of other services as defined in FFTF, will benefit these patients 
through providing specialist services in one place, as such 
meaning better care for patients with comorbidities. 

Approximately 7.7% of the Gloucestershire population live within 
the most deprived IMD quintile, at a district level Gloucester city 
has the highest proportion of its population living in the most 
deprived areas (25%).  This data would suggest that patients who 
utilise the service and live in Gloucester city district would be most 
impacted by a hub at CGH in respect of to travel costs and time. 
However, there are mitigations in place such as the Pulham’s 99 
Bus which runs between the two hospital sites.  

Changes in 

methods of delivery  

(venue / practitioner) 

Currently patients from across the county are seen at CGH (see 

maps below) whilst GRH has patients predominantly from the 

central and west localities.  

 

Page 106



17 | P a g e  

 

Impact upon other 

service delivery 

 

 

 

We have engaged with the service and given it is predominately 

an outpatient service, the residual need for clinical adjacency to 

support some inpatient care will be met by the spoke 

 

There are no other known impacts upon other service delivery 

Wider implications 

 

(consider effects on 

community safety/ 

local economy etc) 

There are no known wider implications of implementing a hub and 

spoke model for Lung Function and Sleep.  

 

 

 

Equality/ Inequality 

issues 

 

(how will it help 

achieve health 

improvement goals 

and reduce 

inequalities?) 

 

 

As previously mentioned, from our Equality and Inequality impact 

assessment; On the basis that there is a higher proportion of the 

population in the Gloucester district who are living in deprivation 

(25%) and who suffer from adulthood obesity (29%), there is a 

potential that patients who access the service from Gloucester 

may be the most impacted by a centralisation to CGH.  

However, it must be noted that the hub & spoke model will benefit 

these patients through providing multiple Lung Function and Sleep 

services in one place, as such meaning better care for patients 

with comorbidities especially through the provision of 

multidisciplinary clinics. 

 

Name of person 

completing this 

pro-forma 

 

Hannah Reed 

Project Manager 

Strategy and Transformation Team 

Gloucestershire Hospitals Foundation Trust 

Date proforma 

completed 

 

30/06/21 

Outcome  

(HOSC Comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 107



18 | P a g e  

 

Annex 2: FFTF Process Stages (Optimised) 

 

 

P
age 108



1

Report Title Gloucestershire CCG Performance report

June 2021

Purpose of Report The performance framework report provides the Committee with an overview of Gloucestershire

CCG performance against the NHS constitutional and other agreed standards.

A full summary of performance against national and local standards as reported to GCCG Governing

Body is included, with supporting narrative to inform members of key system actions to

support continued performance or mitigating actions to give assurance where performance is below

target or there is outlying variation across the county.

Is this for information

or decision?

This Report is for information.

Authors Kat Doherty, Senior BI Manager, GCCG

Key Issues:

• Recovery of NHS service activity and performance following the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic is underway, with urgent

care services in particular seeing additional demand compared with periods of national lockdown.

• Performance has remained strong for cancer services, and is showing good recovery compared with regional peers for

elective services, especially local imaging diagnostic services and reduction of patients waiting over 52 weeks for treatment.

• Demand for all healthcare in conjunction with possible COVID-19 pressure due to increased transmission of the delta

variant may still affect performance and recovery in the months to come, and analysis is ongoing around the longer term

impact of COVID-19 on services and patient behaviour (including health inequalities).

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 8



Contents

This document is a highlight report which is presented to give the CCG Governing Body an overview 

of current CCG and provider performance across a range of national priorities and local standards. 

Contents

1.0 CCG Performance Overview

2.0 Performance Dashboards

3.0 Performance Updates 

- Urgent Care

- Planned Care

- Cancer Services

- Mental Health

- Continuing Health Care

2

P
age 110



1.0: CCG Performance Overview

3

CCG NHS Oversight assessments for 2019/20 were published on 

25th November 2020, with GCCG being rated “Good” overall based on assessment of 

indicators covering 5 key areas:

• New Service Models

• Preventing Ill Health and Reducing Inequalities

• Quality of Care and Outcomes

• Leadership and Workforce

• Finance and Use of ResourcesP
age 111



2.0 Performance Dashboard

4

P
age 112



5

2.0 National Performance Summary

Performance against key standards continues to follow the national trends, however with the exception of A&E and 
Ambulance Category 1 response times, Gloucestershire performance generally improves on the national position. In 
particular local diagnostics performance remains extremely strong compared to both the regional and national 
position – with imaging services performing in line with national targets and at pre-COVID capacity.

While services are beginning to recover from COVID-19 impact – there remains a long recovery ahead, particularly 
for elective services waiting times where patients are seeing much longer waits, and numbers of patients waiting 
over a year has risen across the country. 

Gloucestershire’s cancer services has performed exceptionally well during the COVID-19 pandemic, with far quicker 
recovery than many areas nationally – the challenge as the NHS recovers will be to maintain this performance and 
ensure that specific services such as Urology that have seen a reduction in diagnoses are supported where demand 
may increase following the pandemic.

Encouragingly, dementia diagnosis rates have increased in Gloucestershire in April 2021, a larger jump towards the 
target than seen nationally, and implying that activity is beginning to resume more quickly in Gloucestershire 
compared to the country average. 

P
age 113



7

3.1 System Overview Unscheduled Care

P
age 114



8

3.1 System Overview Unscheduled Care

P
age 115



9

3.1 Unscheduled Care - 4 hour A&E

In May 2021, GHFT saw 66.4% of patients in 4 hours or less (note this data is pre-national data release so 

cannot be directly compared to previous months). Gloucestershire STP saw 74.9% of patients in all settings 

within 4 hours (covering all MIIU and ED activity in county).

In May of the 112 providers with Type 1 A&E service, GHFT ranked 105th. This is a slight improvement 

compared to last month’s ranking of 106th. Gloucestershire STP ranked 37th in overall percentage of 

attendances within 4 hours and 39th of the 42 STPs with type 1 activity. Last month the STP ranked 39th for 

overall attendances and 40th for Type 1.

On the 9th June 2021, CGH reopened as a Type 1 department, with overnight MIIU services also to resume 

in June 2021.  This is expected to have a positive impact on trust-wide and Type 1 performance for the 

county.

P
age 116



9

3.1 Unscheduled Care - 4 hour A&E site split

P
age 117



10

3.2 Unscheduled Care - Ambulance Category 1

Gloucestershire average response time for Category 1 incidents has climbed slightly again in May 2021 to 8 

minutes, again exceeding the 7 minute target. SWAST performance across all geographical areas (South 

West) was 8.1 minutes on average. 

Call outcomes saw fewer patients conveyed to ED departments proportionally, with some signs that 

alternative care settings are being prioritised wherever possible.  Despite this, overall volumes of patients 

conveyed to ED rose by 4/day on average in May reflecting higher overall activity.  There were some 

particularly busy days, with SWAST declaring a critical incident over the late May bank holiday weekend in 

several areas of the South West.

Calls from NHS111 remained at a similar overall level of total SWAST incidents, however had slightly higher 

“Hear and Treat” outcomes, suggesting an increase in patients ringing NHS111 for reassurance, or less 

effective validation of some NHS111 calls resulting in an ambulance disposition in May.

P
age 118



11

3.2 Unscheduled Care - Ambulance Category 2

In May 2021, Category 2 performance has risen to an average response time of 28.8 minutes in 
Gloucestershire, while the SWAST average response time has increased to 32.3 minutes. This reflects a 
substantial increase and drop in performance to levels last seen pre-COVID pandemic (in Autumn 2019).

Overall incident numbers have risen month on month since the relaxing of lockdown restrictions, with activity 
in May up by 8% compared with April. This is impacting on the ability of SWAST to deliver Category 2 
response times.  The categorisation of SWAST incidents has also meant that there has been a significant 
increase in Category 1 incidents compared with 2019/20 levels (for example due to categorisation of 
breathing difficulties), which is also negatively impacting the performance against category 2 incidents.

Although making up a small proportion of total activity, the number of calls from residential/nursing homes 
has risen at a fast rate than activity overall, with a nearly 20% increase compared to April 2021.  A higher 
proportion of these patients were also conveyed, however alternatives to ED were used in double the 
number of incidents compared to April.

P
age 119



12

3.2 Unscheduled Care - Ambulance Handover Delays

Total handover delays lasting more than 30 minutes have reduced since the peak seen in December 2020, 
with continued improvement into May 2021.

Handover delays have been an area of concern especially throughout the second COVID-19 wave in acute 
settings nationally, as there was less reduced activity in urgent care settings across all parts of the system, 
meaning that ED departments were increasingly crowded due to social distancing and infection control 
procedures.  This has especially affected the GRH site in Gloucestershire, and has contributed to 
deterioration in Category 2 (and other non-life threatening incident) response times, as for the latter part of 
2020/21 these have been at a substantially higher rate. Performance in May shows significant improvement, 
despite the activity increases seen in the month.

Handover delays remain a focus for the system, with the 30 day plan focussing on streamlining triage and 
assessment of patients arriving by ambulance to ensure patients are seen in an appropriate setting as 
quickly as possible, and maximising the use of ED alternatives where possible.

P
age 120



13

3.2 Unscheduled Care – Ambulance locality performance

P
age 121



13

NHS111

NHS111 calls have been volatile in 2020/21 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  Overall call volumes have 

returned to closer to expected levels in the last few months, however have recently seen an upturn in activity, which 

has also continued into May 2021 (final data not yet available).  This is likely to be influenced by the continued 

relaxing of COVID restrictions, with injury activity recovering across the unscheduled care settings at a faster rate 

than illness.

Performance against the calls answered standard (calls answered within 60 seconds) had dipped slightly in April -

continuing to be affected by national contingency activation, with variation in adherence to the performance target 

seen on a day-to-day basis – however generally the service benchmarks well against the national position.

Calls resulting in ED dispositions have decreased slightly as a proportion of all NHS111 activity in April 2021.  Due to 

higher activity, this has translated into overall higher ED recommendations.  

Ambulance dispositions have also decreased in April proportionally, and this has resulted in a slight reduction in total 

calls passed to SWAST from NHS111 compared with March figures.

P
age 122



14

3.2 Long Stay (>21 day LoS)

Long stay monitoring has been updated to look at the proportion of total stays in acute hospitals where beds 

are occupied by patients with a length of stay (LOS) over 7, 14, and 21 days.  

At GHFT, the proportion of long stay patients dropped in comparison to the 2019 baseline during the initial 

COVID-19 surge, however has risen to a high point during the period when COVID restrictions were relaxed 

by large numbers of beds were closed due to social distancing requirements.  Since February 2021, the 

average number of patients with a stay longer than 21 days has been ~ 120, a reduction on the pre-COVID 

position and reflecting a similar proportion to the national average.

P
age 123



15

3.3 System Overview - Planned Care

P
age 124



16

3.4 Planned Care - Diagnostic >6 weeks

Overall performance in April 2021 has improved again slightly following the significant decline seen in January 2021 driven by 
the peak of the second COVID-19 wave. However, the proportion of patients waiting more than 6 weeks for a test remains 
significantly above the <1% standard at 16.9% (lowest performance level was May 2020 at 47.7%). There were 1,955 
breaches across all test types, with 1,391 breaches occurring at GHFT.

For the CCG, all test types except Barium Enema and Electrophysiology failed to meet the 1% standard, but having cleared 
their backlog in numbers, GHFT continued to meet the standard in: MRI, Barium Enema, Dexa Scan, Audiology Assessments, 
Electrophysiology, Sleep Studies, and Peripheral Neurophys.  

Diagnostic services are a national focus for COVID-19 recovery, with planning targets for MRIs and CTs across all providers to 
the CCG expected to recover to 100% of pre-COVID activity in the first half of the 2021/22 financial year.  This is projected to
increase beyond 100% to ensure the backlog of patients waiting is addressed, however within Gloucestershire, CT and MRI 
provision have already exceeded the pre-COVID baseline. The recovery rates for NOUS, endoscopies and Echocardiography 
are assumed to recover at a slower trajectory primarily due to infection control and cleaning of equipment which remains 
challenging due to COVID-19. The local plan is for endoscopy activity to increase to at least 85% of 19/20 baseline through 
additional weekend sessions, increased use of IS providers (Winfield and InHealth) and further work to increase throughput 
and productivity of existing lists. It is also expected that as restrictions for endoscopy reduce as part of the wider relaxation of 
COVID-19 measures, some of the barriers to greater throughput of patients will be removed. 

P
age 125



17

3.4 RTT

Performance for April against the RTT 
standard is 71.8% for GCCG patients (% of 
the patient waiting list for consultant led 
treatment waiting under 18 weeks).  GHFT 
performance was 71.2%.  Performance has 
remained stable for elective treatment waits 
since October 2020, though patients waiting 
over 52 weeks for treatment has risen 
substantially in the last few months 
particularly with 2460 over 52 week waits for 
the CCG, 2033 of which were at GHT in 
April 2020. 

Planning for 2021/22 focusses significantly 
on the system response to the challenge of 
increased long waits and the severe impact 
of COVID-19 on elective service activity.  
Inpatients and day case activity have been 
assumed to recover to over 98% of pre-
COVID levels by September 2021. The plan 
aims to deliver the maximum elective activity 
possible between now and winter making full 
use of all NHS capacity currently available 
across the system and continuing to build on 
the service redesign and transformational 
changes already in place to maximise 
productivity and efficiency while being 
mindful of the impact on staff wellbeing.

Gloucestershire has engaged strongly with 
regional colleagues through the Adapt and 
Adopt programme as well as various other 
elective recovery forums to ensure we learn 
from and spread best practice wherever 
possible.  A virtual system waiting list is 
being used to ensure that all patients are 
prioritised for treatment and seen according 
to need as quickly as possible whether at 
GHFT, one of our independent providers or 
an out of county provider setting.

P
age 126



3.5 2ww Overview Cancer

19

P
age 127



3.5 System Overview Cancer

20

P
age 128



3.5 System Overview Cancer

21

P
age 129



3.6 Cancer - 2 week waits

Overall performance against the 2ww standard remains above the 93% target for patients to have their first 
outpatient or diagnostic test within 2 weeks of a suspected cancer referral, with 94.3% and 94.7% of patients 
seen within 2 weeks for GCCG and GHFT respectively..  

Referral volumes climbed significantly in March, and despite transformational pathway changes, overall 
activity across all specialties was higher than pre-COVID levels, reflecting possible activity that had been 
delayed by the pandemic.  Phase 4 recovery metrics specify that cancer services should return to 2019/20 
levels of activity for patients seen with suspected cancer, which is currently being worked through with GHFT 
to account for the latest activity scenarios.

Notably, local referrals for breast cancer have recovered to above the pre-COVID baseline, however this is 
likely to be driven by disruption to national screening programmes – diagnoses for breast cancer are 
significantly lower than 2019 levels, which is causing the bulk of “missed” diagnoses seen across the 
2020/21 financial year. 

22

P
age 130



3.7 Cancer - 62 days

CCG performance dropped slightly for 62 day waits in March to 80.5% (from 83.1% in February).  There 

were 40 breaches across a number of specialties, with Gynaecology, Haematology, Lower GI, Urology, Lung 

and “Other” failing to meet the target of 85% of patients to begin treatment within 62 days of a referral with 

suspected cancer.

The majority of breaches were due to complex diagnostic pathways, with some patients having to be seen 

by several specialties for a diagnosis.  Work is ongoing in Gloucestershire to set up a Rapid Diagnostic 

Service, which may help to minimise delays due to complex diagnostics.

There were only 7 patients treated over 104 days in March – 5 in Urology, 1 in Gynaecology, and 1 in Lower 

GI.  GHFT have reduced their PTL waiting over 62 days to a sustainable level of just over 100 patients – this 

includes patients who will not receive a cancer diagnosis.  The system has committed to maintaining this 

PTL level below 150 patients, representing a 40% improvement on the pre-COVID average of 250.
23

P
age 131



3.8 System Overview: Mental Health - IAPT

25

P
age 132



26

3.8 Mental Health – IAPT N.B. data not available post March at time of writing

IAPT access rates returned to a higher level 
in March 2021, meeting the local access 
target for the month.  Total access for 
2020/21 was 11,573, equivalent to 16.9% of 
projected patients who would benefit from 
the service accessing it.  This is down on the 
previous year, however was severely 
impacted in Q1 by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Due to COVID-19 annual commitments to 
IAPT access outlined in the Long Term Plan 
were reduced slightly locally, with focus on 
Q2-Q4 performance to allow for the COVID-
19 impact on Q1 of the financial year 
particularly.  Total access for the July 2020-
March 2021 period feel just short of the 
projected totals with 9636 patients 
accessing the service against a target of 
9746.  

Moving into 2021/22, demand for IAPT is 
likely to rise, with most predicting a greater 
proportion of people requiring intervention 
following the demands of the COVID 
pandemic – expansion of the IAPT service in 
line with these expectations and the overall 
targets nationally are currently being worked 
through by the system.

Recovery rates for the IAPT service were 
also negatively impacted in the early part of 
the COVID response as patients chose to 
not complete therapy and due to the need to 
reorganise the service, some sessions were 
cancelled.  From June onwards however, 
the service has achieved the national 
recovery standard of 50% of those patients 
completing therapy moving to recovery, with 
March recovery rate at 58.8%.

P
age 133



3.9 Continuing Health Care - Referrals

From 1st April 2021, the COVID interim funding pathway remains in place for a further 3 months, meaning acute 
discharges requiring assessment or interim care follow a COVID discharge pathway.  This will be funded for up to 6 
weeks per patient by NHSE to facilitate discharge and will include end of life referrals from the acute, who would 
previously have been Fast Track patients, as well as other bed based pathways (for example non-weight bearing 
beds).  The funding from July onwards has yet to be confirmed, and may start to look at reducing the number of 
weeks funded centrally for discharge.    

As acute end of life discharges are not currently counted in the Fast Track numbers, it appears Fast Track referrals 
are lower than in 2019/20, however this is likely due to the change in pathway reflecting only community Fast Track 
referrals rather than a true reduction in numbers (number of referrals for ‘End of life’ from the acute as part of the 
COVID discharge pathway average 35/month).

All other referrals into CHC had returned to the pre-COVID process, with positive and negative checklist referrals at 
a similar level to the pre-COVID average.  This has declined again since November 2020 with lower levels likely to 
be due to the ongoing lockdown restrictions.  The large number of positive checklists received in September 2020 
reflects the patients who had previously been “interim COVID funded” from March 2020-August 2020 and received a 
positive checklist indicating that a full CHC assessment would be required.  This cohort of previously COVID interim 
funded patients have now been assessed to determine ongoing care and funding requirements in line with the 
expectation that all assessments were to be completed by the end of the 2020/21 financial year.

27

P
age 134



3.9 Continuing Health Care Assessments completed in 28 days

From 1st September 2020 national monitoring of the 28 day target for assessment time was reintroduced, 

with all referrals made from this time subject to the target.  This also included patients who were previously 

interim COVID funded but have had a positive checklist completed.  While performance was initially 

challenging due to the large number of assessments required due to the COVID discharge pathway, the 

service has worked through the backlog of cases and as of March and April 2021 has delivered performance 

exceeding the pre-COVID average of 53% of referrals concluded within 28 days. 

The overall waiting time for CHC assessment has reduced substantially for patients across the service, 

including LD patients, which prior to the pandemic had been an area of particular concern.  The current 

average waiting time for assessment is 25 days, with 45 cases currently exceeding the 28 day timeframe. 

27

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 1

                                                                                           

   

      Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)

                                                      July 2021

                                 One Gloucestershire ICS Lead Report

Since March 2020, the Health and Care system in Gloucestershire has been responding to the 

COVID-19 pandemic as a major incident. Our incident response has seen some changes to the 

way health and social care is being delivered to our population. The following report provides an 

update to HOSC members on the work of key programme and projects across Gloucestershire’s 

Integrated Care System (ICS) during this time.

Some of our programmes’ focus inevitably changed during the pandemic and certain activities were 

accelerated or prioritised because of the COVID-19 response. As the number of cases continues to 

fall in the county our focus continues to be on ongoing recovery. This includes continuing to return 

to a new ‘business as usual’, restarting our programmes as appropriate, and reprioritising in light of 

the new environment we are operating in. 

One of the roles of the ICS is to improve the quality of Health and Care by working in a more joined 

up way as a system. One ‘silver lining’ of the COVID-19 incident is that we continued to see new 

examples of excellent system working and delivery of best practice during the past 14 months, 

which the ICS have captured and continue to build on as we move forward. 

COVID-19 Response
COVID-19 cases remain low in our hospitals and infection rates are being closely monitored in our 

community; our focus continuing to move to recovery. The incident response has now been refined 

to reflect this with the silver and gold command structure being stood down. Some of the bronze 

cell work continues with the focus remaining on recovery. 

COVID-19 Recovery
In the week up to the 17th June 21 the number of COVID-19 cases has risen to 100.9 per 100,00 

population. The number of patients with COVID-19 requiring admission remains low, the Health 

1. Introduction

Page 137

Agenda Item 9



ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 2

Protection Board are monitoring the early warning indicators carefully and communicating across 

the system to adapt our response as necessary. As emphasised nationally everyone should 

continue to access planned and emergency health and care services as planned/required. 

To help improve the experience of in patients our acute providers have reviewed arrangements for 

visiting in the county’s hospitals. From Monday 26 April, one visitor per patient was allowed to visit 

for one hour each day. Visitors must be a close contact (from the same household or family bubble) 

and must book visits beforehand, at a prearranged time between 12noon and 6pm. Also from 

Monday 24 May, birth supporters were able to attend all antenatal appointments, including 

ultrasound scans, and continue to support pregnant women during labour and birth. An additional 

supporter may also be present during labour, and visiting was extended on our postnatal ward.

We will continue to provide as much routine activity as possible during this recovery phase and this 

will continue to increase as capacity allows. 

COVID-19 Mobile testing unit 
The mobile testing unit continues to be available at various locations across the county. Anyone 

with symptoms of COVID-19 can have a test, but must book in advance by visiting the NHS 

website or calling 119. Locations are detailed on the Gloucestershire County Council website- 

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/covid-19-information-and-advice/covid-19-testing-in-

gloucestershire/testing-unit-locations/

Post COVID-19 self-care and management
Since February 2021 a series of self- care information leaflets have been shared with ICS staff and 

patients. The information focuses on self-care and prevention during and after the COVID-19 

lockdown and how health care professionals can education patients about self-management and 

encourage and empower them to take responsibility for their own health and wellbeing through 

behavioural change to help improve their quality of life.

The leaflets focus on preventing deconditioning of our bodies due to inactivity, helping prevent 

Musculoskeletal conditions and improving strength and balance. 

More Information can be found at Gloucestershire Healthy Lifestyle Service https://hlsglos.org/

Page 138

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/covid-19-information-and-advice/covid-19-testing-in-gloucestershire/testing-unit-locations/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/covid-19-information-and-advice/covid-19-testing-in-gloucestershire/testing-unit-locations/
https://hlsglos.org/


ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 3

COVID-19 Vaccination Programme 
By the beginning of June over 700,000 doses of the COVID-19 vaccine have been given to 

residents in Gloucestershire, including over 200,000 second doses since the rollout began in 

December 2020, which is a phenomenal achievement. All priority groups have now been invited for 

their first vaccination and many who are at greater risk from the virus have received their second 

doses. We are making excellent progress with the second phase of the programme and younger 

cohorts including people in the 25-29 year age groups being invited for their first vaccination. 

During May Steve Hams, Director of Quality and Chief Nurse at Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust, handed over the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) role for the COVID-19 

vaccination programme  to the joint leadership of Marion Andrews-Evans, CCG Executive nurse 

and Helen Goodey ,Joint Director CCG and GHC.. 

Up to date information about the community vaccination programme in Gloucestershire can be 

found via the NHS COVID-19 portal: https://covid19.glos.nhs.uk/vaccinations

Skills sharing session for COVID-19 vaccinators 
During May The Gloucestershire COVID-19 Vaccine Equity Group, in partnership with Inclusion 

Gloucestershire and Gloucestershire Deaf Association ran a virtual skills sharing session for 

COVID-19 vaccinators. This was an opportunity for staff from PCNs to build confidence and 

knowledge in making reasonable adjustments and providing an inclusive and safe vaccination 

experience to people with additional needs who may not otherwise receive the vaccine. The 

sessions were delivered by trainers with lived experience of learning disability, autism, or sensory 

impairment.

2. Enabling Active Communities

The Enabling Active Communities (EAC) programme looks to build a new sense of personal 

responsibility and improved independence for health, supporting community capacity and working 

with the voluntary and community sector.

The development of the Gloucestershire Prevention and Shared Care Plan, led by Public Health , 

aims to improve health and wellbeing. It recognises that a more efficient approach to  prevent ill 

health is very important. This plan will improve the health of the population and make an important 

contribution to the maintenance of sustainability in our ICS.

2. Enabling Active Communities 

Page 139

https://covid19.glos.nhs.uk/vaccinations


ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 4

Focus on Social Prescribing

Social prescribing - sometimes referred to as community referral - is a means of enabling GPs, 

nurses and other health and care professionals to refer people to a range of local, non-clinical 

services. Recognising that people’s health is determined primarily by a range of social, economic 

and environmental factors, social prescribing seeks to address people’s needs in a holistic way. It 

also aims to support individuals to take greater control of their own health.

Gloucestershire has been chosen as a pilot Hub to work with the National Centre for Creative 

Health to share good practice and move forward with our strategic direction for the Social 

Prescribing programme.

This year, our creative health programme includes projects for children and young people and 

adults, including arts on prescription, physical activity, and nature on prescription. These projects 

are working with people with various health conditions, including mental health needs, diabetes, 

epilepsy, fibromyalgia, chronic pain, respiratory conditions, and long COVID. 

A co-production approach remains at the heart of this work and we also now have a children and 

young people focus group for those who have taken part in our projects to support this.

Our Social Prescribing Network remains strong, bringing together all social prescribers in the 

county to learn and share together. There are currently over 50 social prescribers across 

Gloucestershire, working with children, young people, and adults.

Two videos were developed to showcase social prescribing in Gloucestershire for International 

Social Prescribing Day:

Community wellbeing service https://youtu.be/6LAXCOf9wJ0 

Artlift: https://youtu.be/QHnZQoQ5YqQ

Page 140

https://youtu.be/6LAXCOf9wJ0
https://youtu.be/QHnZQoQ5YqQ


ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 5

Focus on The Gloucestershire Workplace Corporate Challenge 

The Corporate Challenge encourages employees to improve their health across the Healthy 

Lifestyles Service. Many organisations are taking part in this across the county and there are no 

cost implications.

The four core pathways are:

 Smoking 

 Weight 

 Activity 

 Alcohol 

Employees can be on one or more of these pathways at any one time.  Each workplace will be 

assigned their very own healthy lifestyles coach to provide free one-to-one or group Health 

Coaching, which will be tailored to the individuals taking part. Those not eligible or who are in need 

of free coaching can take part on the ‘activity’ pathway and logging their physical activity to earn 

points.    

Over 16 weeks the organisations will compete for:

 Best participation 

 Biggest collective weight lost 

 Greatest number of smoking quits

 Most active organisation

 Overall Winner of The Corporate Challenge 2021

 More information can be found here ; https://hlsglos.org/about-us/healthy-workplaces/

Survey to inform the future of the NHS Volunteer Responders scheme 
The NHS Volunteer Responders Scheme is a national, App-based, volunteering scheme that was 

set up in response to the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. The Gloucestershire NHS Volunteer 

Responder Embed and Evaluate Project Team are taking part in a national, independent evaluation 

of the scheme. The survey is about the volunteering response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the 

changes that would make the NHS Volunteer Responders Scheme most useful in our area in the 

future. Feedback and findings from the survey will be shared in a future report. 

Page 141

https://hlsglos.org/about-us/healthy-workplaces/


ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 6

The Clinical Programme Groups (CPGs) have all highlighted the impact of COVID-19 on the 

transformation programmes and continue to work through the recovery phase. Projects where able 

continue to run and adapt in line with COVID-19 restrictions. Where projects were unable to 

continue contingency plans were drawn up and new methods of delivery put into place. There has 

also been opportunity to fast track some work programme content (i.e. non face to face 

appointments). The approach is under review now restrictions are slowly being lifted. 

 The Cancer, Diabetes, and Respiratory Clinical Programme Groups have a high priority within the 

COVID- 19 response given the impact on people with these conditions. Cancer performance has 

improved significantly where patients waiting for referral under the 2 week wait have been treated 

and Gloucestershire is exceeding national performance averages. During the second we in June 

Gloucestershire was celebrating as we became the best performing area in the country with 88.9% 

of patients starting Lung Cancer treatment within 62 days of referral by a GP.

Recovery priority areas continue to focus on;

 Respiratory – COVID and Non COVID pathways

 Cancer (including implementation of Faecal Immunochemical Test - FIT)

 Frailty pathway

 End of Life Care

 Muscular Skeletal  (MSK) Pathways

These areas have important links to;

 Mental Health pathways including social prescribing

 Diagnostics

 Use of remote technology including digital methods for advice and guidance between GPs 

and hospital clinicians.

These will sit alongside the existing CPG priority areas. All pathways are keen to build on the 

momentum of changes made to date, for example the use of virtual appointments and are looking 

to prioritise patient and public involvement to inform substantiating or introducing new changes.

3. Clinical Programme Approach

Page 142



ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 7

Developing a frailty strategy for Gloucestershire 
With a view to ensuring that individuals with frailty receive the right support to manage their 

independence and wellbeing, reduce variation in the care and support offered across the county 

and connect services to improve the quality of life for all adults living with frailty in Gloucestershire, 

the CCG is holding four workshops. The workshops will bring together health, social care, the third 

sector and patient/carer representatives to create a frailty strategy that will improve the quality of 

life for anyone who is frail or vulnerable. The first workshop took place in June and the virtual series 

will run through to September 21. 

Awareness raising across our system
Several national action weeks have taken place since the last report. These include;

Mental Health Awareness Week, 10th – 16th May 2021 
The theme of this year’s awareness week is nature, chosen because nature is known to be an 

effective way of tackling mental health problems and protecting our wellbeing. A number of 

initiatives to raise awareness of mental health were planned throughout the week. 

Be Well Gloucestershire, our local campaign, actively promoted advice, information, videos, and 

ways to access support on social media. 

Dying Matters Awareness Week: 10th -16th May 2021
During Dying Matters Awareness Week One Gloucestershire organisations held workshops and 

events to open up the discussion around death, dying and bereavement. More than a year on from 

the start of the pandemic, so many of us have been affected by the loss of a friend or loved one, 

the impact has been devastating. Research from Dying Matters suggests that nearly three quarters 

of people in the UK haven’t written down their wishes or told the people closest to them what their 

preferences would be at the end of their life. The events held during the week were aimed at 

patients, the public, carers, volunteers, and staff. 

The Palliative and End of Life programme team has also released a short survey to understand 

people’s thoughts, ideas, and experiences about death and dying; feedback will help to shape and 

improve palliative and end of life care services across our system.

Link to survey; https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/EndofLifeGlos/

Page 143

https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/EndofLifeGlos/


ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 8

Dementia Action Week 2021: 17th – 23rd May 
People with dementia have been some of the worst hit by the pandemic, accounting for a quarter of 

all coronavirus deaths in the UK between March and June 2020 (Alzheimer’s Society). This year, 

the focus of Dementia Action Week in Gloucestershire was to raise awareness of dementia and 

delirium, in particular the importance of prompt diagnosis. 

For this purpose, One Gloucestershire has published the 10 Good Reasons for Prompt Diagnosis 

of Dementia. This document highlights how achieving a timely and accurate diagnosis helps to 

ensure that the right care and support is provided to an individual (and their family/carers) at the 

right time. This is fundamental to the provision of proactive, personalised care which, in turn, helps 

the avoidance of crisis situations wherever possible.

Diabetes: Insulin Safety Week, 17th – 21st May 
During the week the Community Diabetes Team visited local community and mental health 

hospitals to carry out ward rounds to review any patients with diabetes on insulin and to launch the 

district nurse insulin discharge packs to aid safer discharge from hospital. The DN discharge packs 

have a supply of safety needles, safety lancets, reason for insulin and target range. 

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust have supplied the packs and have ensured there 

is a ready supply during out of hours to aid a smoother discharge process and reduce the 

readmission rate. Patients are able to attend a structured education session teaching them about 

insulin, diabetes and how to self-manage their condition. 

Clinicians welcome public back to Cheltenham A&E

Clinicians welcomed the public back to Cheltenham General Hospital’s A&E department as part of 

a two-step plan to restore services as we emerge from the pandemic. On Wednesday 9 June the 

consultant-led Emergency Department reopened seven days a week between the hours of 8am – 

8pm. The service remained closed overnight until the overnight nurse-led service re-opened at 8pm 

Wednesday 30 June. From 1st July 2021, Cheltenham A&E returned to its pre-pandemic state, in 

line with commitments we have made publically and as agreed with our local Health Overview and 

4. Urgent and Emergency Care 

Page 144



ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 9

Scrutiny Committee. To support the re-opening of Cheltenham A&E a number of other services 

were also restored including medical admissions to Cheltenham from mid-June. 

   Focus on System Delivery Flow for Urgent and Emergency Care 

During March and April 2021, we set ourselves six 30 Day Challenges within urgent and 

emergency care to:

 Reduce number of patients in hospital beds awaiting discharge

 Reduce Ambulance handover delays

 Improve Emergency Department 4 hour standard performance

 Maximise home based pathways

The six 30 Day Challenges included:

1. Optimising Alternatives to the Emergency Department 

2. Reducing admissions related to frailty 

3. Implementation of ‘Pit Stop’ and streaming patients within the Emergency Department 

4. Reducing the number of patients who are medically fit for discharge from hospital, and 

support them to return home wherever possible 

5. Introduction of Simple Discharges, by identifying patients who could be discharged from 

hospital before midday the evening beforehand 

6. Medical review of patients who had stayed in hospital 2 weeks of more against the national 

‘Criteria to Reside’ 

Some of the successful outcomes delivered from our 30 Day Challenge for March and April 

included:

 A reduction in the number of patients medically fit for hospital discharge from 150 to 100 

patients  

 Increase in the percentage of patients discharged earlier in the day and before 12pm from 

12% to 22% 

 Detailed review of 90 patients with a hospital stay of over 14 days and assurance given that 

nearly all patients were having ongoing medical investigations

Page 145



ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 10

We are now in the process of resetting our priorities for June 2021 with a numberof our previous 30 

Day Challenge projects now embedded. These include:

 ‘Pit Stop’ to improve flow within the Emergency Department and reduce waiting times for 

ambulance crews to hand over a patient   

 Criteria to Reside (a set of national criteria developed with the Academy of Medical Royal 

Colleges whereby acute hospitals plan to discharge patients who no longer meet these 

criteria as soon as they are clinically safe to do so)

Updates regarding COVID-19 Temporary changes and Fit for The Future will be provided in a 

separate paper.

5. Integrated Care System Development
5. Integrated Care System Development
5. Integrated Care System Development

GP Patient Survey

The GP Patient Survey is an independent survey run by Ipsos MORI on behalf of NHS England. 

The survey is sent out to over two million people across England.

Fieldwork for this year’s survey ran from January to March 2021 and results are scheduled to be 

reported in July 2021, with for the first time results available at a PCN level. This year’s survey 

includes questions about patients’ experience of the changes to access to GP practices’ services 

during the pandemic. Feedback will be shared once available. 

Advising Gloucestershire’s GPs how to improve access for their patients 

Over 600 Gloucestershire residents have told Health Watch Gloucestershire (HWG) what they like 

and don’t like about the way their GP Practice communicates and interacts with them. HWG found 

that while new ways of communicating and delivering care work well for some people, for many 

others they present new challenges and barriers. 

5. One Place, One Budget, One System

6. Primary Care 

Page 146



ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 11

In the Report, Accessing GP Practices in Gloucestershire, HWG presents its findings around 

access to appointments, use of technology, staff attitude, and access to quality information. Read 

the full report: Accessing GP Practices in Gloucestershire  

https://www.healthwatchgloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/GP-Feedback-Report-FINALr-

Feb21.pdf

Congratulations 
Congratulations to Annette Blackstock, Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children, and 

Safeguarding Adult Manager for Gloucestershire CCG, who was recently presented with the 

Safeguarding Ambassador Award. The award recognises her outstanding work around 

safeguarding leadership and sharing Gloucestershire’s experiences around the Integrated Care 

System with other regions. 

As a Wave 2 Integrated Care System we are working towards increased integration to improve 

health and wellbeing, we believe that by all working better together, in a more joined up way, and 

using the strengths of individuals, carers and local communities, we will transform the quality of 

care and support we provide to local people. The System Development work stream captures the 

work to develop the overarching ICS programme. 

Guidance relating to the white paper Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health 

and social care is beginning to emerge with the second reading of the bill anticipated in July. 

Proposals outline statutory changes to increase integration and introduce a duty of collaboration 

between NHS organisations and between the NHS, Local Government and wider delivery partners. 

As a system we are working through the implications and how we maximise the benefits of the 

proposal for Gloucestershire. We will continue to involve staff and our population as any changes 

become clearer. 

7. Recommendations

7. Integrated Care System Development

Page 147

https://www.healthwatchgloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/GP-Feedback-Report-FINALr-Feb21.pdf
https://www.healthwatchgloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/GP-Feedback-Report-FINALr-Feb21.pdf


ICS Lead’s Report- July 2021 12

This report is provided for information and HOSC Members are invited to note the contents. 

Mary Hutton ICS Lead, One Gloucestershire ICS

Page 148



1

Gloucestershire Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)

13 July 2021 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 
Clinical Chair’s and Accountable Officer’s Report 

1. Introduction

Section A provides a general NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (GCCG) commissioner update, incorporating national consultations. 
Section B provides a commissioner update focussing on primary medical care.
Section C provides Trusts’ updates from: Gloucestershire Health and Care 
NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHT) and South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
(SWAST)

Integrated Care System (ICS)

ICS Lead Report is provided as a separate agenda item.

2. Section A: Local NHS Commissioner Update, 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 

These are items are for information and noting.
Please note some of the items reported below may also feature in more detail in 

other reports prepared for HOSC e.g. ICS Lead Report, wherever possible 
duplication is avoided.

2.1 Covid-19 Temporary Changes
See separate agenda item

2.2 Fit for the Future: Developing specialist hospital services in Gloucestershire
See separate agenda item

Page 149

Agenda Item 10



2

2.3 NHS Birthday

NHS staff were the focus of this year’s NHS birthday as we looked back on their 
remarkable contributions over the course of an unprecedented year. 

An open joint letter from the system’s NHS leaders was issued to staff on 5 July. 
Supporting video content highlighting the year in film, complete with personal thank 
you messages from local NHS Chairs and the ICS Chair, was also distributed 
through internal communication channels and promoted externally through NHS 
social media platforms. 

Later this month, specially designed thank you cards and badges are also being 
distributed to those involved in the county’s COVID-19 vaccination programme, 
including health and care professionals and volunteers. 

2.4 Elective Recovery update

Elective recovery has been strong in the South West and Gloucestershire 
continues to do well overall. Highlights include: 

 Continued excellent performance against the cancer standards which is 
outstanding given the challenges the pandemic has presented.

 Outpatient recovery has also been excellent such that Gloucestershire is 
now providing more capacity (114%) than pre-Covid, enabling providers to 
start to see those patients whose wait to be seen increased during the early 
phases of the pandemic. 

 Good uptake of telephone and video consultations is assisting with this, 
providing non-face to face alternatives to travelling for hospital 
appointments.

 Advice and guidance activity, where GPs can seek advice from a hospital 
specialist remains very high (the highest in the country) and provides a 
quick and easy route for GPs to support caring for patients in the community 
without having to refer them for a hospital appointment. This is also being 
backed up by the roll out of referral assessment services (RAS) in GHFT 
whereby Consultants review referrals and see if they can provide any advice 
or guidance to the GP which would avoid an unnecessary hospital visit.

 Daycase activity is also back to pre-Covid levels with patients being 
prioritised on clinical urgency first and then longest waiting patients next.

 Additional activity is being delivered by the Independent Sector with ongoing 
transfer of long waiting patients from Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust in Orthopaedics, General Surgery and Endoscopy.

 The introduction of a Covid home testing service pre-operatively for 
endoscopy patients attending community hospital sites is also making a 
significant contribution.

Infection control and social distancing continue to affect productivity and efficiency 
in a number of areas such as endoscopy which remains a challenge, but additional 

Page 150



3

evening and weekend sessions are underway to boost capacity whilst being 
mindful of the impact on staff wellbeing. 

Additional funding is being made available nationally via the Elective Recovery 
Fund (ERF) for activity undertaken above the baseline thresholds set by NHSE.  
Gloucestershire is already well above that threshold and therefore has been able 
to commission additional activity from both the NHS and Independent Sector to 
support faster waiting time reduction.

2.5 Diagnostics Hubs 

Diagnostics: Recovery and Renewal was released in October 2020 and detailed a 
national strategy for diagnostics with 24 recommendations. Central to these 
recommendations is the premise that diagnostics need to double over the next 5 
years to make England comparable with the rest of the world. One of the ways to 
increase diagnostic capacity is the creation of Community Diagnostic Hubs. 

Community Diagnostic Hubs will deliver additional, digitally connected, diagnostic 
capacity in England, providing patients with a coordinated set of diagnostic tests in 
the community, in as few visits as possible, enabling an accurate and fast 
diagnosis on a range of a clinical pathways. 

Community Diagnostics Hubs will be developed over the next 2 – 5 years with 
some early adopters in 2021/22. Gloucestershire has expressed an interest in 
becoming an early adopter site and we have now heard that funding will be 
allocated with phase one starting in 21/22. 

2.6 Mental Health update

2.6.1 Mental health (MH) and Wellbeing

Ongoing positive joint working between MH/Public MH Commissioning via MH and 
Wellbeing Cell, including the development/monitoring of a central dashboard to aid 
a system-wide response.  Dashboard includes:

 Mental Health Acute Trust (Gloucestershire Health and Care Foundation Trust - 
GHC). 

o Referrals and admissions to key teams.
 Early intervention/open access provision (Gloucestershire County Council) 

o QWELL
o KOOTH
o Self-harm helpline.

 Voluntary Care Sector (VCS)
o Community Advice, Links & Mental Health Support Service (CALMHS)
o Teens in Crisis (TIC+)

 Community Wellbeing Service.

Page 151



4

2.6.2 Current Picture

 Increase in referrals to Children’s mental health services; and increase in 
acuity. Increases typically follow pattern of schools’ re-opening.

 Increase in referrals to Eating Disorder services. 
 Let’s talk (IAPT) - activity remains in line with normal pre-pandemic levels.  

Sustained strong recovery rates for people completing treatment
 Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Team – 20/21 referrals below 19/20 

levels.
 Acute mental health admissions - 20/21 activity above 19/20 levels.  Bed 

occupancy above 11% (including leave) and Out of Area placements very 
difficult to source.  Developments/Investment into GHC Integrated Discharge 
Hub/VCSE pathways in progress.

 Inappropriate Out of Area placements remain relatively low/in line with local 
targets but this is in part due to lack of availability of beds at a regional/national 
level.  

 Evidence of ‘compound social issues’ in presentations in community and A&E.

2.6.3 Demand Modelling

Business intelligence have developed a demand modelling tool looking at the 
impact of Covid and likely groups within society that will develop MH problems, the 
types of conditions and the expected increase in demand across key services 
(Primary Care/IAPT/CRHTT/Specialist Care).

2.6.4 Mental Health Clinical Programme

Key focus for last year for the MH CPG was the development of the Complex 
Emotional Needs (CEN) Strategy/Action plan implementation.  We have jointly 
agreed a range of work-streams with GHC NHSFT, VCSE partners, Inclusion Glos 
and Experts by Experience to implement the action plan.  The work-streams have 
reached the point that they have achieved their initial scoping aims and we are 
coalescing into two groups to allow continuity and focus around CEN issues and 
developments: 

 Primary and Voluntary Care Services including Recovery College

Page 152



5

 Secondary, Specialist and Training.

The scope of the work-streams will include for example; 
 Providing ongoing guidance to the CEN service as we move to 

implementation.
 Keeping all parts of the service updated and informed for dissemination to 

teams and agencies involved.
 Providing support and connectedness in preparation for developing a 

Community of Practice as set out in the Gloucestershire CEN Strategy.

Moving forward the MH CPG is reviewing its work programme/priorities for 2021/22 
and will be supporting the transformation of Community Mental Health Teams.

2.6.5 Reforms to Mental Health Act/Mental Health Act (MHA) White Paper 

Building on the work that we started in 2019/20 (Local Review of the use of the 
MHA/Review of the Wessely Report Recommendations) we have completed a 
series of engagement events that shaped our response to the MHA White paper.  

One of the ongoing pieces of work from this process has been the development of 
a series of hypotheses/data collection relating to the under/overrepresentation from 
Ethnic Minority communities within the mental health system.  Following approval 
of this report we would wish to commence engagement with communities to test 
our hypotheses/initial conclusions against real world experience.

2.7 Learning Disabilities update

The Learning Disabilities and Autism Programme in Gloucestershire has achieved 
remarkable progress during 2020/21 whist responding to a major health pandemic.  
Highlights include:

2.7.1 Transforming Care:
 

 Over the last year the Integrated Care System has facilitated a number of 
discharges alongside a number of new admissions. With the exception of 
one, all admissions have been facilitated within local mainstream mental 
health services.

 There has been an overall reduction in the baseline number from 29 to 23, 
with 2 further discharges expected by the end of May 21.

 There have been no admissions into specialist out of county hospitals since 
Q3 of 2019/20.

 A project group has been established to manage Berkeley House 
discharges – active planning to discharge all individuals with clear 
community options.

 Community Discharge Grant £238,000 per year has acted as an enabler to 
address gaps in funding. 

Page 153



6

 Review of Learning Disability Intensive Support Service and acute pathway.
 Working with Children’s Services to bid for all-age autism case management 

team.
 A new Intensive Positive Behaviour Support (PBS) Service in Children’s 

Services to prevent complex children being placed in Out of County 
Residential School and a new PBS service across ICS – more preventative 
approach for all client groups.

2.7.2 Annual Health Checks (AHC):

 Gloucestershire benchmarked one of the highest performances in the SW 
Region achieving an overall position of 74% AHC completed, from a target of 
67%.

 AHC Local Covid-19 Resources and Practice Pack on G-Care, including flow 
chart for risk stratification.

 Making reasonable adjustments virtual training is now available through the 
Primary Care Training Hub and G:Care.

 Two listening events were held with GP practices on 24th Sep and 26th Nov 
2020 to understand how best to support GP practices.

 Accessible information to help people to understand about the need to have an 
annual health check were launched including; - Get checked, Stay Well Videos 
on You Tube and the Supercharged Me Website was launched in September 
2019.

 Developing a toolkit for Practices and care homes in relation to all resources 
available to support good health outcomes for those with a learning disability.

2.7.3 LD Mortality Reviews (Leder): 

 The final position at the end of the year was 89% reviews completed, this figure 
increased to 98% by April 21.

 £35k Funding from NHS England, committed towards reviewers and Quality 
Assurance Panels. 

 Use of video conferencing to be able to continue to undertake Quality 
Assurance Panels and Multi Agency Review Panels remotely has been 
successful and will continue for the remainder of 2020.

 It is worth noting that a new policy will be introduced this Summer, which will: 
o Bring in a new IT platform for Leder.
o Expand Leder to include autism.
o Requirement for post to provide clinical oversight of the Leder Reviews.

2.7.4 COVID and Learning Disabilities

Although COVID had a significant impact on people with learning disabilities 
Gloucestershire responded very pro-actively via weekly meetings with chairs of the 
Partnership Boards. Issues were escalated via the emergency planning cells 

Page 154



7

leading to quick responses and decisions. This kept Gloucestershire one step 
ahead of the curve in the way the pandemic unfolded.  Positive steps included: -

 Produced regular Bulletins to support people with disabilities and their carers 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-
care/disabilities/partnership-boards/.

 Worked with Inclusion Gloucestershire to develop a specific accessible COVID 
website for people with disabilities 
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/covid-19/ 

 Worked with Health Professionals to ensure reasonable adjustments were 
made for people with LD. Resources on G-Care https://g-
care.glos.nhs.uk/pathway/590/resource/7#chapter_6535   

 At the end of April 21, over 91% of those over 18 on the LD Register had had 
their 1st vaccine; we are currently following up how many people have had 
their second dose.

2.8 Access to urgent care from the south of the Forest of Dean

Through our engagement and consultation work about the new hospital in the 
Forest of Dean, we noted significant interest in the local NHS developing an urgent 
care offer for the southern areas of the Forest, in light of the potential challenges 
for residents in terms of distance and accessibility to the new hospital site in 
Cinderford.

Following our public Consultation at the end of 2020, we committed to exploring 
whether it might be possible for us to develop an option to deliver urgent care 
services in the Lydney area in the future.  

To this end, we recently held an on-line workshop with local representatives and 
members of the public who had expressed an interest in this work during the 
earlier Consultation.  The workshop was independently facilitated by The 
Consultation Institute. 

Feedback from the workshop is currently being collated into a report.  Once this 
has been shared with attendees, it will be published on the fodhealth website. The 
feedback will inform the ongoing exploration of the delivery of urgent care services 
in the south of the Forest

3. Department of Health and Social Care and NHS England 
Consultations

3.1 Information regarding Department of Health and Social Care consultations is 
available via the GOV.UK website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations

Page 155

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/disabilities/partnership-boards/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/disabilities/partnership-boards/
https://g-care.glos.nhs.uk/pathway/590/resource/7#chapter_6535
https://g-care.glos.nhs.uk/pathway/590/resource/7#chapter_6535
https://www.fodhealth.nhs.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations


8

3.2 Information regarding NHS England consultations is available via the NHS 
England website: https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/

The Department of Health and NHS England websites also include responses 
to closed consultations.

3.3 Department of Health and Social Care 
Access to all government departments and many other agencies and public 
bodies have been merged into GOV.UK 
Here you can see all news and communications, statistics and consultations. 
Find out how government services are performing and how satisfied users are 
https://www.gov.uk/

4. Section B: Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(GCCG) primary medical care commissioning update 

These items are for information and noting.

4.1 COVID-19 Vaccination Programme in Primary Care

The COVID-19 vaccination programme is a fast moving and changing programme 
and is a considerable priority for our Primary Care Networks (PCN) with our ten 
PCN led Local Vaccination Service (LVS) sites continuing to work well 
collaboratively and at pace. A verbal update will be provided to Members at the 
meeting. 

4.2 Primary Care Appointments

Further to the recent national press attention regarding increase in activity in GP 
practices, we can report a similar profile in Gloucestershire from data released by 
NHS Digital. 

The most recent 12 month period, up to and including activity in April 2021, shows 
a 6% increase compared to the previous 12 month period (May 2019-April 2020). 
Nationally there were 392 appointments per thousand patients in April 2021 (265 in 
April 2020, 399 in April 2019). In Gloucestershire this was at 437 appointments per 
thousand patients, compared to 290 in April 2020 (418 in April 2019). 
The significant drop in appointments in April 2020 reflects the impact of the first 
COVID-19 lockdown, but taking account of 2019 activity, the latest figures still 
show an upward trend. 

In addition, 61% of all the appointments in Gloucestershire during April 2021 were 
face-to-face (55% nationally). This reflects the phenomenal efforts of our GP 
practices in delivering the COVID-19 vaccination programme while also providing 
the urgent and routine care that our patients expect from our surgeries.

Page 156

https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/


9

4.3 Primary Care Network Directly Enhanced Service (PCN DES)

Whilst the focus of our Primary Care Networks has continued to be delivery of the 
COVID vaccination programme (as described above) and delivery of primary care 
services, PCN development continues apace.

The PCN Additional Roles Reimbursement (ARR) scheme has been uplifted as 
planned for 2021/22, with full details now released of three additional roles:  
paramedic, mental health practitioner and advanced practitioner. We have 
surveyed all our PCNs to establish likely demand for 21/22 and are using the data 
to support working groups established with GHC, SWAST and NHSE/I to consider 
the impact of these new roles and how we can collectively work together to 
implement them in a sustainable way for our ICS. 

The PCN Investment and Impact Fund (IIF) indicators relating to flu vaccination, 
Learning Disability health checks and social prescribing have been carried forward 
from 20/21, although with some increased expectations and/or targets with another 
very large flu campaign ahead of this winter. A further target relating to 
standardising appointments across primary care for all our practices is an in-year 
target, with all practices expected to have completed this IT mapping work by the 
end of June 2021. A considerable set of further indicators could be introduced in 
October, again subject to the COVID situation at that time, and therefore we are 
mindful of the potential burden that could be created for our practices and PCNs as 
we head into winter this year.

4.4 Integrated Locality Partnerships & Population Health Management

We continue to provide structured support to Integrated Locality Partnership (ILP) 
working groups to progress identified priorities to impact population cohorts 
utilising a Population Health Management (PHM) approach. The rising risk of poor 
mental health outcomes for children and young people especially as a result of 
Covid-19 lockdown restrictions have been identified in Cheltenham, the Forest of 
Dean, Gloucester city, Stroud and Berkeley Vale and Tewkesbury. Health 
inequalities remain a particular focus in Gloucester city.

ILPs across the county have prepared bids to access the NHS Charities Together 
Stage Two Community Partnership Grants funding. These Locality project 
proposals, led in most cases by PCN Clinical Directors have been developed in 
collaboration with other system partners.  I will provide a further update in a future 
report if our bids are successful.

We are in the process of finalising the draft PHM Development Programme case 
studies and roadmap with drafts out to comment with system partners and NHSE/I 
colleagues. Both products will support our PHM system development alongside our 
operational PHM toolkit products and templates for consistency. We have 
successfully recruited to three of the six PHM Champion roles in the county to 
further support the spread across the ICS and have received initial expressions of 

Page 157



10

interest for two of the vacant posts. Each PHM Champion will provide clinical 
leadership to one or more ILP priority working group, working alongside partners to 
make measurable impact to population health and wellbeing.

4.5 Digital implementation in Primary Care

Following the roll out of digital access to Primary Care during the COVID response, 
the CCG has commissioned user research into the patient and practice 
experiences of new tools , such as online consultations. The research also built on 
insights from the University of Bristol, Healthwatch, PPGs and Devon’s Digital 
Accelerator. We have now qualified the key problems and opportunity areas in the 
digital journey for Gloucestershire citizens, with a set of recommendations.
In response to the recommendations, we have just commissioned a follow up 
‘Digital Service Design’ project, collaborating with two volunteer practices to define 
a blueprint for the optimal GP digital journey. This work will be validated through 
practice forums and the Digital Front Door Reference Group, leading to an agreed 
blueprint for practices and a set of procurement criteria for solutions to support the 
new model in the autumn. The intention is then to start the roll out of the new 
solutions and business change support in 2022

As we are not alone in trying to work through the challenges of this new model of 
GP access, the CCG is working closely with the NHS England team that are 
undertaking usability reviews of solutions on a new procurement framework. Their 
recommendations will feed into our work, as will active engagement with other 
CCGs, with whom we are sharing insights.

4.6 Workforce support and development

The inaugural year of The Spark programme took place in 2020/2021 providing 
early career GPs with a programme of evening educational sessions, mentoring, 
peer support groups, life coaching, the opportunity to apply for a funded fellowship 
to support a Clinical Professional Development (CPD) project and shadowing 
opportunities. Thirty one early career GPs took part   and feedback on the sessions 
has been excellent.   Six individuals were successful in their applications for a 
funded Fellowship for one session a week for twelve months and all six 
commenced their projects in March 2021 with a range of both clinical and 
academic/educational topics. The Primary Care Training Hub (PCTH) is now 
turning its attention to planning the course and advertising/recruiting for the 
2021/22 season. 

Discussions continue around implementation of Additional Role Reimbursement 
(ARR) roles within Primary Care with a key focus on engagement of Paramedics, 
Mental Health First Contact Practitioners, Trainee Nurse Associates and Advanced 
Clinical Practitioners, noting more recent interest in Dieticians and Health and 
Wellbeing coaches. The PCTH is in the process of developing an educational 
programme to increase understanding of these roles in order to support PCN’s with 
accurate assessment of workforce requirements. 

Page 158



11

The CCG was successful in its bid to NHSE&I for funding to develop a GP Flexible 
Pool for the county.  Whilst discussions continue locally, we are also working with 
regional leads to understand their interpretations of requirements for a GP Flexible 
Pool and work done to develop their systems to date. A number of different 
solutions are being developed across the region noting a key focus on delivering 
an enhanced level of support for locums including peer support and mentoring. We 
are in process of developing a full options appraisal including use of some of the 
funding to purchase a dynamic digital solution to enable ease of posting and 
booking shifts.

4.7 Care Quality Commission (CQC) for General Practice, mergers and changes 
to Primary Care Networks

From April 2021 the CQC resumed inspections of independent primary care 
providers. These will be focused inspections looking at three key questions (safe, 
effective and well-led) and any other areas identified as a concern from previous 
inspection.

There have been no completed contractual mergers to report since my last update. 
Planning for the merger of The Portland Practice and Corinthian Surgery in 
Cheltenham in July continues.  

4.8 Help your GP surgery to help you – Advice to patients

People are being asked to please consider how they can help GP surgery teams 
by following this advice:

 Call your GP surgery or go online if you need urgent medical help or have an 
illness that won’t go away

 The surgery will assess your needs over the phone or online so you are cared 
for by the right person, in the right place for your illness

 You may be offered a telephone appointment, e-consultation or face-to-face 
appointments where there is a medical need

 Please try to avoid going to the surgery unless asked to and please respect 
practice staff who are doing their very best in difficult circumstances

 It is not necessary to over-order repeat prescriptions

 Please consider your community pharmacy if you have a minor ailment. 
Pharmacists are highly qualified experts on medicines and can advise if you 
need to see a GP or use another NHS service

 Visit nhs.uk for helpful information; if your illness is minor, try to manage your 
symptoms yourself for a day or two

 You can make appointments directly with the following services:
o Podiatry

 Appointment and enquiries: 0300 421 8800

Page 159

http://www.nhs.uk/


12

 Email:appointments@ghc.nhs.uk
o Physiotherapy

 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS FT website
 Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS FT website

o Mental health
 Visit Be Well Gloucestershire

5. Section C: Local Providers’ updates 
This Section includes updates from Gloucestershire Health and Care Services 
NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHT), 

These items are for information and noting.

5.1 Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC)

5.1.1 Forest of Dean Hospital Update
 

Following a considerable amount of work with civil engineers, architects, local 
planners and Trust service representatives, the layout and the first illustrations of 
the new community hospital in the Forest of Dean have been prepared. The 
functional layout has been fully informed by engagement with service leads and 
the next phase of design will see wider engagement with experts by experience 
and stakeholders.  

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust is due to hold an 
Extraordinary Meeting of the Board, in public, on 15 July. The meeting will receive 
the full business case for the development, which will mark a huge step forward in 
this significant project to provide a modern, well equipped and fit for purpose 
facility for the Forest community. 

 5.1.2 Veteran Aware Status
 

The Trust has been officially awarded its Veteran Aware accreditation during a visit 
from one of the county’s Deputy Lieutenants. Colonel Andy Hodson was 
“delighted” to present the accreditation on behalf of the Veterans Covenant 
Healthcare Alliance (VCHA), in recognition of the Trust’s commitment to improving 
NHS care for veterans, reservists, members of the Armed Forces and their 
families. The Trust received Veteran Aware accreditation in acknowledgement of 
its commitment to a number of key pledges, including:

 
 Ensuring that the Armed Forces community is never disadvantaged compared 

to other patients, in line with the NHS’s commitment to the Armed Forces 
Covenant

Page 160

mailto:podiatry.appointments@ghc.nhs.uk
https://www.gloshospitals.nhs.uk/our-services/services-we-offer/physiotherapy/
https://www.ghc.nhs.uk/our-teams-and-services/adult-physiotherapy/physio-advice/
https://www.bewellglos.org.uk/


13

 Training relevant staff on veteran-specific culture or needs
 Making veterans, reservists and service families aware of appropriate charities 

or NHS services beneficial to them, such as mental health services or support 
with financial and/or benefit claims

 Supporting the Armed Forces as an employer.
 
GHC joins a growing list of VHCA members and NHS Trusts gaining this accolade. 
It follows the Trust’s signing of the Armed Forces Covenant in 2019 and receiving 
bronze accreditation from the Ministry of Defence Employer Recognition Scheme 
in March this year.

 
5.1.3 New Trust Strategy Launched
 

The Trust has launched its new five-year strategy - ‘Better Care Together: With 
You, For You’ - to guide the organisation until 2026. It sets out four strategic aims, 
each underpinned by measurable, specific goals and objectives:

 
 High Quality Care
 Better Health
 Great Place to Work
 Sustainability

 
It also includes the Trust’s new Mission: ‘Enabling People to Live the Best Life 
They Can’, and Vision: ‘Working Together to Provide Outstanding Care.’

 
Key elements of the strategy include: 

 
 Developing services around the needs of our communities
 Tackling health inequalities – unfair and avoidable differences in health caused 

by things like unemployment, poor education, race, disability, and where people 
live

 Using technology to improve access and choice in how patients receive care
 Improving our buildings to make them more efficient and a better environment 

for our patients and staff
 Promoting quality improvement and innovation
 Working towards university status with our Gloucestershire health and 

education partners
 Being an environmentally proactive organisation working with our communities 

to tackle the health impact of pollution and climate change
 Embedding co-production and engagement

 
The full strategy can be read on the Trust’s website at www.ghc.nhs.uk. 

 

Page 161

http://www.ghc.nhs.uk/


14

5.1.4 HRH The Princess Royal Visits Trust
 

HRH The Princess Royal has spoken to Trust colleagues about their work 
throughout the Coronavirus Pandemic.

In a visit to Gloucester in April, Her Royal Highness had conversations with nurses, 
allied health professionals, facilities colleagues, emergency response leads, and 
Trust Executive and Non-Executive Directors about their roles and the challenges 
they have faced over the past 18 months.

 
5.1.5 Maternal Mental Health Care Expands in Gloucestershire
 

Mental health care and treatment for new, expectant and bereaved mothers in 
Gloucestershire is being improved and expanded as part of a national initiative to 
enhance support for women who have birth related trauma and mental health 
difficulties. 

Gloucestershire was included in the roll out of 26 new hubs bringing together 
maternity services, reproductive health and psychological therapy under one roof 
as part of the NHS Long Term Plan. 

The county already has a perinatal mental health service, which supports women 
with moderate to severe mental health conditions during pregnancy and up to one 
year after the birth of their child. The new service will expand and improve care, as 
well as enable more women and families to be supported.

5.2 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT) 

5.2.1 Operational Context

Although community rates of COVID-19 are rising and especially so in younger 
people, the numbers of patients in our hospitals is comparatively low – especially 
when compared to previous surges with similar levels of community transmission. 
There is good evidence that the vaccination programme is reducing the severity of 
the disease and thus requirement for hospitalisation. Those admitted reflect a 
considerably younger cohort of patients than in previous surges reflecting those for 
who double vaccination has not yet been achieved.

COVID-19 aside, we are we remain very busy with our Emergency Departments 
(EDs) being especially challenged alongside the impact of our efforts to treat as 
many patients as possible who we were unable to operate upon or see in 
outpatients, during the pandemic. As a result of these pressures waiting times are 
much longer than we would wish despite the considerable efforts of all to make 
improvements and we continue in our endeavours to ensure that every patient’s 
experience is a positive one. 

Page 162



15

In February the CQC made an unannounced inspection of our urgent and 
emergency care (UEC) at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital. Positively, 
Gloucestershire Royal retained its overall ‘Good’ rating but the CQC rated the UEC 
service as ‘Requires Improvement’.

 
The CQC made a number of positive observations in their report:

 Staff in the department felt respected, supported and valued by their 
colleagues. They were focused on the needs of patients receiving care. 
There were strong examples of staff feeling able to speak up and raise 
concerns without fear

 Leaders in the Emergency Department demonstrated the skills and abilities 
to run the service. They understood and managed the priorities and issues 
the service faced. They were supportive, caring and approachable in the 
service for patients and staff

 All patient interactions we observed were seen to be caring, kind and 
empathetic

 Despite growing activity during the day, the department remained calm and 
professional throughout

 Staff understood how to protect patients from abuse and acted on any 
concerns. They recognised when abuse might be occurring and were 
trained in how to deal with their concerns to keep patients safe

 Staff kept detailed and comprehensive records of patients’ care and 
treatment. Records were clear, up to date, stored securely and easily 
available to staff providing care

 Patients had an assessment of their infection risk and other clinical risks on 
arrival at the department

 There were effective systems to recognise, report and understand 
performance, including a live dashboard available.

We have been continually assessing and making changes to the way our EDs are 
run and a number of measures have already been introduced which have had a 
positive impact. These include:

 Eliminating corridor care within the ED by creating more space in the 
department

 Improving ambulance drop off times by establishing additional drop off 
points

 Seeing walk-in patients more rapidly
 Ensuring that patients are seen by the most appropriate doctor first time, by-

passing ED if appropriate.

The impacts of these measures are encouraging. In March, for example, the 
service recorded 50 occasions when patients had to wait in a corridor for 30 
minutes or more whilst there have been no such waits in the current month. 

Page 163



16

Similarly, the average wait of a patient on an ambulance in March was 63 minutes 
which reduced to 18 minutes in May and, on average, patients in March waited 
30mins to be triaged after arrival but in the latest month, this was down to 19mins.

The Trust has been commended by NHS Improvement (NHSI) for such significant 
improvements in these areas; however, significant challenges remain with respect 
to improved four hour waiting time performance. As always, the underlying causes 
are multifactorial but key issues include very high levels of demand, ongoing 
vacancies in medical and senior nurse staffing and reduced access to beds due to 
social distancing measures and higher levels of patients awaiting discharge.

In line with our commitments to restore Cheltenham General Hospital (CGH) ED to 
the pre-pandemic service model, by no later than the 1st July, the consultant-led 
service reopened on the 9th June from 8am to 8pm and the overnight, nurse-led 
Minor Injuries and Illness Unit reopened on the 30th June. Since the day time 
service re-opened on the 9th June, activity levels have returned to former levels 
and higher on some days, including the return of ambulances to the ED.

TRUST HIGHLIGHTS

5.2.2 Royal Visit – Commemorative Garden

In April we welcomed Her Royal Highness (HRH), The Princess Royal to
both GRH and CGH; HRH also made time to visit Gloucestershire Health and Care
(GHC) staff at the Wotton Lawn site. The visit was a huge boost for all those 
involved and. as is typically the case, provided a morale boost to staff across both 
our hospitals.

The commemoration of our two gardens was led by our Chaplains Reverend John
Thompson and Muslim Chaplain Atique Miah at GFH and Reverend Katie McClure 
at CGH. The Princess Royal was experienced by all as being well informed, 
curious about the work of those she met and engaging.

5.2.3 Cancer Services 

The Trust has delivered all eight of the national cancer waiting time standards, 
reflecting embedded improvement of a standard not previously achieved since 
2014. Furthermore, the two key standards of two week wait and 62 Day GP 
referral, the Trust has the second highest performance nationally and is ranked 
first nationally for lung cancer performance for the year 2020/21.

5.2.4 Addressing Waiting List Backlogs

Due to the temporary services changes, in response to the pandemic, 
Gloucestershire has one of the lowest numbers of patients waiting for care, relative 
to their population despite being one of the worst hit Trusts in respect of the 
number of COVID cases. Additionally, the Trust has the third lowest proportion 

Page 164



17

of patients waiting over 52 weeks for their care and remains the top performing 
Trust in the Region with respect to the amount of elective care they are now 
undertaking.

5.2.5 Agile Working

Linked to the “silver linings” of the pandemic, work to support agile and flexible 
working continues with large numbers of staff embracing the opportunity for some 
form of hybrid working i.e. both on site and from home working, citing benefits to 
their wellbeing, productivity and carbon footprint as reasons to continue working 
this way.

Alongside homeworking, embedding digital or virtual care also remains a priority 
given the benefits described by patients. Nationally, there is an ambition that 25% 
of care will be delivered non-face-to-face using digital platforms; currently our Trust 
is delivering c30% of outpatient care in this way, 80% of which is follow up care 
which is most amenable to high quality, low risk digital care. Given the likely 
presence of digital care in the future models of service we are now reviewing all of 
our development plans for digital technology and to ensure they are planned with 
these new models of care in mind.

5.3 South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
(SWAST)

5.3.1 NHS Charities Together funding

We are delighted that NHS Charities Together has allocated over £560,000 to the 
South Western Ambulance Charity to bolster an army of Community First 
Responder (CFR) volunteers and facilitate additional community projects across 
the region.

The grant has been made possible from public donations during the pandemic, 
including the incredible efforts of Captain Sir Tom Moore, and will help fund:

 Lifting devices so CFRs can assist patients who have experienced a non-injury 
fall, reducing potential complications associated with being on the floor for an 
extended period of time.

 Dedicated CFR group cars.
 Awareness and training sessions to increase early intervention for ‘out of 

hospital’ cardiac arrests as part of our ‘Saving Lives Together’ campaign, 
including CPR and defibrillation training for schools and community groups in 
hard-to-reach areas.

 The not-for-profit service GoodSAM, which automatically triggers alerts to any 
nearby cardiac arrests so volunteers can attend and provide immediate life 
support.

Page 165



18

 Improved services to meet the needs of patients suffering from mental health 
issues, including training packages for frontline ambulance clinicians to better 
equip them for complex and challenging calls.

5.3.2 Outrun an Ambulance

In January, the South Western Ambulance Charity launched Outrun an 
Ambulance; a virtual event that challenges competitors to conquer the mileage an 
emergency ambulance covers in one shift. Since then, we have been overwhelmed 
by the amount of people who have taken on this challenge, and in Gloucestershire 
alone, over £1,600 has been raised to date.

Outrun an Ambulance is a three month challenge and we are still encouraging people 
to take part. To fund out more visit https://www.swambulancecharity.org/oaa.

5.3.3 The NHS Big Tea

On Monday 5th July the NHS celebrates its 73rd birthday and on the same day NHS 
Big Tea breaks will be happening across the nation to show an outpouring of 
appreciation and support for our incredible NHS.

The South Western Ambulance Charity will be sending out refreshments to 
stations and clinical hubs in Gloucestershire and across the South West so that, on 
and around, the 5th July, our operational teams can enjoy a cuppa and a biscuit 
during their breaks.

The South Western Ambulance Charity is urging people in the South West to join 
the nation’s biggest tea break on 5 July and help raise money for the incredible 
people in our NHS who’ve done so much to help everyone get through the 
pandemic.  We would love as many people as possible to get involved in a national 
outpouring of love and thanks for NHS staff and volunteers on its birthday by 
hosting or taking part in an NHS Big Tea party at 3pm on 5 July.

To find out more visit https://www.swambulancecharity.org/nhsbigtea 

5.3.4 Crew welfare cars

The South Western Ambulance Charity is proud to be supporting the SWASFT 
Crew Welfare Car initiative, providing our hard-working staff with tea, coffee and 
biscuits during their hospital handovers. These refreshments have been made 
possible by a grant from NHS Charities Together along with donations received 
from local organisations.  

Page 166

https://www.swambulancecharity.org/oaa
https://www.swambulancecharity.org/nhsbigtea


19

5.3.5 Campaigns

#UNACCEPTABLE
Our staff are continuing to experience an escalating level of assaults and abuse by 
patients. This behaviour will not be tolerated and we are working on a number of 
initiatives including body worn cameras and an ‘#Unacceptable’ campaign to tackle 
this issue. The campaign was designed to not only highlight the issue publicly but 
also encourage staff to report all incidents. It was supported by testimonies from 
SWASFT staff sharing their experiences and has generated substantial media 
coverage, shares and comments over recent months.

Summer campaign
Due to an anticipated increase in visitors to the South West over the summer 
months and ahead of major sporting events, we will be continuing to encourage 
people to ‘make the right call’ and contact 111 for urgent medical problems and to 
only call 999 in a life-threatening emergency. This campaign will be rolled out 
externally through press releases and videos featuring SWASFT staff for our social 
media channels.

5.3.6 Fleet update 

The Trust has started taking delivery of 136 new Fiat, Dual Crewed Ambulances 
(DCAs) – the largest single deployment in SWASFT history. This will ensure we 
can renew and replace aged vehicles and increase our DCA fleet by 30 vehicles, 
ensuring our people and patients have first-class facilities in which to work and be 
treated in. New equipment is also being supplied as part of the new vehicle roll out 
programme which includes news stretchers, chairs and vital signs.

5.3.7 IPad Rollout Programme – coming soon

We are delighted to confirm that SWASFT has secured a number of iPads for 
patient-facing staff. This has been made possible by a joint initiative between NHS 
England, NHS Improvement and NHSX to give ambulance colleagues access to 
information they need, at a time and place they need it. 

As well as tools to support patient care, the iPads will improve access to staff 
support, including e-learning tools for professional development, internal 
communications, wellbeing, and staff support services. 

5.3.8 Staff survey results

The Trust is pleased to share there has been an improvement in all areas 
compared to last year’s NHS staff survey, with the exception of one. When 
benchmarking ourselves against other ambulance Trusts, we scored better than 
average or average across 8 out of the 10 themes. 

Page 167



20

Staff engagement increased across the board, including:
 60.4% said they, often or always, look forward to going to work (up 4.2%) 
 72.2% said they are, often or always, enthusiastic about their job (up 2.2%)
 4.8% increase in those who agreed or strongly agreed that the care of patients 

is the organisation’s top priority at 67.6%
 An encouraging 11.4% increase in the number of staff who agreed or strongly 

agreed they would recommend SWASFT as a place to work at 57.8%
 Staff reported a decrease in ‘personally experiencing bullying and harassment’ 

by patients, the public and managers. Whilst this is very encouraging, we 
recognise there is more progress to be made as part of our cultural 
development.

 86.7% of respondents agreed of strongly agreed they feel their role makes a 
difference to patients

 82.5% agreed or strongly agreed that they are satisfied with the quality of care 
they give to patients

There was an increase across the board in staff feeling supported and valued by 
their immediate managers and the overall quality of care. However, there remains 
work to be done to improve how we compare with the national average in these 
two areas.

5.3.9 COVID-19 vaccination programme

From December 2020 to early June 2021, the Trust supported the delivery of 
internal COVID-19 vaccination clinics for our staff to receive the vaccines, with 
86.9% of colleagues now being fully vaccinated.

6. Recommendations
This report is provided for information and HCOSC Members are invited to note 
the contents.

Dr Andrew Seymour Mary Hutton 
Clinical Chair Accountable Officer
NHS Gloucestershire CCG NHS Gloucestershire CCG

2 July 2021

Page 168


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	4 Response to COVID-19 (Adult Social Care and Public Health)
	Minutes , 02/03/2021 Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee
	Minutes , 22/03/2021 Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee

	6 Review of Temporary Service Changes
	7 Fit for the Future Programme
	8 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) Performance Report
	9 One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System Report
	10 GCCG Clinical Chair/Accountable Officer Report

